

UNIVERSIDADE ESTADUAL DE CAMPINAS

Instituto de Matemática, Estatística e Computação Científica

GABRIEL ALEXIS RONDON VIELMA

Regularization of Filippov systems near regular-tangential singularities and polycycles

Regularização de sistemas de Filippov próximos de singularidades tangenciais-regulares e policiclos

Campinas 2020 Gabriel Alexis Rondon Vielma

Regularization of Filippov systems near regular-tangential singularities and polycycles

Regularização de sistemas de Filippov próximos de singularidades tangenciais-regulares e policiclos

Tese apresentada ao Instituto de Matemática, Estatística e Computação Científica da Universidade Estadual de Campinas como parte dos requisitos exigidos para a obtenção do título de Doutor em Matemática.

Thesis presented to the Institute of Mathematics, Statistics and Scientific Computing of the University of Campinas in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor in Mathematics.

Supervisor: Douglas Duarte Novaes Co-supervisor: Marco Antonio Teixeira

Este exemplar corresponde à versão final da Tese defendida pelo aluno Gabriel Alexis Rondon Vielma e orientada pelo Prof. Dr. Douglas Duarte Novaes.

> Campinas 2020

Ficha catalográfica Universidade Estadual de Campinas Biblioteca do Instituto de Matemática, Estatística e Computação Científica Ana Regina Machado - CRB 8/5467

 Rondon Vielma, Gabriel Alexis, 1988-Regularization of Filippov systems near regular-tangencial singularities and polycycles / Gabriel Alexis Rondon Vielma. – Campinas, SP : [s.n.], 2020.
 Orientador: Douglas Duarte Novaes. Coorientador: Marco Antonio Teixeira. Tese (doutorado) – Universidade Estadual de Campinas, Instituto de Matemática, Estatística e Computação Científica.
 1. Regularização de campos vetoriais descontínuos. 2. Sistemas de Filippov. 3. Teoria de Fenichel. 4. Método de blow-up. 5. Ciclos limite. I. Novaes, Douglas Duarte, 1988-. II. Teixeira, Marco Antonio, 1944-. III. Universidade Estadual de Campinas. Instituto de Matemática, Estatística e Computação Científica. IV. Título.

Informações para Biblioteca Digital

Título em outro idioma: Regularização de sistemas de Filippov próximos de singularidades tangenciais-regulares e policiclos Palavras-chave em inglês: Regularization of discontinuous vector fields Filippov systems Fenichel theory Blow-up method Limit cycles Área de concentração: Matemática Titulação: Doutor em Matemática Banca examinadora: Douglas Duarte Novaes [Orientador] Ronaldo Alves Garcia Paulo Ricardo da Silva Ricardo Miranda Martins

Maurício Firmino Silva Lima

Data de defesa: 16-09-2020

Programa de Pós-Graduação: Matemática

Identificação e informações acadêmicas do(a) aluno(a) - ORCID do autor: https://orcid.org/0000-0001-8594-9327

⁻ Currículo Lattes do autor: http://lattes.cnpq.br/2581456463573980

Tese de Doutorado defendida em 16 de setembro de 2020 e aprovada

pela banca examinadora composta pelos Profs. Drs.

Prof(a). Dr(a). DOUGLAS DUARTE NOVAES

Prof(a). Dr(a). RONALDO ALVES GARCIA

Prof(a). Dr(a). PAULO RICARDO DA SILVA

Prof(a). Dr(a). RICARDO MIRANDA MARTINS

Prof(a). Dr(a). MAURÍCIO FIRMINO SILVA LIMA

A Ata da Defesa, assinada pelos membros da Comissão Examinadora, consta no SIGA/Sistema de Fluxo de Dissertação/Tese e na Secretaria de Pós-Graduação do Instituto de Matemática, Estatística e Computação Científica.

To my family.

Acknowledgements

Firstly, I must express my very profound gratitude to my parents Fermina Vielma and Rafael Rondon, my sisters Gabriela Rondon and Glexy Rondon, and to my girlfriend Ananda Rivas for providing me with unfailing support and continuous encouragement throughout my years of study and through the process of researching and writing this thesis. This accomplishment would not have been possible without them. Thank you.

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my supervisor Prof. Douglas Duarte Novaes for the continuous support of my Ph.D study and related research, for his patience, motivation, and immense knowledge. His guidance helped me in all the time of research and writing of this thesis. I could not have imagined having a better supervisor and mentor for my Ph.D study.

A big thanks to my co-supervisor Professor Marco Antonio Teixeira, for the guidance, discussions and sharing their experience and expertise.

Thanks to all professors, friends and colleagues who helped me directly, or indirectly, during all these years. I especially thank my colleague and friend Brian Grajales for his valuable friendship.

This study was financed by grant 141170/2019-0, Conselho Nacional de Desenvolvimento Científico e Tecnológico - CNPq.

This study was financed in part by the Coordenação de Aperfeiçoamento de Pessoal de Nivel Superior - Brasil(CAPES) - Finance Code 001.

"The LORD is my shepherd. I lack nothing". (Psalm 23:1)

Resumo

Compreender como as singularidades tangenciais evoluem em processos de regularização foi um dos primeiros problemas relacionados à regularização dos sistemas de Filippov. Neste trabalho, estamos interessados em C^n -regularizações de sistemas Filippov em torno de singularidades tangenciais regulares visíveis de multiplicidade par. Mais especificamente, usando a Teoria de Fenichel e os Métodos de Blow-up, nosso objetivo é entender como as trajetórias do sistema regularizado transitam pela região de regularização. Aplicamos nossos resultados para investigar as C^n -regularizações dos ciclos limites de fronteira com contato de multiplicidade par com a variedade de deslize.

Além disso, estamos interessados na regularização de sistemas de Filippov em torno de conexões homoclínicas com singularidades tangenciais regulares. Fornecemos condições para garantir a existência de ciclos limites bifurcando-se de tais conexões. Condições adicionais também são fornecidas para garantir a estabilidade e unicidade de tais ciclos limites. Todas as provas são baseadas na construção do mapa de primeiro retorno do sistema de Filippov regularizado em torno de conexões homoclínicas. Tal mapa é obtido usando a nossa caracterização do comportamento local do sistema de Filippov regularizado em torno de singularidades tangenciais regulares. Teoremas de ponto fixo e argumentos de Poincaré-Bendixson também são usados.

Palavras-chave: Regularização. Sistemas de Filippov. Teoria de Fenichel. Método de Blow-up. Ciclos Limites. Policiclos.

Abstract

Understanding how tangential singularities evolves under smoothing processes was one of the first problem concerning regularization of Filippov systems. In this work, we are interested in C^n -regularizations of Filippov systems around visible regular-tangential singularities of even multiplicity. More specifically, using Fenichel Theory and Blow-up Methods, we aim to understand how the trajectories of the regularized system transits through the region of regularization. We apply our results to investigate C^n -regularizations of boundary limit cycles with even multiplicity contact with the switching manifold.

Moreover, we are concerned about smoothing of Filippov systems around homoclinic-like connections to regular-tangential singularities. We provide conditions to guarantee the existence of limit cycles bifurcating from such connections. Additional conditions are also provided to ensured the stability and uniqueness of such limit cycles. All the proofs are based on the construction of the first return map of the regularized Filippov system around homoclinic-like connections. Such a map is obtained by using our characterization of the local behaviour of the regularized Filippov system around regular-tangential singularities. Fixed point theorems and Poincaré-Bendixson arguments are also employed.

Keywords: Regularization. Filippov systems. Fenichel Theory. Blow-up Method. Limit cycles. Σ -Polycycles.

Contents

1 1.1 1.2 1.3 1.4 1.5	INTRODUCTION Filippov Systems Sotomayor-Teixeira Regularization Σ -Polycycles in Filippov Systems Main Goal Structure of the thesis	. 12 . 12 . 14 . 15 . 16 . 18
2 2.1	THE FENICHEL MANIFOLD	20 20
2.2 2.3 2.4	Extension of the Fenichel Manifold \ldots Chart κ_1 \ldots Chart κ_2 \ldots	. 25 . 29 . 31
3	TRANSITION MAPS OF THE REGULARIZED SYSTEM	. 35
3.1	Main Results	. 35
3.2	Upper Transition Map	. 37
3.2.1	Tangential points and transversal sections	. 38
3.2.2	Construction of the map P^u	. 40
3.2.3	Exponentially attraction and construction of the map Q^u_{ε}	. 41
3.2.4	Construction of the map R^u	. 52
3.2.5	Proof of Theorem A	. 54
3.3	Lower Transition Map	. 55
3.3.1	Construction of the map P^l	. 56
3.3.2	Exponentially attraction and construction of the map $Q^l_arepsilon$. 58
3.3.3	Construction of the map R^l	. 61
3.3.4	Proof of Theorem B	. 61
4	REGULARIZATION OF BOUNDARY LIMIT CYCLES	. 63
4.1	Main Result	. 63
4.2	The first return map π	. 64
4.3	Proof of Theorem C	. 66
4.4	Piecewise Polynomial Example	. 69
5	UNIQUENESS AND NONEXISTENCE OF LIMIT CYCLES	. 71
5.1	Mirror maps in the regularized system	. 71
5.2	The first return map $\pi_{arepsilon}$. 73
5.3	Proof of Proposition 10	. 74
6	REGULARIZATION OF Σ - POLYCYCLES	. 76
6.1	Regularization of Σ - Polycycles of type (a)	. 76
6.1.1	Proof of Theorem D	. 80

6.1.2	A case of uniqueness and nonexistence of limit cycles	83
6.1.3	The exterior map of the regularized system	86
6.2	Regularization of Σ –Polycycles of type (b)	89
6.2.1	Proof of Theorem E	93
	BIBLIOGRAPHY	95

1 Introduction

The analysis of differential equations with discontinuous right-hand side dates back to the work of Andronov et. al [1] in 1937. Recently, the interest in such systems has increased significantly, mainly motivated by its wide range of applications in several areas of applied sciences. Piecewise smooth differential systems are used for modeling phenomena presenting abrupt behavior changes such as impact and friction in mechanical systems [4], refugee and switching feeding preference in biological systems [20, 28], gap junctions in neural networks [9], and many others.

In this work, we are interested in planar piecewise smooth systems. Formally, let M be an open subset of \mathbb{R}^2 and let $N \subset M$ be a codimension 1 submanifold of M. Denote by C_i , i = 1, 2, ..., k, the connected components of $M \setminus N$ and let $X_i : M \to \mathbb{R}^2$, for i = 1, 2, ..., k, be vector fields defined on M. A piecewise smooth vector field Z on Mis defined by

$$Z(p) = X_i(p) \text{ if } p \in \overline{C_i}, \text{ for } i = 1, 2, \dots, k.$$

$$(1.1)$$

Since N is a codimension 1 submanifold of M, for each $p \in N$ there exists a neighborhood $\mathcal{D} \subset M$ of p and a function $h : \mathcal{D} \to \mathbb{R}$, having 0 as a regular value, such that $\Sigma = N \cap \mathcal{D} = h^{-1}(0)$. Moreover, the neighborhood \mathcal{D} can be taken sufficiently small in order that $\mathcal{D} \setminus \Sigma$ is composed by two disjoint regions $\Sigma^+ = \{q \in \mathcal{D} : h(q) \ge 0\}$ and $\Sigma^- = \{q \in \mathcal{D} : h(q) \le 0\}$ such that $X^+ = Z|_{\Sigma^+}$ and $X^- = Z|_{\Sigma^-}$ are smooth vector fields. Accordingly, the piecewise smooth vector field (1.1) can be locally described as follows:

$$Z(p) = (X^+, X^-)_{\Sigma} = \begin{cases} X^+(p), & \text{if } p \in \Sigma^+, \\ X^-(p), & \text{if } p \in \Sigma^-, \end{cases} \quad \text{for } p \in \mathcal{D}$$

Throughout this work we will denote the components of X^{\pm} by X_i^{\pm} for $i \in \{1, 2\}$, i.e. $X^{\pm} = (X_1^{\pm}, X_2^{\pm})$.

1.1 Filippov Systems

The notion of local trajectories of piecewise smooth vector fields (1.1) was stated by Filippov [13] as solutions of the following differential inclusion

$$\dot{p} \in \mathcal{F}_Z(p) = \frac{X^+(p) + X^-(p)}{2} + \operatorname{sign}(h(p))\frac{X^+(p) - X^-(p)}{2},$$
 (1.2)

where

$$\operatorname{sign}(s) = \begin{cases} -1 & \text{if } s < 0, \\ [-1,1] & \text{if } s = 0, \\ 1 & \text{if } s > 0. \end{cases}$$

This approach is called Filippov's convention. The piecewise smooth vector field (1.1) is called Filippov system when it is ruled by the Filippov's convention. For more informations on differential inclusions see, for instance, [29].

The solutions of the differential inclusion (1.2) are well described in the literature (see, for instance, [13]) and have a simple geometrical interpretation. In order to illustrate this convention we define the following open regions on Σ :

$$\begin{split} \Sigma^{c} &= \{ p \in \Sigma : X^{+}h(p) \cdot X^{-}h(p) > 0 \}, \\ \Sigma^{s} &= \{ p \in \Sigma : X^{+}h(p) < 0, X^{-}h(p) > 0 \}, \\ \Sigma^{e} &= \{ p \in \Sigma : X^{+}h(p) > 0, X^{-}h(p) < 0 \}. \end{split}$$

Here, $X^{\pm}h(p) = \langle \nabla h(p), X^{\pm}(p) \rangle$ denotes the Lie derivative of h in the direction of the vector fields X^{\pm} . Usually, they are called *crossing*, *sliding*, and *escaping* region, respectively. Notice that the points on Σ where both vectors fields X^+ and X^- simultaneously point outward or inward from Σ constitute, respectively, the *escaping* Σ^e and *sliding* Σ^s regions, and the complement of its closure in Σ constitutes the *crossing region*, Σ^c . The complement of the union of those regions in Σ constitutes the *tangency* points between X^+ or X^- with Σ, Σ^t .

For $p \in \Sigma^c$ the trajectories either side of the discontinuity Σ , reaching p, can be joined continuously, forming a trajectory that crosses Σ^c . Alternatively, for $p \in \Sigma^{s,e} = \Sigma^s \cup \Sigma^e$ the trajectories either side of the discontinuity Σ , reaching p, can be joined continuously to trajectories that slide on $\Sigma^{s,e}$ following the sliding vector field,

$$Z^{s}(p) = \frac{X^{-}h(p)X^{+}(p) - X^{+}h(p)X^{-}(p)}{X^{-}h(p) - X^{+}h(p)}, \text{ for } p \in \Sigma^{s,e}.$$
(1.3)

In addition, a singularity of the sliding vector field Z^s is called pseudo-equilibrium.

In the Filippov context, the notion of Σ -singular points also comprehends the tangential points Σ^t constituted by the contact points between X^+ and X^- with Σ , i.e. $\Sigma^t = \{p \in \Sigma : X^+h(p) \cdot X^-h(p) = 0\}$. In this work, we are interested in contact points of finite degeneracy. Recall that p is a contact of order k - 1 (or multiplicity k) between X^{\pm} and Σ if 0 is a root of multiplicity k of $f(t) := h \circ \varphi_{X^{\pm}}(t, p)$, where $t \mapsto \varphi_{X^{\pm}}(t, p)$ is the trajectory of X^{\pm} starting at p. Equivalently,

$$X^{\pm}h(p) = (X^{\pm})^{2}h(p) = \dots = (X^{\pm})^{k-1}h(p) = 0$$
, and $(X^{\pm})^{k}h(p) \neq 0$.

In addition, an even multiplicity contact, say 2k, is called *visible* for X^+ (resp. X^-) when $(X^+)^{2k}h(p) > 0$ (resp. $(X^-)^{2k}h(p) < 0$). Otherwise, it is called *invisible*.

In this work, we shall focuses our attention in visible regular-tangential singularities of multiplicity 2k, which are formed by a visible even multiplicity of X^+ and a regular point of X^- , or vice versa (see Figure 1). In the above definitions, the higher order Lie derivatives $X^i h$ are defined, inductively, by $Xh(p) = \langle \nabla h(p), X(p) \rangle$ and $X^i h(p) = X(X^{i-1}h)(p)$ for i > 1.



Figure 1 – Visible regular-tangential singularity.

1.2 Sotomayor-Teixeira Regularization

Frequently, non-smooth mathematical models are discontinuous idealizations of regular phenomena. Thus, in order to investigate a regular phenomenon with non-smooth mathematical model, it seems natural to inquire how the solutions of smooth systems, which converge to the non-smooth one, behave in the limit. Therefore, it is usual to consider a non-smooth system as a singular limit of a 1-parameter family of smooth vector fields.

Roughly speaking, a smoothing process of a piecewise smooth vector field Z consists in obtaining a one-parameter family of continuous vector fields Z_{ε} converging to Z when $\varepsilon \to 0$. A well known smoothing process is the Sotomayor-Teixeira regularization, which was introduced in [31]. Let $\phi : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ be a C^{∞} function satisfying $\phi(\pm 1) = \pm 1$, $\phi^{(i)}(\pm 1) = 0$ for i = 1, 2, ..., n, and $\phi'(s) > 0$ for $s \in (-1, 1)$. Then, a C^n -Sotomayor-Teixeira regularization (or just C^n -regularization for short) takes

$$Z_{\varepsilon}^{\Phi}(p) = \frac{1 + \Phi_{\varepsilon}(h(p))}{2} X^{+}(p) + \frac{1 - \Phi_{\varepsilon}(h(p))}{2} X^{-}(p), \ \Phi_{\varepsilon}(h) = \Phi(h/\varepsilon), \tag{1.4}$$

where $\Phi : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ is defined as the following C^n function

$$\Phi(s) = \begin{cases} \phi(s) & \text{if } |s| \le 1, \\ \operatorname{sign}(s) & \text{if } |s| \ge 1. \end{cases}$$
(1.5)

We call $\Phi \neq C^n$ -monotonic transition function. Proposition 9 provides examples of transition functions.

In addition, we can define the set of C^{n-1} -monotonic transition functions which are not C^n at ± 1 as follows.

Definition 1. Denote by C_{ST}^{n-1} the set of C^{n-1} -monotonic transition functions Φ which are not C^n at ± 1 . That is, for a $\Phi \in C_{ST}^{n-1}$ given as (1.5), then $\phi^{(i)}(\pm 1) = 0$, for i = 1, 2, ..., n-1, and $\phi^{(n)}(\pm 1) \neq 0$. Moreover, one can easily see that $\operatorname{sign}(\phi^{(n)}(\pm 1)) = (\mp 1)^{n+1}$.

Notice that the vector field $Z_{\varepsilon}^{\Phi}(p)$ coincides with $X^{+}(p)$ or $X^{-}(p)$ whether $h(p) \ge \varepsilon$ or $h(p) \le -\varepsilon$, respectively. In the region $|h(p)| \le \varepsilon$, the vector $Z_{\varepsilon}^{\Phi}(p)$ is a linear combination of $X^{+}(p)$ and $X^{-}(p)$.

The Sotomayor-Teixeira regularization is the most widespread smoothing process. That is mainly because its intrinsic relation with Filippov's convention. Indeed, in [5], it was shown that the Sotomayor-Teixeira regularization of Filippov systems gives rise to *Singular Perturbation Problems*, for which the corresponding reduced dynamics is conjugated to the sliding dynamics (1.3). This kind of relation has been further investigated in [22] for more general transition functions. For more informations on Singular Perturbation Problems see, for instance, [12, 16].

1.3 Σ -Polycycles in Filippov Systems

A polycycle is a simple closed curve composed by a collection of singularities and regular orbits, inducing a first return map. In these last decades, the study of polycycles in Filippov systems have been considered in several papers. For instant, in [19] the authors introduced the critical crossing cycle bifurcation, which is defined as a one-parameter family Z_{α} of Filippov systems, where Z_0 has a homoclinic-like connection to a fold-regular singularity. In [14], Freire et al. proved that the unfolding of a critical crossing cycle bifurcation provided in [19] holds in a generic scenario.

More degenerate homoclinic-like connections to Σ -singularities has also been considered. In [25], the authors studied a codimension-two homoclinic-like connection to a visible-visible fold-fold singularity. In [24] its unfolding under non-autonomous periodic perturbation has been studied. Recently, in [10], Andrade et. al. developed a rather general method to investigate the unfolding of Σ -polycycles in Filippov systems. This method was applied to describe bifurcation diagrams of Filippov systems around several Σ -polycycles. The readers are referred to [6, 7, 15, 30, 32] for more studies on Σ -polycycles.

The interest in studying polycycles is due to the fact that they are non-local invariant sets that provide information on the dynamics of the system.

In what follows, we shall introduce some basic concepts for this work. First, we define the local separatrix at a point $p \in \Sigma$.

Definition 2. If $p \in \Sigma$, the asymptotically stable (resp. unstable) separatrix $W_{t,\pi}^s(p)$, (resp. $W_{t,\pi}^u(p)$) of $Z = (X^+, X^-)$ at a visible regular-tangential singularity p in Σ^{\pm} is defined as

$$\begin{aligned} W^{s,u}_t(p) &= \{ q = \varphi_{X^+}(t(q), p) : \varphi_{X^+}(I(q), p) \subset \Sigma^+ \text{ and } \delta_{s,u}t(q) > 0 \}, \\ W^{s,u}_{\overline{\pi}}(p) &= \{ q = \varphi_{X^-}(t(q), p) : \varphi_{X^-}(I(q), p) \subset \Sigma^- \text{ and } \delta_{s,u}t(q) > 0 \}, \end{aligned}$$

where, $\delta_u = 1$, $\delta_s = -1$, and I(q) is the open interval with extrema 0 and t(q).

Now, we introduce the concepts of regular orbit and Σ -polycycle for planar Filippov systems.

Definition 3. Consider the Filippov system $Z = (X^+, X^-)$.

(i) We say that γ is a **regular orbit** of Z if it is a piecewise smooth curve such that $\gamma \cap \Sigma^+$ and $\gamma \cap \Sigma^-$ are unions of regular orbits of X^+ and X^- , respectively, and $\gamma \cap \Sigma \subset \Sigma^c$.

- (ii) A closed curve Γ is said to be a Σ -polycycle of Z if it is composed by a finite number of Σ -singularities, $p_1, p_2, \dots, p_n \in \Sigma$, and a finite number of regular orbits of Z, $\gamma_1, \gamma_2, \dots, \gamma_n$, such that for each $1 \leq i \leq n$, γ_i has ending points p_i and p_{i+1} $(p_{n+1} = p_1)$, and satisfies that
 - a) Γ is a S¹-immersion and it is oriented by increasing time along the regular orbits;
 - b) there exists a non-constant first return map π_{Γ} defined, at least, in one side of Γ .

Remark 1. Condition (a) in Definition 3 gives the minimality of polycycles of Z, i.e. a polycycle Γ can not be written as union of two or more polycycles. This condition also establishes the notion of sides of Γ , which is used in Condition (b).

In what follows, we will establish the classes of Σ -polycycles that will be studied in this work. To define these classes, consider the Filippov system $Z = (X^+, X^-)$ and suppose that Z has a Σ -polycycle Γ having a unique visible regular-tangential singularity at p of multiplicity 2k, for $k \ge 1$. Through a local change of coordinates, we can assume that p = (0, 0) and h(x, y) = y. Now, we shall locally characterize Γ around p. For this, it is enough to divide the Σ -polycycles in the following 2 classes:

- (a) $W_t^s(p) \cup W_t^u(p) \subset \Gamma$ and $X^-h(p) > 0$ or $X^-h(p) < 0$;
- (b) $W^s_{\overline{\Phi}}(p) \cup W^u_t(p) \subset \Gamma$ or $W^u_{\overline{\Phi}}(p) \cup W^s_t(p) \subset \Gamma$.

Here, Σ -polycycles satisfying condition (a) or (b) will be called Σ -polycycles of type (a) or type (b), respectively (see Figure 2).



Figure 2 – Examples of Σ -polycycles Γ of type (a) and (b), respectively.

1.4 Main Goal

Understanding how tangential singularities evolves under smoothing processes was one of the first problem concerning smoothing of Filippov systems. Indeed, in the earlier work of Sotomayor and Teixeira [31], it is proved that around a regular-fold singularity of a Filippov system Z, the regularized system Z_{ε}^{Φ} possesses no singularities. Recently, based on the findings of [5], some works got deeper results by studying the corresponding slow-fast problems.

In [3] and [2], asymptotic methods [21] were used to study C^n -regularizations of generic regular-fold singularities and fold-fold singularities, respectively. In [18] and [17], the blow-up method introduced in [11] was adapted to study C^n -regularizations of fold-fold singularities and an analytic regularization of a regular-fold singularity, respectively.

In this work, we are interested in C^n -regularizations of Filippov systems around visible regular-tangential singularities of even multiplicity. More specifically, we aim to understand how the trajectories of the regularized system transits through the regions $h(p) \ge \varepsilon$, $|h(p)| \le \varepsilon$, and $h(p) \le -\varepsilon$. Accordingly, we characterize two transition maps, namely the Upper Transition Map $U_{\varepsilon}(y)$ and the Lower Transition Map $L_{\varepsilon}(y)$ (see Figure 3). The results are applied to study C^n -regularizations of Σ -polycycles with a unique even multiplicity contact with the switching manifold.



Figure 3 – Upper Transition Map $U_{\varepsilon}(y)$ and Lower Transition Map $L_{\varepsilon}(y)$ defined for C^{n} regularizations of Filippov systems around visible regular-tangential singularities
of even multiplicity.

Our first two main results, Theorems A and B, characterize the Upper Transition Map $U_{\varepsilon}(y)$ and the Lower Transition Map $L_{\varepsilon}(x)$, respectively. More specifically, the flow of the regularized system determines the maps $U_e(y)$ and $L_{\varepsilon}(x)$ and these are defined in the largest possible interval and the arrival of these maps are independent of the starting point. Theorem A generalizes to degenerate regular-tangential singularities the results obtained in [3] for regular-fold singularities. The main difference between our problem and the problem addressed in [3] is that a regular-fold singularity admits a normal form which simplify significantly the study, whilst here we have to deal with higher order terms.

Then, we will use Theorem A to prove Theorem C, which provides sufficient conditions for the existence of an asymptotically stable limit cycle of the regularized system bifurcating from a boundary limit cycle of a Filippov system with degenerated contact with the switching manifold. Theorems A, B and C were proved by the author in [26].

In addition, we study a case of uniqueness and nonexistence of limit cycles for the regularization of boundary limit cycles. More specifically, in Proposition 10 we provide a class of piecewise smooth vector fields having a boundary limit cycle for which its regularization either does not admit limit cycle or admit an unique limit cycle converging to the boundary limit cycle.

Since the boundary limit cycle is a Σ -polycycle, we would like to generalize Theorem C. For this, we will apply Theorems A and B to the study C^n -regularizations of Σ -polycycles with a unique even multiplicity contact with the switching manifold.

The next result of this work (Theorems D) is concerned with regularization of Filippov systems having a Σ -polycycle of type (a). It establishes sufficient conditions for the existence and nonexistence of limit cycles of the regularized system Z_{ε}^{Φ} passing through of a certain compact set with nonempty interior. When the limit cycle exists, its stability is characterized and its convergence to the Σ -polycycle is ensured.

Moreover, we would like to get a version of Proposition 10 for Σ -polycycles of type (a). More specifically, in Proposition 11 we provide a class of piecewise smooth vector fields having a Σ -polycycle of type (a) for which its regularization either does not admit limit cycle or admit an unique limit cycle converging to the Σ -polycycle of type (a).

The last result of this thesis (Theorem E) is concerned with regularization of Filippov systems having a Σ -polycycle of type (b). It establishes sufficient conditions for the existence of limit cycles of the regularized system Z_{ε}^{Φ} converging to the Σ -polycycle.

The proofs of Theorems C, D, and E are mainly based on the characterization of the upper and lower transition maps around regular-tangential singularities, fixed point theorems, and *Poincaré-Bendixson Theorem*. Theorems D and E were proved by the author in [23].

1.5 Structure of the thesis

In Chapter 2, we provide a simpler local expression for Filippov systems around visible regular-tangential singularities as well as some preliminary results. In addition, in Section 2.2 we apply blow-up methods to study the Fenichel Manifold associated to the singular perturbation problem arising from C^n -regularizations of visible regular-tangential singularities.

In Chapter 3, we give our first main results Theorems A and B, which characterize the transition maps near C^n -regularizations of visible regular-tangential singularities. Then, Theorems A and B are proven in Sections 3.2.5 and 3.3.4, respectively.

In Chapter 4, we state Theorem C regarding C^n -regularizations of boundary limit cycles. Then, Theorems C is proven in Section 4.3. Moreover, in Section 4.4 in light of our results, we perform an analysis of C^n -regularizations of piecewise polynomial examples admitting a boundary limit cycle.

In Chapter 5, we give Proposition 10, which is a case of uniqueness and nonexistence of limit cycles of the regularized system bifurcating from a boundary limit cycle of a Filippov system with degenerated contact with the switching manifold. For this, in Section 5.1 we introduce a special map called the Mirror map of the regularized system.

Finally, in Chapter 6 we state Theorems D and E regarding C^n -regularizations of Σ -polycycles of type (a) and (b), respectively. Then, Theorems D and E are proven in Sections 6.1.1 and 6.2.1, respectively. Furthermore, in section 6.1.2 we provide Proposition 11, which is a version of Proposition 10 for Σ -polycycles of type (a).

2 The Fenichel Manifold

One of our main goals in this work is to understand the C^n -regularization of Filippov systems around visible regular-tangential singularities of even multiplicity. The regularized system (1.4) can be studied through a slow-fast problem, which have associated a critical manifold. This manifold looses its normal hyperbolicity around a certain point. For this reason, around this point we cannot apply Fenichel Theorem 1 to find the Fenichel manifold associated with the slow-fast problem. This problem is overcome by means of the blow-up method. This method will be used to extend the Fenichel manifold to a certain transversal section. Firstly, we establish a canonical form of the Filippov system $Z = (X^+, X^-)$ that will be used throughout this work.

2.1 Canonical Form

Let X^{\pm} be \mathcal{C}^{2k} , $k \ge 1$, vector fields defined on an open subset V of \mathbb{R}^2 and let Σ be a \mathcal{C}^{2k} embedded codimension one submanifold of V. Suppose that X^+ has a visible 2k-multiplicity contact with Σ at (0,0) and that X^- is pointing towards Σ at (0,0). Consider the Filippov system $Z = (X^+, X^-)_{\Sigma}$. Denote by $\varphi_{X^{\pm}}$ the flows of X^{\pm} .

First, we know that there exists a local \mathcal{C}^{2k} diffeomorphism φ_1 defined on a neighborhood $U \subset \mathbb{R}^2$ of (0,0) such that $\tilde{\Sigma} = \varphi_1(\Sigma) = h^{-1}(0)$, with h(x,y) = y. Second, applying the *Tubular Flow Theorem* (see [27]) for $(\varphi_1)_*X^-$ at (0,0) and considering the transversal section $\tilde{\Sigma}$, there exists a local \mathcal{C}^{2k} diffeomorphism φ_2 defined on U (taken smaller if necessary) such that $\tilde{X}^- = (\varphi_2 \circ \varphi_1)_*X^- = (0,1)$ and $\varphi_2(\tilde{\Sigma}) = \tilde{\Sigma}$. Clearly, the transformed vector field $\tilde{X}^+ = (\varphi_2 \circ \varphi_1)_*X^+$ still has a visible 2k-multiplicity contact with $\tilde{\Sigma}$ at (0,0). Thus, without loss of generality, we can assume that the Filippov system $Z = (X^+, X^-)_{\Sigma}$ satifies

(A) X^+ has a visible 2k-multiplicity contact with Σ at (0,0), $X_1^+(0,0) > 0$, and there exists a neighborhood $U \subset \mathbb{R}^2$ of (0,0) such that $X^-|_U = (0,1)$ and $\Sigma \cap U = \{(x,0) : x \in (-x_U, x_U)\}.$

Now, we provide a simpler local expression for Filippov systems satisfying hypothesis (A) in a neighborhood of the visible regular-tangential singularity. Since $X_1^+(0,0) > 0$, we can take the neighborhood U smaller in order that $X_1^+(x,y) > 0$ for all $(x,y) \in U$. Performing a time rescaling in X^+ , we get $\hat{X}^+(x,y) = (1, f(x,y))$, with the function f given by $f(x,y) = X_2^+(x,y)/X_1^+(x,y)$. Clearly, the vector fields X^+ and \hat{X}^+ have the same orbits in U with the same orientation. Notice that, for $(x,y) \in U$, we have

$$\begin{aligned} X^{+}h(x,y) &= X_{2}^{+}(x,y) \\ &= X_{1}^{+}(x,y)f(x,y) \\ &= X_{1}^{+}(x,y)\hat{X}^{+}h(x,y). \end{aligned}$$

In general, $(\hat{X}^+)^i h(0,0) = 0$ if, and only if, $(X^+)^i h(0,0) = 0$, for all i = 1, ..., 2k. Moreover,

$$X^{+}h(x,0) = f(x,0)$$
 and
 $(\hat{X}^{+})^{i}h(0,0) = \frac{\partial^{i-1}f}{\partial x^{i-1}}(0,0), \ \forall i = 1,\dots,2k.$

Therefore, expanding f(x, 0) around x = 0, we get

$$f(x,0) = \sum_{i=0}^{2k-1} \frac{1}{i!} \frac{\partial^i f}{\partial x^i}(0,0) x^i + g(x) = \alpha x^{2k-1} + g(x),$$

where $\alpha = \frac{(\hat{X}^+)^{2k}h(0,0)}{(2k-1)!} > 0$ and $g(x) = \mathcal{O}(x^{2k})$ is a \mathcal{C}^{2k} function. Consequently, the function f(x,y) writes

$$f(x,y) = \alpha x^{2k-1} + g(x) + y\vartheta(x,y),$$

where ϑ is a \mathcal{C}^{2k} function. Finally, dropping the hat, the Filippov system $Z = (X^+, X^-)_{\Sigma}$ on U becomes

$$X^{+}(x,y) = (1, \alpha x^{2k-1} + g(x) + y\vartheta(x,y)),$$

$$X^{-}(x,y) = (0,1),$$
(2.1)

with $\alpha > 0$. Moreover, $\partial_y X_2^+(0,0) = \vartheta(0,0)$.

The next result establishes the intersection between the trajectory of X^+ (satisfying (A)) starting at (0,0) with some sections (see Figure 4).



Figure 4 – Transversal intersections of the trajectory of X^+ passing through the 2kmultiplicity contact (0,0) with the transversal sections $\{x = -\rho\}, \{x = \theta\}$, and $\{y = \varepsilon\}$.

Lemma 1. Assume that X^+ satisfies hypothesis (A). For $\rho > 0$, $\theta > 0$, and $\varepsilon > 0$ sufficiently small, the trajectory of X^+ starting at (0,0) intersects transversally the sections $\{x = -\rho\}, \{x = \theta\}, and \{y = \varepsilon\}, respectively, at <math>(-\rho, \overline{y}_{-\rho}), (\theta, \overline{y}_{\theta}), and (\overline{x}_{\varepsilon}^{\pm}, \varepsilon), where$

$$\overline{y}_x = \frac{\alpha x^{2k}}{2k} + \mathcal{O}(x^{2k+1}) \quad and \quad \overline{x}_{\varepsilon}^{\pm} = \pm \varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2k}} \left(\frac{2k}{\alpha}\right)^{\frac{1}{2k}} + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{1+\frac{1}{2k}}).$$
(2.2)

Proof. Let us consider the differential equation induced by the vector field X^+

$$\begin{cases} x' = 1, \\ y' = \alpha x^{2k-1} + g(x) + y\vartheta(x, y). \end{cases}$$
(2.3)

Denote by (x(t), y(t)) the solution of system (2.3) satisfying x(0) = 0 and y(0) = 0. Thus, x(t) = t and y(t) satisfies the following differential equation

$$y' = \alpha t^{2k-1} + g(t) + y\vartheta(t,y)$$

Therefore, $y^{(i)}(0) = 0$ for i = 0, 1, ..., 2k - 1 and $y^{(2k)}(0) = (2k - 1)!\alpha$. Thus, the Taylor series of y(t) around t = 0 writes

$$y(t) = \frac{\alpha t^{2k}}{2k} + \mathcal{O}(t^{2k+1}).$$

Hence, taking $\rho > 0$ and $\theta > 0$ sufficiently small, we conclude that the trajectory of X^+ starting at (0,0) intersects the sections $\{x = -\rho\}$ and $\{x = \theta\}$ at the points defined in (2.2) $(-\rho, \overline{y}_{-\rho})$ and $(\theta, \overline{y}_{\theta})$, respectively. These intersections are transversal, because $X_1^+(x, y) = 1$ for every $(x, y) \in U$.

Now, we shall study the intersection $y(t) = \varepsilon$, so define $\kappa(t, \varepsilon) = y(t) - \varepsilon$. Consider the change of variables $s = t^{2k}$ and define the function

$$\zeta(s,\varepsilon) = \kappa(s^{\frac{1}{2k}},\varepsilon) = \frac{\alpha s}{2k} - \varepsilon + \mathcal{O}(s^{\frac{2k+1}{2k}}).$$

Since $\zeta(0,0) = 0$ and $\frac{\partial \zeta}{\partial s}(0,0) = \frac{\alpha}{2k} > 0$, by the *Implicit Function Theorem*, there exists a unique smooth function $s(\varepsilon)$ such that $\zeta(s(\varepsilon), \varepsilon) = 0$ and s(0) = 0. Moreover,

$$s'(0) = -\frac{\frac{\partial \zeta}{\partial \varepsilon}(0,0)}{\frac{\partial \zeta}{\partial s}(0,0)} = \frac{2k}{\alpha}.$$

Thus, the Taylor expansion of $s(\varepsilon)$ around $\varepsilon = 0$ writes

$$s(\varepsilon) = \varepsilon \frac{2k}{\alpha} + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^2).$$

Since, $s(\varepsilon) > 0$ for $\varepsilon > 0$ sufficiently small, we can defined $t^{\pm}(\varepsilon) = \pm (s(\varepsilon))^{\frac{1}{2k}}$. Therefore,

$$t^{\pm}(\varepsilon) = \pm \varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2k}} \left(\frac{2k}{\alpha}\right)^{\frac{1}{2k}} + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{1+\frac{1}{2k}}).$$

Hence, the trajectory of X^+ starting at (0,0) intersects the section $\{y = \varepsilon\}$ at the points $(\overline{x}_{\varepsilon}^{\pm}, \varepsilon)$ defined in (2.2). We conclude this proof by showing that these intersections are transversal for $\varepsilon > 0$ small enough. Indeed, suppose that X_2^+ $(\overline{x}_{\varepsilon}^{\pm}, \varepsilon) = 0$. Thus,

$$\alpha(\overline{x}_{\varepsilon}^{\pm})^{2k-1} + (\overline{x}_{\varepsilon}^{\pm})^{2k-1}\widetilde{g}(\overline{x}_{\varepsilon}^{\pm}) + \varepsilon\vartheta(\overline{x}_{\varepsilon}^{\pm},\varepsilon) = 0,$$

and, consequently, $(\overline{x}_{\varepsilon}^{\pm})^{2k-1} = -\frac{\varepsilon \vartheta(\overline{x}_{\varepsilon}^{\pm},\varepsilon)}{\alpha + \widetilde{g}(\overline{x}_{\varepsilon}^{\pm})}$, where $\widetilde{g} = \mathcal{O}(x)$ is a continuous function such that $g(x) = x^{2k-1}\widetilde{g}(x)$. Thus,

$$\left|(\overline{x}_{\varepsilon}^{\pm})^{2k-1}\right| = \left|\frac{\vartheta(\overline{x}_{\varepsilon}^{\pm},\varepsilon)}{\alpha + \widetilde{g}(\overline{x}_{\varepsilon}^{\pm})}\right| \varepsilon \leqslant \max_{\varepsilon \in [0,\varepsilon_0], x \in \overline{B}} \left|\frac{\vartheta(x,\varepsilon)}{\alpha + \widetilde{g}(x)}\right| \varepsilon = C\varepsilon$$

which implies that $\overline{x}_{\varepsilon}^{\pm} = \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2k-1}})$ and, therefore, $2k/\alpha = 0$. This is an absurd. Here, $B \subset \mathbb{R}$ is a neighbourhood of 0. Hence, $X_2^+(\overline{x}_{\varepsilon}^{\pm}, \varepsilon) \neq 0$ for $\varepsilon > 0$ sufficiently small. \Box

The next lemma is a technical result which will be useful for proving our main Theorems.

Lemma 2. Let σ be a real number. The trajectory (u(t), v(t)) of the planar vector field $F(u, v) = (1, -u^{2k-1} - v^n + \sigma)$ satisfying $u(0) = u_0$ and $v(0) = v_0 > 0$ intersects v = 0 at the point $(u^*, 0)$ with $u^* > \sigma^{\frac{1}{2k-1}}$.

Proof. For each positive real number μ , with $\mu^n > \sigma$, let $\mathcal{B}_{\mu} \subset \mathbb{R}^2$ be defined as the following compact region,

$$\mathcal{B}_{\mu} = \left\{ (u, v) \left| (-\mu^{n} + \sigma)^{\frac{1}{2k-1}} \leqslant u \leqslant -v + \mu + (1 + \sigma + \delta)^{\frac{1}{2k-1}}, 0 \leqslant v \leqslant \mu \right\},\right.$$

where $\delta > 0$ is such that $1 + \sigma + \delta > 0$ (see Figure 5).

First, we shall see that the trajectories of F enter the region \mathcal{B}_{μ} through $\partial \mathcal{B}_{\mu} \setminus \mathcal{L}_{\mu}$, where $\mathcal{L}_{\mu} = \{(u, v) | \sigma^{\frac{1}{2k-1}} \leq u \leq \mu + (1 + \sigma + \delta)^{\frac{1}{2k-1}}, v = 0\}$. Denote

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{B}_{\mu}^{+} &= \left\{ (u,v) \middle| u = -v + \mu + (1 + \sigma + \delta)^{\frac{1}{2k-1}}, 0 \leqslant v \leqslant \mu \right\}, \\ \mathcal{B}_{\mu}^{-} &= \left\{ (u,v) \middle| u = (-\mu^{n} + \sigma)^{\frac{1}{2k-1}}, 0 \leqslant v < \mu \right\}, \\ \mathcal{B}_{\mu}^{*} &= \left\{ (u,v) \middle| (-\mu^{n} + \sigma)^{\frac{1}{2k-1}} < u \leqslant (1 + \sigma + \delta)^{\frac{1}{2k-1}}, v = \mu \right\}, \\ \mathcal{B}_{\mu}^{\#} &= \left\{ (u,v) \middle| (-\mu^{n} + \sigma)^{\frac{1}{2k-1}} \leqslant u < \sigma^{\frac{1}{2k-1}}, v = 0 \right\}. \end{split}$$

Notice that $\partial \mathcal{B}_{\mu} \setminus \mathcal{L}_{\mu} = \mathcal{B}_{\mu}^{+} \cup \overline{\mathcal{B}_{\mu}^{-}} \cup \overline{\mathcal{B}_{\mu}^{*}} \cup \mathcal{B}_{\mu}^{\#}.$

Let $n^+ = (1, 1)$ be a normal vector to \mathcal{B}^+_{μ} . Since $F|_{\mathcal{B}^+_{\mu}} = (1, -u^{2k-1} - v^n + \sigma)$,

we get

$$\begin{array}{lll} \langle n^{+},F\rangle &=& \langle (1,1),(1,-u^{2k-1}-v^{n}+\sigma)\rangle \\ &\leqslant& 1-u^{2k-1}+\sigma \\ &=& 1-(-v+\mu+(1+\sigma+\delta)^{\frac{1}{2k-1}})^{2k-1}+\sigma \\ &\leqslant& 1+(\mu-\mu-(1+\sigma+\delta)^{\frac{1}{2k-1}})^{2k-1}+\sigma \\ &=& -\delta \\ &<& 0. \end{array}$$

Hence, F points inward \mathcal{B}_{μ} along \mathcal{B}_{μ}^{+} . Now, let $n^{-} = (1,0)$ be a normal vector to \mathcal{B}_{μ}^{-} . Since, $F|_{\mathcal{B}_{\mu}^{-}} = (1, \mu^{n} - v^{n})$ we get $\langle F, n^{-} \rangle = 1 > 0$ and, then, F also points inward \mathcal{B}_{μ} along \mathcal{B}_{μ}^{-} . Let $n^{*} = (0,1)$ be a normal vector to \mathcal{B}_{μ}^{*} . Since $F|_{\mathcal{B}_{\mu}^{*}} = (1, -u^{2k-1} - \mu^{n} + \sigma)$, we get $\langle F, n^{*} \rangle = -u^{2k-1} - \mu^{n} + \sigma < 0$ and, then, F points inward \mathcal{B}_{μ} along \mathcal{B}_{μ}^{*} . Finally, let $n^{\#} = (0, 1)$ be a normal vector to $\mathcal{B}_{\mu}^{\#}$. Since $F|_{\mathcal{B}_{\mu}^{\#}} = (1, -u^{2k-1} + \sigma)$, we get $\langle F, n^{\#} \rangle = -u^{2k-1} + \sigma > 0$ and, then, F points inward \mathcal{B}_{μ} along $\mathcal{B}_{\mu}^{\#}$.

It remains to study the behavior of the trajectory of F passing through the point $p_1 = \left((-\mu^n + \sigma)^{\frac{1}{2k-1}}, \mu\right)$. Consider the function $h_1(u, v) = v - \mu$, then

$$Fh_1(p_1) = \langle \nabla h_1(p_1), F(p_1) \rangle = 0,$$

$$F^2h_1(p_1) = \langle \nabla Fh_1(p_1), F(p_1) \rangle = -(2k-1) \left(-\mu^n + \sigma \right)^{\frac{2(k-1)}{2k-1}} < 0.$$

Consequently, F has a quadratic contact with the straight line $v = \mu$ at p_1 and the trajectory passing through p_1 stays, locally, below this line. Given that $\dot{u} = 1$, we conclude that the flow enters the region \mathcal{B}_{μ} through p_1 (see Figure 5).



Figure 5 – The vector field F and the region \mathcal{B}_{μ} . The red curve represents the isocline $-u^{2k-1} - v^n + \sigma = 0.$

Now, given $p = (u_0, v_0) \in \mathbb{R}^2$ with $v_0 > 0$ there exists μ_0 such that $p \in \mathcal{B}_{\mu_0}$. From the comments above, we known that the trajectory of F passing through p cannot leave the region \mathcal{B}_{μ} through $\partial \mathcal{B}_{\mu} \setminus \mathcal{L}_{\mu}$. Thus, assume by contradiction that the semi-orbit $\gamma_p^+ = \{(u(t), v(t)) | t \ge 0\}$ is contained in the compact region \mathcal{B}_{μ_0} . From the *Poincaré– Bendixson Theorem* $\omega(p) \subset \mathcal{B}_{\mu_0}$ either contains a singularity of F or is a periodic orbit of F. In the last case, $\operatorname{int}(\omega(p))$ contains a singularity of F. Both cases contradicts the fact that F does not admit singularities. Therefore, γ_p^+ must leave the region \mathcal{B}_{μ_0} through \mathcal{L}_{μ_0} . In other words, there exists $t_0 > 0$ such that $(u(t_0), v(t_0)) = (u^*, 0)$ with $u^* \ge \sigma^{\frac{1}{2k-1}}$.

We conclude this proof by showing that $u^* > \sigma^{\frac{1}{2k-1}}$. Indeed, let $p_2 = (\sigma^{\frac{1}{2k-1}}, 0)$ and define the function $h_2(u, v) = v$. Then

$$Fh_{2}(p_{2}) = \langle \nabla h_{2}(p_{2}), F(p_{2}) \rangle = 0,$$

$$F^{2}h_{2}(p_{2}) = \langle \nabla Fh_{2}(p_{2}), F(p_{2}) \rangle$$

$$= \begin{cases} -(2k-1) & \text{if } k = 1, \\ -(2k-1)\sigma^{\frac{2(k-1)}{2k-1}} & \text{if } k > 1. \end{cases}$$

If k = 1 or $\sigma \neq 0$, then $F^2h_2(p_2) < 0$. Consequently, F has a quadratic contact with the straight line v = 0 at p_2 and the trajectory passing through p_2 stays, locally, below this line (see Figure 5). If k > 1 and $\sigma = 0$, then $F^2h_2(p_2) = 0$. In addition, one can see that $F^jh_2(p_2) = 0$ for $j \in \{1, \ldots, 2k - 1\}$ and $F^{2k}h_2(p_2) = -(2k - 1)! < 0$. Thus, F has an even multiplicity contact with the straight line v = 0 at p_2 and the trajectory passing through p_2 also stays, locally, below this line (see Figure 5). Hence, $p_2 \notin \gamma_p^+$ and, consequently, $u^* > \sigma^{\frac{1}{2k-1}}$.

2.2 Extension of the Fenichel Manifold

Consider a Filippov system $Z = (X^+, X^-)_{\Sigma}$ and assume that X^+ satisfies hypothesis (A) for some $k \ge 1$. For $n \ge \max\{2, 2k - 1\}$, let $\Phi \in C_{ST}^{n-1}$ be given as (1.5). From the comments of the previous section, we can assume that Z, restricted to a neighborhood $U \subset \mathbb{R}^2$ of (0,0), is given as (2.1). Thus, the regularized system Z_{ε}^{Φ} , defined in (1.4), leads to the following differential system

$$Z_{\varepsilon}^{\Phi}: \begin{cases} \dot{x} = \frac{1}{2} \left(1 + \Phi_{\varepsilon}(y) \right), \\ \dot{y} = \frac{1}{2} \left(\alpha x^{2k-1} + g(x) + y \vartheta(x, y) \right) \left(1 + \Phi_{\varepsilon}(y) \right) + \frac{1}{2} \left(1 - \Phi_{\varepsilon}(y) \right), \end{cases}$$
(2.4)

for $(x, y) \in U$ and $\varepsilon > 0$ sufficiently small. Recall that $\Phi_{\varepsilon}(y) = \Phi(y/\varepsilon)$.

Now, we shall study the regularized system (2.4) restricted to the band of regularization $|y| \leq \varepsilon$. Notice that $\Phi_{\varepsilon}(y) = \phi(y/\varepsilon)$ for $|y| \leq \varepsilon$. In this case, system (2.4) can be written as a *slow-fast problem*. Indeed, taking $y = \varepsilon \hat{y}$, we get the so-called *slow system*,

$$\begin{cases} \dot{x} = \frac{1}{2} \left(1 + \phi(\hat{y}) \right), \\ \varepsilon \dot{\hat{y}} = \frac{1}{2} \left(\left(\alpha x^{2k-1} + g(x) + \varepsilon \hat{y} \vartheta(x, \varepsilon \hat{y}) \right) \left(1 + \phi(\hat{y}) \right) + \left(1 - \phi(\hat{y}) \right) \right), \end{cases}$$
(2.5)

defined for $|\hat{y}| \leq 1$. Performing the time rescaling $t = \varepsilon \tau$, we obtain the so-called *fast* system,

$$\overline{Z}_{\varepsilon}^{\Phi}: \begin{cases} x' = \frac{\varepsilon}{2} \left(1 + \phi(\widehat{y})\right), \\ \widehat{y}' = \frac{1}{2} \left(\left(\alpha x^{2k-1} + g(x) + \varepsilon \widehat{y} \vartheta(x, \varepsilon \widehat{y})\right) \left(1 + \phi(\widehat{y})\right) + \left(1 - \phi(\widehat{y})\right)\right). \end{cases}$$
(2.6)

Clearly, systems (2.5) and (2.6) are equivalent for $\varepsilon \neq 0$. Taking $\varepsilon = 0$ in the fast system, we get the *layer problem*

$$\overline{Z}_{0}^{\Phi}: \begin{cases} x'=0, \\ \hat{y}'=\frac{1}{2}\left(\left(\alpha x^{2k-1}+g(x)\right)\left(1+\phi(\hat{y})\right)+\left(1-\phi(\hat{y})\right)\right), \end{cases}$$
(2.7)

which has the following critical manifold

$$S_a = \left\{ (x, \hat{y}) | \hat{y} = m_0(x) := \phi^{-1} \left(\frac{1 + \alpha x^{2k-1} + g(x)}{1 - \alpha x^{2k-1} - g(x)} \right), -L \le x \le 0 \right\},$$
(2.8)

where L is a positive parameter satisfying $\alpha x^{2k-1} + g(x) < 0$ for $-L \leq x < 0$. Notice that, in this case,

$$-1 < \frac{1 + \alpha x^{2k-1} + g(x)}{1 - \alpha x^{2k-1} - g(x)} < 1, \text{ for } -L \leq x < 0.$$

Moreover,

$$\frac{\partial \pi_2 \overline{Z}_0^{\Phi}}{\partial \hat{y}}(x, \hat{y}) = \frac{\phi'(\hat{y})}{2} (\alpha x^{2k-1} + g(x) - 1)$$

where $\pi_2 \overline{Z}_0^{\Phi}$ denote the second component of \overline{Z}_0^{Φ} . Consequently, the critical manifold S_a is normally hyperbolic attracting on $S_a \setminus \{(0,1)\}$ and looses hyperbolicity at (0,1). Indeed, $\phi'(\hat{y})(\alpha x^{2k-1} + g(x) - 1) < 0$ for all $(x, \hat{y}) \in S_a \setminus \{(0,1)\}$ and $\phi'(1) = 0$. Thus, the *Fenichel Theorem* [12,16] can be applied for any compact subset of $S_a \setminus \{(0,1)\}$. In what follows we state the Fenichel Theorem for system (2.6) as it is stated in [3].

Theorema 1 (Fenichel Theorem). Consider L and N positive real numbers, L > N. There exist positive constants ε_0 , K, and C, and a smooth function $m(x,\varepsilon)$, defined for $(x,\varepsilon) \in [-L, -N] \times [0, \varepsilon_0]$ and satisfying $m(x,0) = m_0(x)$ (see (2.8)), such that the following statements hold.

- (i) $S_{a,\varepsilon} = \{(x,\hat{y})|\hat{y} = m(x,\varepsilon), -L \leq x \leq -N\}$ is a normally hyperbolic attracting locally invariant manifold of system (2.6), for $0 < \varepsilon < \varepsilon_0$.
- (ii) There exists a neighborhood W of $S_{a,\varepsilon}$, which does not depend on ε , such that for any $z_0 \in W$ there exists $z^* \in S_{a,\varepsilon}$ satisfying

$$\left|\varphi_{\overline{Z}^{\Phi}}(t,z_{0}) - \varphi_{\overline{Z}^{\Phi}}(t,z^{*})\right| \leqslant Ke^{-\frac{Ct}{\varepsilon}}, t \ge 0,$$

where $\varphi_{\overline{Z}_{\varepsilon}^{\Phi}}$ is the flow of system (2.5).

The invariant manifold $S_{a,\varepsilon}$ is called *Fenichel Manifold*.

In the sequel, in order to extend $S_{a,\varepsilon}$ until $\hat{y} = 1$, we shall study system (2.6) around the degenerate point (0, 1). Notice that $1 + \phi(\hat{y}) > 0$ for \hat{y} sufficiently close to 1. Thus, performing a time changing we can divide the right-hand side of the differential system (2.6) by $1 + \phi(\hat{y})$, obtaining the following equivalent system

$$\begin{cases} x' = \varepsilon, \\ \hat{y}' = \alpha x^{2k-1} + g(x) + \varepsilon \hat{y} \vartheta(x, \varepsilon \hat{y}) + \frac{1 - \phi(\hat{y})}{1 + \phi(\hat{y})}. \end{cases}$$
(2.9)

As an abuse of notation, we are still using the prime symbol ' to denote differentiation with respect to the new time variable. Denote $p(\hat{y}) = (1 - \phi(\hat{y}))/(1 + \phi(\hat{y}))$. Computing the expansion of the function p around $\hat{y} = 1$ we get

$$p(\hat{y}) = \frac{1}{2}\phi^{[n]}(-(\hat{y}-1))^n(1+(\hat{y}-1)\Upsilon(\hat{y}-1))$$

where

$$\phi^{[n]} = \frac{(-1)^{n+1}}{n!} \phi^{(n)}(1) > 0$$

and Υ is a smooth function defined in a neighborhood of 0. Taking $\hat{y} = \tilde{y} + 1$, system (2.9) becomes

$$\begin{cases} x' = \varepsilon, \\ \widetilde{y}' = \alpha x^{2k-1} + g(x) + \varepsilon(1+\widetilde{y})\vartheta(x,\varepsilon(1+\widetilde{y})) + \frac{1}{2}\phi^{[n]}(-\widetilde{y})^n(1+\widetilde{y}\Upsilon(\widetilde{y})). \end{cases}$$

Now, we consider the extended system

$$E: \begin{cases} x' = \widetilde{\varepsilon}, \\ \widetilde{y}' = \alpha x^{2k-1} + x^{2k-1} \widetilde{g}(x) + \widetilde{\varepsilon}(1+\widetilde{y}) \vartheta(x, \widetilde{\varepsilon}(1+\widetilde{y})) + \frac{1}{2} \phi^{[n]}(-\widetilde{y})^n (1+\widetilde{y} \Upsilon(\widetilde{y})), \\ \widetilde{\varepsilon}' = 0, \end{cases}$$

$$(2.10)$$

where $g(x) = x^{2k-1}\tilde{g}(x)$ with $\tilde{g} = \mathcal{O}(x)$. Notice that, the above differential system keeps the planes $\tilde{\varepsilon} =$ "constant" invariant. In addition, its restriction to $\tilde{\varepsilon} = 0$ corresponds to the layer problem (2.7). Thus, once we have understood the orbits of (2.10) in an neighborhood of the origin $(x, \tilde{y}, \tilde{\varepsilon}) = (0, 0, 0)$, we can understand how the Fenichel manifold $S_{a,\varepsilon}$ of (2.6) behaves in a neighborhood of $(x, \hat{y}) = (0, 1)$.

Notice that $\{(x, \tilde{y}, 0) | \alpha x^{2k-1} + x^{2k-1} \tilde{g}(x) + \frac{1}{2} \phi^{[n]}(-\tilde{y})^n (1 + \tilde{y} \Upsilon(\tilde{y})) = 0\}$ is a set of degenerate singularities of (2.10). Thus, in order to study the differential system (2.10) in a neighborhood of the origin, we shall apply the following blow-up

$$\Psi: \mathbb{S}^2 \times \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}^3_*$$
$$(\overline{x}, \overline{y}, \overline{\varepsilon}, r) \mapsto (r^n \overline{x}, r^{2k-1} \overline{y}, r^{1+2k(n-1)} \overline{\varepsilon}).$$

Here,

$$\mathbb{S}^2 = \{ (\overline{x}, \overline{y}, \overline{\varepsilon}) \in \mathbb{R}^3 | \overline{x}^2 + \overline{y}^2 + \overline{\varepsilon}^2 = 1 \} \text{ and } \mathbb{R}^3_* = \mathbb{R}^3 \setminus \{ (0, 0, 0) \}.$$

Roughly speaking, the geometric idea of the blow-up method is to "change" the nonhyperbolic singularity (0,0,0) by a sphere \mathbb{S}^2 , leaving the dynamics away from the origin unchanged. This allow us to blow-up the dynamics around the origin. Formally, the map Ψ pulls back the vector field $E|_{\mathbb{R}^3_*}$, defined in (2.10), to a vector field Ψ^*E defined on $\mathbb{S}^2 \times \mathbb{R}_+$. Here, Ψ^* denotes the usual *pullback*,

$$\Psi^* E(p) = (D\Psi(p))^{-1} E(\Psi(p)), \ p = (\overline{x}, \overline{y}, \overline{\varepsilon}, r)$$

In order to study the behavior of $\Psi^* E$ in a neighbourhood of $\mathbb{S}_0^2 = \mathbb{S}^2 \times \{0\}$, we have to extend its dynamics to \mathbb{S}_0^2 and desingularize it through a time rescaling. This provides a new vector field E^* which has its dynamics outside \mathbb{S}_0^2 equivalent to $E|_{\mathbb{R}^3_*}$. Then, we consider two charts of $\mathbb{S}^2 \times \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0}$, namely, $\kappa_1 = (\mathcal{U}_1, \psi_1)$ and $\kappa_2 = (\mathcal{U}_2, \psi_2)$, where

$$\mathcal{U}_1 = \{ (\overline{x}, \overline{y}, \overline{\varepsilon}, r) \in \mathbb{S}^2 \times \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0} | \overline{y} < 0 \}, \ \mathcal{U}_2 = \{ (\overline{x}, \overline{y}, \overline{\varepsilon}, r) \in \mathbb{S}^2 \times \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0} | \overline{\varepsilon} > 0 \}$$

and $\psi^{1,2}: \mathcal{U}_{1,2} \to \mathbb{R}^3$ are the following stereographic-like projections

$$\psi^{1}(\overline{x},\overline{y},\overline{\varepsilon},r) = \left((-\overline{y})^{\alpha_{1}}\overline{x}, (-\overline{y})^{\beta_{1}}r, (-\overline{y})^{\gamma_{1}}\overline{\varepsilon}\right), \ \psi^{2}(\overline{x},\overline{y},\overline{\varepsilon},r) = \left(\overline{\varepsilon}^{\alpha_{2}}\overline{x}, \overline{\varepsilon}^{\beta_{2}}\overline{y}, \overline{\varepsilon}^{\gamma_{2}}r\right),$$

with

$$\alpha_1 = \frac{-n}{2k-1}, \quad \beta_1 = \frac{1}{2k-1}, \quad \gamma_1 = \frac{-(1+2k(n-1))}{2k-1},$$

and

$$\alpha_2 = \frac{-n}{1+2k(n-1)}, \quad \beta_2 = \frac{-(2k-1)}{1+2k(n-1)}, \quad \gamma_2 = \frac{1}{1+2k(n-1)}$$

The maps ψ^1 and ψ^2 are constructed by projecting the sets \mathcal{U}_1 and \mathcal{U}_2 into the planes $\overline{y} = -1$ and $\overline{\varepsilon} = 1$, respectively.

The above charts are used to push forward the vector fields $E_i^* = E^*|_{\mathcal{U}_i}$, i = 1, 2, to vector fields defined on \mathbb{R}^3 , $F_i = \psi_*^i E_i^*$, i = 1, 2. Here, ψ_*^i denotes the usual *pushforward*,

$$\psi_*^i E_i^*(q) = D\psi^i\left((\psi^i)^{-1}(q)\right) E_i^*\left((\psi^i)^{-1}(q)\right), \ q \in \psi_i(\mathcal{U}_i).$$





Finally, consider the composition $\Psi_i = \Psi \circ (\psi^i)^{-1}$, i = 1, 2. Then,

$$\Psi_1(x_1, r_1, \varepsilon_1) = \left(r_1^n x_1, -r_1^{2k-1}, r_1^{1+2k(n-1)}\varepsilon_1\right),$$

$$\Psi_2(x_2, y_2, r_2) = \left(r_2^n x_2, r_2^{2k-1} y_2, r_2^{1+2k(n-1)}\right).$$

The vector field F_i , i = 1, 2, can be directly obtained as $F_i = \Psi_i^* E / r^{(n-1)(2k-1)}$. Notice that we are pulling back the vector field E through Ψ_i , extending $\Psi_i^* E$ to $r_i = 0$ and, then, desingularizing it by doing a time rescaling (i.e. dividing by $r^{(n-1)(2k-1)}$).

Moreover,

$$\mathcal{U}_{12} := \mathcal{U}_1 \cap \mathcal{U}_2 = \{ (\overline{x}, \overline{y}, \overline{\varepsilon}, r) \in \mathbb{S}^2 \times \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0} | \overline{y} < 0 \text{ and } \overline{\varepsilon} < 0 \}$$

and the change of coordinates $\psi_{12} : \psi_1(\mathcal{U}_{12}) \to \psi_2(\mathcal{U}_{12})$ which pushes forward $F_1|_{\psi_1(\mathcal{U}_{12})}$ to $F_2|_{\psi_2(\mathcal{U}_{12})}$ writes

$$\psi_{12}(x_1, r_1, \varepsilon_1) = \left(\varepsilon_1^{-\frac{n}{1+2k(n-1)}} x_1, -\varepsilon_1^{-\frac{2k-1}{1+2k(n-1)}}, r_1\varepsilon_1^{\frac{1}{1+2k(n-1)}}\right).$$

2.3 Chart κ_1

The differential system associated with the vector field F_1 writes

$$\begin{cases} x_{1}^{\prime} = \frac{1}{2(2k-1)} [2(2k-1)\varepsilon_{1} + \phi^{[n]}nx_{1} + 2\alpha nx_{1}^{2k} - nx_{1}\phi^{[n]}r_{1}^{2k-1}\Upsilon(-r_{1}^{2k-1}) \\ + 2nx_{1}^{2k}\widetilde{g}(r_{1}^{n}x_{1}) - nx_{1}2(r_{1}^{n} - r_{1}^{1-2k+n})\varepsilon_{1}\vartheta(r_{1}^{n}x_{1}, -r_{1}^{2k(n-1)}(-r_{1} + r_{1}^{2k})\varepsilon_{1})], \\ r_{1}^{\prime} = \frac{1}{2(2k-1)} [-2r_{1}x_{1}^{2k-1}(\alpha + \widetilde{g}(r_{1}^{n}x_{1})) - \phi^{[n]}(r_{1} - r_{1}^{2k}\Upsilon(-r_{1}^{2k-1})) \\ + 2(r_{1}^{1+n} - r_{1}^{2-2k+n})\varepsilon_{1}\vartheta(r_{1}^{n}x_{1}, -r_{1}^{2k(n-1)}(-r_{1} + r_{1}^{2k})\varepsilon_{1})], \\ \varepsilon_{1}^{\prime} = \frac{1}{2(2k-1)} (1 + 2k(n-1))\varepsilon_{1} [(2x_{1}^{2k-1}(\alpha + \widetilde{g}(r_{1}^{n}x_{1})) + \phi^{[n]}(1 - r_{1}^{2k-1}\Upsilon(-r_{1}^{2k-1})) \\ + 2(-r_{1}^{n} + r_{1}^{1-2k+n})\varepsilon_{1}\vartheta(r_{1}^{n}x_{1}, -r_{1}^{2k(n-1)}(-r_{1} + r_{1}^{2k})\varepsilon_{1})]. \end{cases}$$

$$(2.11)$$

First, taking $\varepsilon_1 = 0$ in (2.11), we get that the critical manifold S_a , in this coordinate system, is given by

$$S_{a,1} = \left\{ (x_1, r_1, 0) | x_1^{2k-1} (\alpha + \widetilde{g}(r_1^n x_1)) = -\frac{\phi^{[n]}}{2} (1 - r_1^{2k-1} \Upsilon(-r_1^{2k-1})), -L \leq r_1^n x_1 \leq 0 \right\}.$$

In what follows, we shall write the critical manifold $S_{a,1}$ locally as a graphic. For this, define $U_1 = \{(x_1, r_1) | -L \leq r_1^n x_1 \leq 0\}$ and consider the function $H: U_1 \to \mathbb{R}$ defined by

$$H(x_1, r_1) = -x_1^{2k-1}(\alpha + \tilde{g}(r_1^n x_1)) - \frac{\phi^{[n]}}{2}(1 - r_1^{2k-1}\Upsilon(-r_1^{2k-1}))$$

Notice that $H(x_1, 0) = -\alpha x_1^{2k-1} - \frac{\phi^{[n]}}{2}$. Thus, for $x_1^* = \left(-\frac{\phi^{[n]}}{2\alpha}\right)^{\frac{1}{2k-1}}$ we get that $H(x_1^*, 0) = 0$. Furthermore,

$$\frac{\partial H}{\partial x_1}(x_1^*, 0) = -(2k-1)\alpha(x_1^*)^{2k-2} = -(2k-1)\alpha\left(-\frac{\phi^{[n]}}{2\alpha}\right)^{\frac{2k-2}{2k-1}} \neq 0.$$

From the Implicit Function Theorem, there exist open sets $W_1, V_1 \subseteq \mathbb{R}$ such that $(x_1^*, 0) \in W_1 \times V_1 \subseteq U_1$, and a unique smooth function $x_1 : V_1 \to W_1$ such that $x_1(0) = x_1^*$ and $H(x_1(r_1), r_1) = 0$, for all $r_1 \in V_1$. Moreover,

$$x_1'(0) = \begin{cases} 0 & if \quad k > 1, \\ \frac{\phi^{[n]} \Upsilon(0)}{2\alpha} & if \quad k = 1. \end{cases}$$

Thus, expanding $x_1(r_1)$ around $r_1 = 0$, we have

$$\begin{aligned} x_1(r_1) &= x_1(0) + r_1 x_1'(0) + \mathcal{O}(r_1^2) \\ &= \begin{cases} x_1^* + \mathcal{O}(r_1^2) & \text{if } k > 1 \\ \\ x_1^* + r_1 \frac{\phi^{[n]} \Upsilon(0)}{2\alpha} + \mathcal{O}(r_1^2) & \text{if } k = 1 \end{cases} \end{aligned}$$

Consequently,

$$S_{a,1} \cap (W_1 \times V_1 \times \{0\}) = \{(x_1, r_1, 0) | x_1 = x_1(r_1)\}.$$

Notice that $S_{a,1}$ intersects the plane $r_1 = 0$ (which is equivalent to the sphere \mathbb{S}_0^2) at the singularity $(x_1^*, 0, 0)$. Moreover,

$$DF_1(x_1^*, 0, 0) = \begin{pmatrix} -\frac{\phi^{[n]}n}{2} & \omega_k^{12} & 1 + \omega_{n,k}^{13} \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

where

$$\begin{split} \omega_k^{12} &= \begin{cases} 0 & if \quad k > 1, \\ \frac{(\phi^{[n]})^2 n \Upsilon(0)}{4\alpha} & if \quad k = 1, \end{cases} \\ \omega_{n,k}^{13} &= \begin{cases} 0 & if \quad n > 2k - 1, \\ x_1^* \vartheta(0, 0) & if \quad n = 2k - 1 \text{ and } k \neq 1. \end{cases} \end{split}$$

Hence, in the sequel, we shall use the *Center Manifold Theorem* [8] to study F_1 around the degenerated singularity $(x_1^*, 0, 0)$.

One can easily see that $\lambda_1 = -\phi^{[n]} n/2$, $\lambda_2 = 0$, and $\lambda_3 = 0$ are the eigenvalues of $DF(x_1^*, 0, 0)$ associated with the eigenvectors

$$v_1 = (1, 0, 0), v_2 = \left(\frac{2\omega_k^{12}}{\phi^{[n]}n}, 1, 0\right), \text{ and } v_3 = \left(\frac{2}{\phi^{[n]}n}(1 + \omega_{n,k}^{13}), 0, 1\right),$$

respectively. Thus, consider a box $\Omega = [\chi, 0] \times [0, \rho] \times [0, \nu]$ around $(x_1^*, 0, 0)$, where $\chi < x_1^*$ and $\rho, \nu > 0$ are small parameters. By the *Center Manifold Theorem* we know that within Ω there exists a center manifold $W^c = \{(x_1, r_1, \varepsilon_1) | x_1 = k(r_1, \varepsilon_1)\}$ tangent to the eigenspace generated by v_2 and v_3 at the singularity $(x_1^*, 0, 0)$. Moreover, since $(x_1^*, 0, 0) \in W^c \cap S_{a,1} \neq \emptyset$, we conclude that W^c contains the critical manifold $S_{a,1}$. Assume that $W^c = \hat{h}^{-1}(0)$, with $\hat{h}(x_1, r_1, \varepsilon_1) = x_1 - k(r_1, \varepsilon_1)$ and $k(0, 0) = x_1^*$. Since $\nabla \hat{h}(0).v_2 = 0$ and $\nabla \hat{h}(0).v_3 = 0$ we get

$$\frac{\partial k}{\partial r_1}(0,0) = \frac{2\omega_k^{12}}{\phi^{[n]}n} \quad \text{and} \quad \frac{\partial k}{\partial \varepsilon_1}(0,0) = \frac{2}{\phi^{[n]}n}(1+\omega_{n,k}^{13}),$$

respectively. Therefore,

$$k(r_1,\varepsilon_1) = x_1^* + r_1 \frac{2\omega_k^{12}}{\phi^{[n]}n} + \varepsilon_1 \frac{2}{\phi^{[n]}n} (1 + \omega_{n,k}^{13}) + \mathcal{O}_2(r_1,\varepsilon_1).$$

Now, we shall see that the center manifold W^c is foliated by hyperbolas. Indeed, from (2.11) we have that

$$\frac{dr_1}{d\varepsilon_1} = -\frac{r_1}{\varepsilon_1(1+2k(n-1))}.$$

Thus, solving the above differential equation, we get that $\varepsilon_1 \mapsto \varepsilon_1 r_1(\varepsilon_1)^{1+2k(n-1)}$ is constant on ε_1 . This means that, for each $\varepsilon > 0$, the surface

$$E_{\varepsilon} = \{ (x_1, r_1, \varepsilon_1) | \quad \varepsilon_1 r_1^{1+2k(n-1)} = \varepsilon \},$$

is invariant through the flow of (2.11). Consequently, the manifold W^c is foliated by invariant hyperbolas $\gamma_{\varepsilon} = W^c \cap E_{\varepsilon}, \varepsilon > 0$, which correspond to orbits of (2.11). Thus, we can write $\gamma_{\varepsilon} = \{\varphi_{F_1}(t,\varepsilon) : t \in I_{\varepsilon}\}$ where $\varphi_{F_1}(t,\varepsilon)$ is a trajectory of (2.11) satisfying

$$\varphi_{F_1}(0,\varepsilon) = (k(\rho,\varepsilon\,\rho^{-(1+2k(n-1))}),\rho,\varepsilon\,\rho^{-(1+2k(n-1))}) \in W^c \cap \gamma_{\varepsilon},$$

and I_{ε} is a neighborhood of the origin. Hence, $\Psi_1 \gamma_{\varepsilon}$ is an orbit of E (2.10) lying in the plane $\tilde{\varepsilon} = \varepsilon$. Therefore, (after the translation $\hat{y} = 1 + \tilde{y}$) we get it as an orbit (2.6).

Denote by $S_{a,\varepsilon}^1$ the Fenichel manifold $S_{a,\varepsilon}$ of (2.6) for $\tilde{\varepsilon} = \varepsilon$ written in the coordinates $(x_1, r_1, \varepsilon_1)$. We claim that, for $\varepsilon > 0$ sufficiently small, the Fenichel manifold $S_{a,\varepsilon}^1$ can be continued as an orbit of F_1 in W^c , namely γ_{ε} . First, noticed that the orbit γ_{ε} is ε -close to $S_{a,1}$ at $r_1 = \rho$. Indeed, from the relation $\varepsilon_1 r_1^{1+2k(n-1)} = \varepsilon$ satisfied by γ_{ε} , we see that $\varphi_{F_1}(0,\varepsilon)$ approaches to $S_{a,1} = W^c \cap {\varepsilon_1 = 0}$ when ε goes to zero. Now, since $S_{a,\varepsilon}^1$ is also ε -close to $S_{a,1}$, we get that $S_{a,\varepsilon}^1$ and γ_{ε} are ε - close to each other at $r_1 = \rho$. Noticing that γ_{ε} and $S_{a,\varepsilon}^1$ are related to orbits of (2.6), which are ε -close to each other, we get from item (ii) of Fenichel Theorem (1) that $d(\varphi_{F_1}(t,\varepsilon), S_{a,\varepsilon}^1) \leq Ke^{-\frac{Ct}{\varepsilon}}$. Hence, taking any positive time $t_0 \in I_{\varepsilon}$ we conclude that $S_{a,\varepsilon}^1$ and γ_{ε} are $\mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{c}{\varepsilon}})$ close to each other at $r_1 = \rho' < \rho$, with $c = Ct_0 > 0$. Therefore, for each $\varepsilon > 0$, γ_{ε} can be seen as a continuation of $S_{a,\varepsilon}^1$ on W^c (see Figure 7).

Now, at $\varepsilon_1 = \nu$ we have

$$\gamma_{\varepsilon} \cap \{\varepsilon_1 = \nu\} = \left(k\left((\varepsilon \,\nu^{-1})^{\frac{1}{1+2k(n-1)}}, \nu\right), (\varepsilon \,\nu^{-1})^{\frac{1}{1+2k(n-1)}}, \nu \right)$$
$$= \left(k(0,\nu), 0, \nu \right) + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{\frac{1}{1+2k(n-1)}}).$$

Hence, we conclude that $S_{a,\varepsilon}^1 \cap \{\varepsilon_1 = \nu\}$ is $\mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{\frac{1}{1+2k(n-1)}})$ close to $(k(0,\nu), 0, \nu)$.

Remark 2. Notice that $W^c \cap \{r_1 = 0\}$ is an orbit of (2.11) containing the point $(x_1, r_1, \varepsilon_1) = (k(0, \nu), 0, \nu)$ which the backward trajectory approaches asymptotically to $(x_1^*, 0, 0)$ (see Figure 7). Indeed,

$$W^{c} \cap \{r_{1} = 0\} = \left\{ (x_{1}, 0, \varepsilon_{1}) \middle| \quad x_{1} = x_{1}^{*} + \varepsilon_{1} \frac{2}{\phi^{[n]} n} (1 + \omega_{n,k}^{13}) + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon_{1}^{2}) \right\}$$

and, therefore, $W^c \cap \{r_1 = 0\} \cap \{\varepsilon_1 = 0\} = \{(x_1^*, 0, 0)\}.$

In what follows, we shall continue $S_{a,\varepsilon}^1$ in chart κ_2 by following the trajectory of $(x_2^*, y_2^*, 0) := \psi_{12}(k(0, \nu), 0, \nu)$ (see Figure 8).

2.4 Chart κ_2

The differential system associated with the vector field F_2 writes

$$\begin{cases} x_2' = 1, \\ y_2' = x_2^{2k-1}(\alpha + \widetilde{g}(r_2^n x_2)) + \frac{\phi^{[n]}}{2}(-y_2)^n(1 + r_2^{2k-1}y_2\Upsilon(r_2^{2k-1}y_2)) \\ + (r_2^{1-2k+n} + r_2^n y_2)\vartheta(r_2^n x_2, r_2^{2kn}(r_2^{1-2k} + y_2)), \\ r_2' = 0. \end{cases}$$

$$(2.12)$$



Figure 7 – Behavior of the vector field (2.11) around $(x_1^*, 0, 0)$.

Lemma 3. The forward orbit of (2.12) starting at $(x_2^*, y_2^*, 0)$ intersects $\{y_2 = 0\}$ at

$$(x_2, y_2, r_2) = (\eta, 0, 0)$$

where η is a constant satisfying

$$\eta > \sigma_{n,k} := \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } n > 2k - 1, \\ -\left(\frac{\vartheta(0,0)}{\alpha}\right)^{\frac{1}{2k-1}} & \text{if } n = 2k - 1 \text{ and } k \neq 1. \end{cases}$$
(2.13)

Proof. Set $c_x = \left(2/(\phi^{[n]}\alpha^{n-1})\right)^{\frac{1}{1+2k(n-1)}} > 0$ and $c_y = -\alpha c_x^{2k} < 0$. Consider system (2.12) restricted to $r_2 = 0$. Applying the change of variables $(x_2, y_2) = (c_x u, c_y v), v \leq 0$, and a time rescaling by the positive constant c_x , system (2.12) $|_{r_2=0}$ writes

$$\begin{cases} u' = 1, \\ v' = -u^{2k-1} - v^n + s_{n,k}, \end{cases}$$
(2.14)

where

$$s_{n,k} = \begin{cases} 0 & if \quad n > 2k - 1, \\ -\frac{\vartheta(0,0)}{\alpha c_x^n} & if \quad n = 2k - 1 \text{ and } k \neq 1. \end{cases}$$

Take $(u_0, v_0) = (x_2^*/c_x, y_2^*/c_y)$. Since $y_2^* = -\nu^{-\frac{2k-1}{1+2k(n-1)}}$, we have $v_0 > 0$. Thus, by Lemma 2, the forward trajectory of (2.14) starting at (u_0, v_0) intersects $\{v = 0\}$ at $(u^*, 0)$ with $u^* > s_{n,k}^{\frac{1}{2k-1}}$. Consequently, the forward flow of $(x_2^*, y_2^*, 0)$ intersects $\{y_2 = 0\}$ at the point $(x_2, y_2, r_2) = (\eta, 0, 0)$, where $\eta := c_x u^*$ is a constant satisfying $\eta > \sigma_{n,k}$.



Figure 8 – The 2 charts of blow-up, critical manifold S_a , and Fenichel manifold $S_{a,\varepsilon}$.

Proposition 1. There exist a > 0 and $\varepsilon^* > 0$ such that, for each $\varepsilon \in (0, \varepsilon^*]$, the forward trajectory of system (2.6), starting at any point in the set

$$\left(\varepsilon^{\lambda^{*}}(x_{2}^{*}-a), \varepsilon^{\lambda^{*}}(x_{2}^{*}+a)\right) \times \left(1+\varepsilon^{\frac{2k-1}{1+2k(n-1)}}(y_{2}^{*}-a), 1+\varepsilon^{\frac{2k-1}{1+2k(n-1)}}(y_{2}^{*}+a)\right),$$

intersects the line $\{\hat{y} = 1\}$. In particular, the Fenichel manifold $S_{a,\varepsilon}$ intersects $\{\hat{y} = 1\}$ at $(x, \hat{y}, \varepsilon) = (x_{\varepsilon}, 1, \varepsilon)$, where

$$x_{\varepsilon} = \varepsilon^{\lambda^*} \eta + \mathcal{O}\left(\varepsilon^{\lambda^* + \frac{1}{1+2k(n-1)}}\right), \qquad (2.15)$$

with η satisfying (2.13) and $\lambda^* := \frac{n}{1 + 2k(n-1)}$.

Proof. Denote $S_{a,\varepsilon}^2 := \psi_{12}(S_{a,\varepsilon}^1)$. Notice that $S_{a,\varepsilon}^2 \cap \{y_2 = y_2^*\}$ is $\mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{\frac{1}{1+2k(n-1)}})$ close to $(x_2^*, y_2^*, 0)$. From Lemma 3, the forward orbit of $(x_2^*, y_2^*, 0)$ intersects $\{y_2 = 0\}$ transversally at $(x_2, y_2, r_2) = (\eta, 0, 0)$. Thus, from the Implicit Function Theorem, $S_{a,\varepsilon}^2$ also intersect $\{y_2 = y_2^*\}$ transversally at

$$\left(\eta + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{\frac{1}{1+2k(n-1)}}), 0, \varepsilon^{\frac{1}{1+2k(n-1)}}\right),$$

for $\varepsilon > 0$ sufficiently small. Furthermore, there exist a > 0 and b > 0 sufficiently small such that any forward trajectory of (2.12), starting at the set

$$\Xi = (x_2^* - a, x_2^* + a) \times (y_2^* - a, y_2^* + a) \times [0, b),$$

also intersects the set $\{y_2 = 0\}$.

Going back to the original coordinates, we conclude that the forward flow of $S_{a,\varepsilon}$ intersect $\{\hat{y} = 1\}$ at $(x, \hat{y}, \varepsilon) = (x_{\varepsilon}, 1, \varepsilon)$ with

$$x_{\varepsilon} = \varepsilon^{\lambda^*} \left(\eta + \mathcal{O}\left(\varepsilon^{\frac{1}{1+2k(n-1)}}\right) \right) = \varepsilon^{\lambda^*} \eta + \mathcal{O}\left(\varepsilon^{\lambda^* + \frac{1}{1+2k(n-1)}}\right).$$

Moreover, writing the Ξ in the original coordinates we conclude that, for every $\varepsilon \in [0, \varepsilon^*)$, $\varepsilon^* = b^{1+2k(n-1)}$, any trajectory of system (2.6) starting at the set

$$\left(\varepsilon^{\lambda^{*}}(x_{2}^{*}-a), \varepsilon^{\lambda^{*}}(x_{2}^{*}+a)\right) \times \left(1+\varepsilon^{\frac{2k-1}{1+2k(n-1)}}(y_{2}^{*}-a), 1+\varepsilon^{\frac{2k-1}{1+2k(n-1)}}(y_{2}^{*}+a)\right)$$

intersects the line $\{\hat{y} = 1\}$.

3 Transition maps of the regularized system

In this Chapter, we will continue with the study of the C^n -regularizations of Filippov systems around visible regular-tangential singularities of even multiplicity. More specifically, we shall understand how the trajectories of the regularized system transits around these singularities. Thus, we will characterize two transition maps, namely the Upper Transition Map $U_{\varepsilon}(y)$ and the Lower Transition Map $L_{\varepsilon}(y)$. For this, we will use the results obtained in the previous chapter with respect to the extension of the Fenichel manifold.

3.1 Main Results

Our first two main results guarantee that under some conditions the flow of the regularized system Z_{ε}^{Φ} near a visible regular-tangential singularity defines two distinct maps between transversal sections (see Figure 3). Before their statements, we need to establish some notations. Given $\Phi \in C_{ST}^{n-1}$ as (1.5), with $k \ge 1$, and $n \ge 2k - 1$, define

$$x_{\varepsilon} = \varepsilon^{\lambda^*} \eta + \mathcal{O}\left(\varepsilon^{\lambda^* + \frac{1}{1 + 2k(n-1)}}\right),$$

where $\lambda^* := \frac{n}{1 + 2k(n-1)}$ and η is a constant satisfying

$$\eta > \begin{cases} 0 & if \quad n > 2k - 1, \\ -\left(\frac{\vartheta(0,0)}{\alpha}\right)^{\frac{1}{2k-1}} & if \quad n = 2k - 1 \text{ and } k \neq 1, \end{cases}$$

and

$$y_{\rho,\lambda}^{\varepsilon} = \overline{y}_{-\rho} + \varepsilon + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon\rho) + \beta\varepsilon^{2k\lambda} + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{(2k+1)\lambda}) + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{1+\lambda}),$$

$$y_{\theta}^{\varepsilon} = \overline{y}_{\theta} + \varepsilon + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon\theta) + \sum_{i=1}^{2k-1} \mathcal{O}(\theta^{2k+1-i}x_{\varepsilon}^{i}) + \mathcal{O}(x_{\varepsilon}^{2k}),$$
(3.1)

where $\overline{y}_{-\rho}$ and \overline{y}_{θ} are given by Lemma 1 and β is a negative parameter which will be defined latter on.

In what follows, we establish the main results of this chapter, which will be proved in the Sections 3.2 and 3.3, respectively.

Theorem A. Consider a Filippov system $Z = (X^+, X^-)_{\Sigma}$ and assume that X^+ satisfies hypothesis (A) (see Section 2.1) for some $k \ge 1$. For $n \ge 2k - 1$, let $\Phi \in C_{ST}^{n-1}$ be given as (1.5) and consider the regularized system Z_{ε}^{Φ} (1.4). Then, there exist $\rho_0, \theta_0 > 0$, and constants $\beta < 0$ and c, r, q > 0, for which the following statements hold for every $\rho \in (\varepsilon^{\lambda}, \rho_0], \theta \in [x_{\varepsilon}, \theta_0], \lambda \in (0, \lambda^*)$, with $\lambda^* := \frac{1}{2k(n-1)+1}$, and $\varepsilon > 0$ sufficiently small.

(a) The vertical segments

$$\hat{V}_{\rho,\lambda}^{\varepsilon} = \{-\rho\} \times [\varepsilon, y_{\rho,\lambda}^{\varepsilon}] \quad and \quad \tilde{V}_{\theta}^{\varepsilon} = \{\theta\} \times [y_{\theta}^{\varepsilon}, y_{\theta}^{\varepsilon} + re^{-\frac{c}{\varepsilon^{q}}}]$$

and the horizontal segments

$$\widehat{H}_{\rho,\lambda}^{\varepsilon} = \left[-\rho, -\varepsilon^{\lambda}\right] \times \left\{\varepsilon\right\} \quad and \quad \overleftarrow{H}_{\varepsilon} = \left[x_{\varepsilon} - re^{-\frac{c}{\varepsilon^{q}}}, x_{\varepsilon}\right] \times \left\{\varepsilon\right\}$$

are transversal sections for Z_{ε}^{Φ} .

(b) The flow of Z_{ε}^{Φ} defines a map U_{ε} between the transversal sections $\hat{V}_{\rho,\lambda}^{\varepsilon}$ and $\tilde{V}_{\theta}^{\varepsilon}$ satisfying

$$U_{\varepsilon}: \begin{array}{ccc} \widehat{V}_{\rho,\lambda}^{\varepsilon} & \longrightarrow & \widetilde{V}_{\theta}^{\varepsilon} \\ y & \longmapsto & y_{\theta}^{\varepsilon} + \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{c}{\varepsilon^{q}}}). \end{array}$$

(c) the trajectories of Z_{ε}^{Φ} starting at the section $\hat{V}_{\rho,\lambda}^{\varepsilon}$ intersect the line $y = \varepsilon$ only in two points before reaching the section $\tilde{V}_{\theta}^{\varepsilon}$. Moreover, these intersections take place at $\hat{H}_{\rho,\lambda}^{\varepsilon} \cup H_{\varepsilon}$.

The map U_{ε} is called Upper Transition Map of the regularized system (see Figure 9).



Figure 9 – Upper Transition Map U_{ε} of the regularized system Z_{ε}^{Φ} . The large domain $\hat{V}_{\rho,\lambda}^{\varepsilon}$ is contracted into the small $\tilde{V}_{\theta}^{\varepsilon}$. The dotted curve is the trajectory of X^+ passing through the visible 2k-multiplicity contact with Σ with (0,0).

Theorem B. Consider a Filippov system $Z = (X^+, X^-)_{\Sigma}$ and assume that X^+ satisfies hypothesis (A) (see Section 2.1) for some $k \ge 1$. For $n \ge 2k - 1$, let $\Phi \in C_{ST}^{n-1}$ be given as (1.5) and consider the regularized system Z_{ε}^{Φ} (1.4). Then, there exist $\rho_0, \theta_0 > 0$, and constants c, r, q > 0, for which the following statements hold for every $\rho \in (\varepsilon^{\lambda}, \rho_0]$, $\theta \in [x_{\varepsilon} + re^{-\frac{c}{\varepsilon^q}}, \theta_0], \lambda \in (0, \lambda^*)$, with $\lambda^* = \frac{n}{2k(n-1)+1}$, and $\varepsilon > 0$ sufficiently small.

(a) The vertical segments

$$\check{V}_{\theta}^{\varepsilon} = \{\theta\} \times \left[y_{\theta}^{\varepsilon} - re^{-\frac{c}{\varepsilon^{q}}}, y_{\theta}^{\varepsilon}\right]$$

and the horizontal segments

$$\check{H}^{\varepsilon}_{\rho,\lambda} = \left[-\rho, -\varepsilon^{\lambda}\right] \times \left\{-\varepsilon\right\} \quad and \quad \overrightarrow{H}_{\varepsilon} = \left[x_{\varepsilon}, x_{\varepsilon} + re^{-\frac{c}{\varepsilon^{q}}}\right] \times \left\{\varepsilon\right\}$$

are transversal sections for Z_{ε}^{Φ} .
(b) The flow of Z_{ε}^{Φ} defines a map L_{ε} between the transversal sections $\check{H}_{\rho,\lambda}^{\varepsilon}$ and $\check{V}_{\theta}^{\varepsilon}$, namely

$$\begin{aligned} L_{\varepsilon} : \quad \check{H}^{\varepsilon}_{\rho,\lambda} & \longrightarrow \quad \check{V}^{\varepsilon}_{\theta} \\ x & \longmapsto \quad y^{\varepsilon}_{\theta} + \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{c}{\varepsilon^{q}}}). \end{aligned}$$

The map L_{ε} is called Lower Transition Map of the regularized system (see Figure 10).



Figure 10 – Lower Transition Map L_{ε} of the regularized system Z_{ε}^{Φ} . The large domain $\check{H}_{\rho,\lambda}^{\varepsilon}$ is contracted into the small $\check{V}_{\theta}^{\varepsilon}$. The dotted curve is the trajectory of X^+ passing through the visible 2k-multiplicity contact with Σ with (0,0).

Remark 3. The proofs of Theorems A and B is based on the analysis of the corresponding slow-fast problem associated with the regularized system Z_{ε}^{Φ} (1.4). This analysis relies on the normal hyperbolicity of a related critical manifold. In previous chapter, when $n \ge \max\{2, 2k - 1\}$, we saw that this critical manifold looses its normal hyperbolicity. This problem was overcome by means of blow-up methods. When k = n = 1, we do not face such a problem and the results are directly obtained from Fenichel Theory. In this case, Theorem A is already proved in [3] and Theorem B can be obtained analogously. Thus, through out the thesis, we shall assume that $n \ge \max\{2, 2k - 1\}$.

3.2 Upper Transition Map

This section is devoted to the proof of Theorem A. For this, we need to guarantee that under some conditions the flow of the regularized system Z_{ε}^{Φ} near a visible regular-tangential singularity defines a map between two vertical sections. Thus, it will be convenient to write this map as the composition of three maps, namely P^u , Q_{ε}^u and R^u (see Figure 11). The map Q_{ε}^u will be defined through the flow of Z_{ε}^{Φ} restricted to the band of regularization, and the maps P^u and R^u will be given by the flow of Z_{ε}^{Φ} defined outside the band of regularization. In what follows, we shall properly define these maps.



Figure 11 – Dynamics of the maps P^u , Q^u_{ε} and R^u . The dotted curve is the trajectory of X^+ passing through the visible 2k-multiplicity contact with Σ with (0,0).

3.2.1 Tangential points and transversal sections

In Proposition 1, we have proved that the Fenichel manifold of system (2.4) intersects $\{y = \varepsilon\}$ at $(x_{\varepsilon}, \varepsilon)$ (see (2.15)). Now, we shall prove that if $(\psi(\varepsilon), \varepsilon)$ is a tangential contact of Z_{ε}^{Φ} with the line $\{y = \varepsilon\}$, then $x_{\varepsilon} > \psi(\varepsilon)$.

Lemma 4. Let $\psi(\varepsilon)$ be a tangential contact of the vector field Z_{ε}^{Φ} (2.4) with $y = \varepsilon$. Then,

(a)
$$\psi(\varepsilon) = \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2k-1}}), and$$

(b) $x_{\varepsilon} > \psi(\varepsilon)$ for ε sufficiently small, where x_{ε} is given in Proposition 1.

Proof. First, we shall prove statement (a). Let $\psi : [0, \varepsilon_0] \to \mathbb{R}$ be a function, defined for $\varepsilon_0 > 0$ small, satisfying $\pi_2 Z_{\varepsilon}^{\Phi}(\psi(\varepsilon), \varepsilon) = 0$ for every $\varepsilon \in [0, \varepsilon_0]$. Here, $\pi_2 Z_{\varepsilon}^{\Phi}$ denote the second component of Z_{ε}^{Φ} . Then,

$$0 = \pi_2 Z_{\varepsilon}^{\Phi}(\psi(\varepsilon), \varepsilon)$$

= $\frac{1}{2} \Big(f(\psi(\varepsilon), \varepsilon)(1 + \Phi(1)) + (1 - \Phi(1)) \Big)$
= $f(\psi(\varepsilon), \varepsilon)$
= $\alpha \psi(\varepsilon)^{2k-1} + \psi(\varepsilon)^{2k-1} \widetilde{g}(\psi(\varepsilon)) + \varepsilon \vartheta(\psi(\varepsilon), \varepsilon),$

where $\tilde{g} = \mathcal{O}(x)$ is a continuous function such that $g(x) = x^{2k-1}\tilde{g}(x)$. Then,

$$\psi(\varepsilon)^{2k-1} = -\frac{\varepsilon\vartheta(\psi(\varepsilon),\varepsilon)}{\alpha + \widetilde{g}(\psi(\varepsilon))} =: A(\varepsilon)$$

Notice that

$$|A(\varepsilon)| = \left| \frac{\vartheta(\psi(\varepsilon), \varepsilon)}{\alpha + \widetilde{g}(\psi(\varepsilon))} \right| \varepsilon \leq \max_{\varepsilon \in [0, \varepsilon_0], x \in \overline{B}} \left| \frac{\vartheta(x, \varepsilon)}{\alpha + \widetilde{g}(x)} \right| \varepsilon = C\varepsilon$$

where $B \subset \mathbb{R}$ is a neighbourhood of 0. This implies that $A(\varepsilon) = \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon)$, i.e. $\psi(\varepsilon) = \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2k-1}})$.

Now, we shall prove statement (b). From Proposition 1,

$$x_{\varepsilon} = \varepsilon^{\lambda^*} \eta + \mathcal{O}\left(\varepsilon^{\lambda^* + \frac{1}{1 + 2k(n-1)}}\right),$$

where $\lambda^* = \frac{n}{1 + 2k(n-1)}$ and $\eta > \sigma_{n,k}$, where $\sigma_{n,k}$ satisfies (2.13).

First, suppose that n > 2k - 1. Then, $\frac{1}{2k - 1} > \lambda^*$ and $\eta > 0$. Hence, by statement (a), we conclude that $x_{\varepsilon} > \psi(\varepsilon)$.

Finally, suppose that n = 2k - 1, with $k \neq 1$. In this case, $\lambda^* = 1/n$. Define

$$a(\varepsilon) = -\left(\frac{\vartheta(\psi(\varepsilon),\varepsilon)}{\alpha + \widetilde{g}(\psi(\varepsilon))}\right)^{\frac{1}{n}}.$$

Notice that $\psi(\varepsilon) = \varepsilon^{\frac{1}{n}} a(\varepsilon)$. Statement (a) implies that ψ is continuous at $\varepsilon = 0$ and $\psi(0) = 0$. Therefore, $a(\varepsilon)$ is also continuous at $\varepsilon = 0$ and $a(0) = -(\vartheta(0,0)/\alpha)^{\frac{1}{n}}$. Defining $r(\varepsilon) = a(\varepsilon) - a(0)$ we conclude that

$$\psi(\varepsilon) = \varepsilon^{\frac{1}{n}} a(\varepsilon) = \varepsilon^{\frac{1}{n}} a(0) + \varepsilon^{\frac{1}{n}} r(\varepsilon).$$

Since $\eta > \sigma_{n,\frac{n+1}{2}} = a(0)$ and r(0) = 0, we conclude $x_{\varepsilon} > \psi(\varepsilon)$.

Statement (i) of Theorem A will follows from the next result.

Proposition 2. Consider the Filippov system $Z = (X^+, X^-)_{\Sigma}$ given by (2.1), for some $k \ge 1$, and $y_{\rho,\lambda}^{\varepsilon}$ and y_{θ}^{ε} given in (3.1). For $n \ge \max\{2, 2k - 1\}$, let $\Phi \in C_{ST}^{n-1}$ be given as (1.5) and consider the regularized system Z_{ε}^{Φ} (2.4). Then, there exist $\rho_0, \theta_0 > 0$ such that the vertical segments

$$\widehat{V}_{\rho,\lambda}^{\varepsilon} = \{-\rho\} \times [\varepsilon, y_{\rho,\lambda}^{\varepsilon}] \quad and \quad \widetilde{V}_{\theta}^{\varepsilon} = \{\theta\} \times [y_{\theta}^{\varepsilon}, y_{\theta}^{\varepsilon} + re^{-\frac{c}{\varepsilon^{q}}}],$$

and the horizontal segments

$$\hat{H}_{\rho,\lambda}^{\varepsilon} = \left[-\rho, -\varepsilon^{\lambda}\right] \times \{\varepsilon\} \quad and \quad \overleftarrow{H}_{\varepsilon} = \left[x_{\varepsilon} - re^{-\frac{c}{\varepsilon^{q}}}, x_{\varepsilon}\right] \times \{\varepsilon\},$$

are transversal sections for Z_{ε}^{Φ} for every $\rho \in (\varepsilon^{\lambda}, \rho_0], \ \theta \in [x_{\varepsilon}, \theta_0], \ \lambda \in (0, \lambda^*)$, with $\lambda^* = \frac{n}{2k(n-1)+1}$, constants c, r, q > 0, and $\varepsilon > 0$ sufficiently small.

Proof. First of all, we take $\rho_0, \theta_0 > 0$ sufficiently small in order that the points $(\rho_0, 0)$ and $(\theta_0, 0)$ are contained in U, domain of Z. Given $(-\rho, y_1) \in \hat{V}_{\rho,\lambda}^{\varepsilon}$ and $(\theta, y_2) \in \tilde{V}_{\theta}^{\varepsilon}$, we have

$$\left\langle Z_{\varepsilon}^{\Phi}\left(-\rho, y_{1}\right), \left(1, 0\right) \right\rangle = \pi_{1} Z_{\varepsilon}^{\Phi}\left(-\rho, y_{1}\right) = X_{1}^{+}\left(-\rho, y_{1}\right) = 1 \neq 0,$$
$$\left\langle Z_{\varepsilon}^{\Phi}\left(\theta, y_{2}\right), \left(1, 0\right) \right\rangle = \pi_{1} Z_{\varepsilon}^{\Phi}\left(\theta, y_{2}\right) = X_{1}^{+}\left(\theta, y_{2}\right) = 1 \neq 0,$$

respectively, where $\pi_1 Z_{\varepsilon}^{\Phi}$ denote the first component of Z_{ε}^{Φ} . Hence, $V_{\rho,\lambda}^{\varepsilon}$ and V_{θ}^{ε} are transversal sections for Z_{ε}^{Φ} .

From Lemma 4, we know that any branch of zeros $\psi(\varepsilon)$ of the equation $\pi_2 Z_{\varepsilon}^{\Phi}(x,\varepsilon) = 0$ satisfies $\psi(\varepsilon) = \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2k-1}})$. In other words, the zeros of $\pi_2 Z_{\varepsilon}^{\Phi}(x,\varepsilon)$ lie in an $\mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2k-1}})$ neighbourhood of 0. Since $\rho \in (\varepsilon^{\lambda}, \rho_0]$, $\theta \in [x_{\varepsilon}, \theta_0]$, $\lambda \in (0, \lambda^*)$, the intervals $\hat{H}_{\rho,\lambda}^{\varepsilon}$ and $\overline{H}_{\varepsilon}$ are always away from any $\mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2k-1}})$ neighbourhood of 0 and, then, $\pi_2 Z_{\varepsilon}^{\Phi}(x,\varepsilon)$ does not admit zeros inside these sections. Consequently, given $(x_1, \varepsilon) \in \hat{H}_{\rho,\lambda}^{\varepsilon}$ and $(x_2, \varepsilon) \in \overline{H}_{\varepsilon}$ we have

$$\left\langle Z_{\varepsilon}^{\Phi}\left(x_{1},\varepsilon\right),\left(0,1\right)\right\rangle = \pi_{2}Z_{\varepsilon}^{\Phi}\left(x_{1},\varepsilon\right)\neq0,$$
$$\left\langle Z_{\varepsilon}^{\Phi}\left(x_{2},\varepsilon\right),\left(0,1\right)\right\rangle = \pi_{2}Z_{\varepsilon}^{\Phi}\left(x_{2},\varepsilon\right)\neq0.$$

Hence, $\hat{H}^{\varepsilon}_{\rho,\lambda}$ and $\overleftarrow{H}_{\varepsilon}$ are transversal sections for Z^{Φ}_{ε} .

3.2.2 Construction of the map P^u

First, we shall see that the backward trajectory of X^+ (2.1) starting at $(-\varepsilon^{\lambda}, \varepsilon)$ reaches the straight line $\{x = -\rho\}$ at $(-\rho, y_{\rho,\lambda}^{\varepsilon})$ (see (3.1)). After that, the map will be obtained through Poincaré-Bendixson argument.

Accordingly, define $\mu: I_{(x,y)} \times U \times [0, \rho_0] \to \mathbb{R}$ by

$$\mu(t, x, y, \rho) = \varphi_{X^+}^1(t, x, y) + \rho,$$

where $\varphi_{X^+} = (\varphi_{X^+}^1, \varphi_{X^+}^2)$ is the flow of X^+ , $I_{(x,y)}$ is the interval of definition of $t \mapsto \varphi_{X^+}(t, x, y)$, and $U \subset \mathbb{R}^2$ is a neighbourhood of (0, 0). Since $\mu(0, 0, 0, 0) = 0$ and $\frac{\partial}{\partial t}\mu(0, 0, 0, 0) = 1$, by the *Implicit Function Theorem* there exists a unique smooth function $(x, y, \rho) \mapsto t_{\rho}(x, y)$, defined in a neighbourhood of $(x, y, \rho) = (0, 0, 0)$, such that $t_0(0, 0) = 0$ and $\mu(t_{\rho}(x, y), x, y, \rho) = 0$, i.e. $\varphi_{X^+}^1(t_{\rho}(x, y), x, y) = -\rho$. Therefore, for $\rho > 0$ and $\varepsilon > 0$ sufficiently small, the backward trajectory of X^+ starting at $(-\varepsilon^{\lambda}, \varepsilon)$ reaches the straight line $\{x = -\rho\}$ at

$$\left(-\rho,\varphi_{X^+}^2(t_{\rho}(-\varepsilon^{\lambda},\varepsilon),-\varepsilon^{\lambda},\varepsilon)\right).$$

In order to prove that $\varphi_{X^+}^2(t_{\rho}(-\varepsilon^{\lambda},\varepsilon),-\varepsilon^{\lambda},\varepsilon) = y_{\rho,\lambda}^{\varepsilon}$, we shall compute the Taylor series expansion of the function $\varphi_{X^+}^2(t_{\rho}(x,y),x,y)$ around $(x,y,\rho) = (0,0,0)$. Notice that

$$\begin{split} \varphi_{X^{+}}^{2}(t_{\rho}(x,y),x,y) &= \varphi_{X^{+}}^{2}(t_{\rho}(x,0),x,0) + y \frac{\partial}{\partial y}(\varphi_{X^{+}}^{2}(t_{\rho}(x,y),x,y))\Big|_{y=0} \\ &+ \mathcal{O}(y^{2}), \\ &= \varphi_{X^{+}}^{2}(t_{\rho}(x,0),x,0) + y \left[\frac{\partial \varphi_{X^{+}}^{2}}{\partial t}(t_{\rho}(x,0),x,0)\right] \frac{\partial t_{\rho}}{\partial y}(x,0) \\ &+ \frac{\partial \varphi_{X^{+}}^{2}}{\partial y}(t_{\rho}(x,0),x,0) \right] + \mathcal{O}(y^{2}) \end{split}$$
(3.2)
$$&= \varphi_{X^{+}}^{2}(t_{\rho}(x,0),x,0) + y \left[\frac{\partial \varphi_{X^{+}}^{2}}{\partial t}(t_{\rho}(0,0),0,0)\right] \frac{\partial t_{\rho}}{\partial y}(0,0) \\ &+ \frac{\partial \varphi_{X^{+}}^{2}}{\partial y}(t_{\rho}(0,0),0,0) \right] + \mathcal{O}(xy) + \mathcal{O}(y^{2}). \end{split}$$

It is easy to see that

$$\frac{\partial \varphi_{X^+}^2}{\partial t}(t_{\rho}(0,0),0,0)) = f(-\rho,\overline{y}_{-\rho}) \text{ and } \frac{\partial t_{\rho}}{\partial y}(0,0) = -\frac{\partial \varphi_{X^+}^1}{\partial y}(t_{\rho}(0,0),0,0).$$

This last equality is obtained implicitly from $\varphi_{X^+}^1(t(0, y, \rho), 0, y) = -\rho$ and using that $\frac{\partial \varphi_{X^+}^1}{\partial t}(t_{\rho}(0, 0), 0, 0) = 1$. Thus, substituting the above relations into (3.2), we get

$$\varphi_{X^{+}}^{2}(t_{\rho}(x,y),x,y) = \varphi_{X^{+}}^{2}(t_{\rho}(x,0),x,0) + y \left[-f(-\rho,\overline{y}_{-\rho})\frac{\partial\varphi_{X^{+}}^{1}}{\partial y}(t_{\rho}(0,0),0,0) + \frac{\partial\varphi_{X^{+}}^{2}}{\partial y}(t_{\rho}(0,0),0,0)\right] + \mathcal{O}(xy) + \mathcal{O}(y^{2}).$$
(3.3)

Expanding the coefficient of y in (3.3) around $\rho = 0$, we have

$$-f(-\rho, \overline{y}_{-\rho})\frac{\partial \varphi_{X^+}^1}{\partial y}(t_{\rho}(0,0), 0, 0) + \frac{\partial \varphi_{X^+}^2}{\partial y}(t_{\rho}(0,0), 0, 0) = 1 + \mathcal{O}(\rho).$$

Thus, substituting the above equality into (3.3), we obtain that

$$\varphi_{X^+}^2(t_\rho(x,y),x,y) = \varphi_{X^+}^2(t_\rho(x,0),x,0) + y(1+\mathcal{O}(\rho)) + \mathcal{O}(xy) + \mathcal{O}(y^2).$$

Furthermore, from [10, Theorem A], we know that

$$\varphi_{X^+}^2(t_{\rho}(x,0),x,0) = \overline{y}_{-\rho} + \beta x^{2k} + \mathcal{O}(x^{2k+1}),$$

where $\operatorname{sign}(\beta) = -\operatorname{sign}((X^+)^{2k}h(0,0))$, i.e. $\beta < 0$. Thus, we conclude that

$$\varphi_{X^+}^2(t_{\rho}(x,y),x,y) = \overline{y}_{-\rho} + \beta x^{2k} + \mathcal{O}(x^{2k+1}) + y(1 + \mathcal{O}(\rho)) + \mathcal{O}(xy) + \mathcal{O}(y^2).$$

Taking $x = -\varepsilon^{\lambda}$ and $y = \varepsilon$, we obtain

$$\varphi_{X^+}^2 \left(t(-\varepsilon^\lambda,\varepsilon,\rho), -\varepsilon^\lambda,\varepsilon \right) = \overline{y}_{-\rho} + \varepsilon \left(1 + \mathcal{O}(\rho) \right) + \beta \varepsilon^{2k\lambda} + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{(2k+1)\lambda}) + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{1+\lambda}), \quad (3.4)$$

which we have called by $y_{\rho,\lambda}^{\varepsilon}$.

Finally, consider the region

$$\mathcal{R} = \left\{ (x, y) : -\rho \leqslant x \leqslant -\varepsilon^{\lambda}, \varepsilon \leqslant y \leqslant \varphi_{X^{+}}^{2} \left(t, -\varepsilon^{\lambda}, \varepsilon \right), \forall t \in [0, t(-\varepsilon^{\lambda}, \varepsilon, \rho)] \right\},$$

which is delimited by $\hat{V}_{\rho,\lambda}^{\varepsilon}$, $\hat{H}_{\rho,\lambda}^{\varepsilon}$, and the arc-orbit connecting $(-\rho, y_{\rho,\lambda}^{\varepsilon})$ with $(-\varepsilon^{\lambda}, \varepsilon)$. Since X^{+} has no singularities inside \mathcal{R} , we conclude that the forward trajectory of X^{+} starting at any point of the transversal section $\hat{V}_{\rho,\lambda}^{\varepsilon}$ must leave \mathcal{R} through the transversal section $\hat{H}_{\rho,\lambda}^{\varepsilon}$. This naturally defines the map $P^{u}: \hat{V}_{\rho,\lambda}^{\varepsilon} \longrightarrow \hat{H}_{\rho,\lambda}^{\varepsilon}$.

3.2.3 Exponentially attraction and construction of the map Q_{ε}^{u}

As we saw in Chapter 2, the Fenichel manifold $S_{a,\varepsilon}$ of (2.5) is described as a graph

$$\hat{y} = m(x,\varepsilon), \quad -L \leqslant x \leqslant -N, \quad 0 \leqslant \varepsilon \leqslant \varepsilon_0,$$

where $m(x,\varepsilon)$ is a smooth function, and L > N > 0 and $\varepsilon_0 > 0$ are small parameters. Notice that

$$m(x,0) = m_0(x) = \phi^{-1} \left(\frac{1 + \alpha x^{2k-1} + g(x)}{1 - \alpha x^{2k-1} - g(x)} \right),$$
(3.5)

which is the critical manifold of the system $(2.6)_{\varepsilon=0}$. Thus, we write

$$m(x,\varepsilon) = m_0(x) + \varepsilon m_1(x) + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^2),$$

for every $-L \leq x \leq -N$ and $0 \leq \varepsilon \leq \varepsilon_0$. Since $S_{a,\varepsilon}$ is an invariant manifold for (2.6), the function $m(x,\varepsilon)$ satisfies

$$\varepsilon \frac{\partial m}{\partial x}(x,\varepsilon) = \frac{1 + f(x,\varepsilon m(x,\varepsilon)) + \phi(m(x,\varepsilon))(f(x,\varepsilon m(x,\varepsilon)) - 1)}{1 + \phi(m(x,\varepsilon))}.$$

Hence, using that

$$\phi'(m_0(x)) = \frac{2\alpha(2k-1)x^{2k-2} + 2g'(x)}{m'_0(x)(-1+\alpha x^{2k-1}+g(x))^2},$$
(3.6)

we can compute

$$m_1(x) = \frac{-m'_0(x)(m'_0(x) - m_0(x)\vartheta(x,0))}{\alpha(2k-1)x^{2k-2} + g'(x)}.$$
(3.7)

The next result provides some estimations for $m_0(x)$.

Proposition 3. For $-L \leq x < 0$ there exist positive constants C_1 , C_2 such that

$$\begin{array}{rcl}
C_1 \sqrt[n]{|x|^{2k-1}} &\leqslant & 1 - m_0(x) \leqslant C_2 \sqrt[n]{|x|^{2k-1}}, \\
\frac{C_1}{\sqrt[n]{|x|^{n-2k+1}}} &\leqslant & m_0'(x) \leqslant \frac{C_2}{\sqrt[n]{|x|^{n-2k+1}}},
\end{array}$$
(3.8)

Proof. In order to obtain the above estimations, we consider the equation $\phi(\hat{y}) = \phi(m_0(x))$ for $-1 < \hat{y} < 1$ and $-L \leq x < 0$. Of course, $\hat{y} = m_0(x)$.

On the other hand, from (3.5),

$$\phi(m_0(x)) = 1 + 2\alpha x^{2k-1} + \mathcal{O}(x^{2k}).$$
(3.9)

In addition, expanding $\phi(\hat{y})$ around $\hat{y} = 1$ we get

$$\phi(\hat{y}) = 1 + \frac{\phi^{(n)}(1)}{n!}(\hat{y} - 1)^n + \mathcal{O}((\hat{y} - 1)^{n+1}).$$
(3.10)

Subtracting (3.10) from (3.9) we get that the equation $\phi(\hat{y}) = \phi(m_0(x))$ is equivalent to the system

$$\begin{cases} s = (\hat{y} - 1)^n, \\ u = x^{2k-1}, \\ H(s, u) := \frac{\phi^{(n)}(1)}{n!} s - 2\alpha u + \mathcal{O}(s^{\frac{n+1}{n}}) + \mathcal{O}(u^{\frac{2k}{2k-1}}) = 0 \end{cases}$$

Since H(0,0) = 0 and $\frac{\partial H}{\partial s}(0,0) = \frac{\phi^{(n)}(1)}{n!} \neq 0$, the Implicit Function Theorem implies the existence of a unique function s(u), defined in a small neighborhood of u = 0, such that s(0) = 0 and H(s(u), u) = 0. Moreover,

$$s(u) = \frac{2\alpha n!}{\phi^{(n)}(1)}u + \mathcal{O}(u^2).$$

Therefore, the equation $\phi(\hat{y}) = \phi(m_0(x))$ is solved as $\hat{y} = 1 - ((-1)^n s(x^{2k-1}))^{\frac{1}{n}}$. Recall that $\phi = \Phi|_{[-1,1]}$, where $\Phi \in C_{ST}^{n-1}$. Thus, from Definition 1, $\operatorname{sign}(\phi^{(n)}(1)) = (-1)^{n+1}$. Consequently,

$$m_0(x) = \hat{y} = 1 - \sqrt[n]{\frac{2\alpha n!}{|\phi^{(n)}(1)|}} \sqrt[n]{|x|^{2k-1}} + \mathcal{O}(|x|^{1+\frac{2k-1}{n}}), \ -L \le x \le 0.$$
(3.11)

Finally, the inequalities (3.8) are obtained directly from (3.11).

The next proposition is a technical result, which is used in the following result.

Proposition 4. Consider -L < -N < 0 and $0 < \lambda \leq \lambda^* = \frac{n}{2k(n-1)+1}$. Then, there exist K > 0 and $\varepsilon_0 > 0$, such that, if $0 \leq \varepsilon \leq \varepsilon_0$ the invariant manifold $\hat{y} = m(x, \varepsilon)$ satisfies

$$m_0(x) - \frac{\varepsilon K}{\sqrt[n]{x^{2k(n-2)+2}}} \leqslant m(x,\varepsilon) \leqslant m_0(x), \tag{3.12}$$

for $-L \leq x \leq -\varepsilon^{\lambda}$.

Proof. Consider the compact region

$$\mathcal{B} = \left\{ (x, \hat{y}) : -L \leqslant x \leqslant -\varepsilon^{\lambda}, m_0(x) - \frac{\varepsilon K}{\sqrt[n]{x^{2k(n-2)+2}}} \leqslant \hat{y} \leqslant m_0(x) \right\}$$

We shall prove that the vector field (2.6) points inwards \mathcal{B} in the following three boundaries of \mathcal{B} ,

$$\mathcal{B}^{-} = \left\{ (x, \hat{y}) : -L \leqslant x \leqslant -\varepsilon^{\lambda}, \hat{y} = \hat{y}_{\varepsilon}(x) = m_0(x) - \frac{\varepsilon K}{\sqrt[n]{x^{2k(n-2)+2}}} \right\}$$
$$\mathcal{B}^{+} = \left\{ (x, \hat{y}) : -L \leqslant x \leqslant -\varepsilon^{\lambda}, \hat{y} = m_0(x) \right\}, \text{ and}$$
$$\mathcal{B}^{l} = \left\{ (-L, \hat{y}) : m_0(-L) - \frac{\varepsilon K}{\sqrt[n]{L^{2k(n-2)+2}}} \leqslant \hat{y} \leqslant m_0(-L) \right\}.$$

On the border \mathcal{B}^- , the vector field (2.6) writes

$$\overline{Z}_{\varepsilon}^{\Phi}(x,\hat{y}_{\varepsilon}(x)) = \left(\varepsilon \left(1 + \Phi\left(\hat{y}_{\varepsilon}(x)\right)\right), 1 + f(x,\varepsilon\hat{y}_{\varepsilon}(x)) + \Phi(\hat{y}_{\varepsilon}(x))(f(x,\varepsilon\hat{y}_{\varepsilon}(x)) - 1)\right)\right)$$

A normal vector of \mathcal{B}^- is given by

$$n_{\varepsilon}^{-}(x) = \left(m_{0}'(x) - \frac{K\varepsilon(2k(n-2)+2)}{n\sqrt[n]{|x|^{(2k+1)(n-2)+4}}}, -1\right).$$

Thus, it is enough to see that

$$\langle Z_{\varepsilon}^{\Phi}(x, \hat{y}_{\varepsilon}(x)), n_{\varepsilon}^{-}(x) \rangle = \left[\varepsilon (1 + \Phi(\hat{y}_{\varepsilon}(x))) \left(m_{0}'(x) - \frac{K\varepsilon(2k(n-2)+2)}{n\sqrt[n]{|x|^{(2k+1)(n-2)+4}}} \right) \right] \\ - \left[1 + f(x, \varepsilon \hat{y}_{\varepsilon}(x)) + \Phi(\hat{y}_{\varepsilon}(x))(f(x, \varepsilon \hat{y}_{\varepsilon}(x)) - 1) \right]$$

$$< 0.$$

$$(3.13)$$

,

Now, expanding in Taylor series $\Phi(\hat{y}_{\varepsilon}(x))$ and $\vartheta(x, \varepsilon \hat{y}_{\varepsilon}(x))$ around $\varepsilon = 0$, we have

$$\Phi(\hat{y}_{\varepsilon}(x)) = \Phi(m_0(x)) - \frac{\Phi'(m_0(x))K}{\sqrt[n]{x^{2k(n-2)+2}}}\varepsilon + \sum_{l=2}^{n-1} \frac{(-1)^l \Phi^{(l)}(m_0(x))K^l}{\sqrt[n]{x^{2lk(n-2)+2l}}}\frac{\varepsilon^l}{l!} + s(x,\varepsilon),$$
$$\vartheta(x,\varepsilon\hat{y}_{\varepsilon}(x)) = \vartheta(x,0) + r(x,\varepsilon),$$

where $s(x,\varepsilon)$ and $r(x,\varepsilon)$ are the Lagrange remainders of $\Phi(\hat{y}_{\varepsilon}(x))$ and $\vartheta(x,\varepsilon\hat{y}_{\varepsilon}(x))$ respectively, i.e. for some $c, d \in (0,\varepsilon)$, we get

$$s(x,\varepsilon) = \left[\frac{(-1)^n \Phi^{(n)}(\hat{y}_c(x)) K^n}{x^{2k(n-2)+2}}\right] \frac{\varepsilon^n}{n!}, \text{ and}$$

$$r(x,\varepsilon) = \left[\vartheta_y(x,d\hat{y}_d(x)) \left(m_0(x) - \frac{2dK}{\sqrt[n]{x^{2k(n-2)+2}}}\right)\right]\varepsilon.$$
(3.14)

Notice that, the inequality (3.13) can be written as

$$L(x,\varepsilon) + T(x,\varepsilon) + O(x,\varepsilon) < 0,$$

where

$$\begin{split} L(x,\varepsilon) &= \varepsilon \Big[m_0'(x)(1+\Phi(m_0(x))) + \frac{\Phi'(m_0(x))K(f(x,0)-1)}{\sqrt[n]{x^{2k(n-2)+2}}} \\ &-m_0(x)(1+\Phi(m_0(x)))\vartheta(x,0) \Big], \\ T(x,\varepsilon) &= -\varepsilon^2 \frac{m_0'(x)\Phi'(m_0(x))K}{\sqrt[n]{x^{2k(n-2)+2}}} + \varepsilon^3 \frac{K^2(2k(n-2)+2)\Phi'(m_0(x))}{n \sqrt[n]{x^{[4k+1)(n-2)+6}}} \\ &+ \varepsilon^2 \frac{m_0(x)\vartheta(x,0)\Phi'(m_0(x))K}{\sqrt[n]{x^{2k(n-2)+2}}} + \varepsilon^2 \frac{K\vartheta(x,\varepsilon\hat{y}_\varepsilon(x))(1+\Phi(m_0(x)))}{\sqrt[n]{x^{2k(n-2)+2}}} \\ &- \frac{\varepsilon^3 K^2 \vartheta(x,\varepsilon\hat{y}_\varepsilon(x))\Phi'(m_0(x))}{\sqrt[n]{x^{4k(n-2)+4}}} - \varepsilon m_0(x)r(x,\varepsilon)(1+\Phi(m_0(x))) \\ &+ \varepsilon^2 \frac{m_0(x)r(x,\varepsilon)\Phi'(m_0(x))K}{\sqrt[n]{x^{2k(n-2)+2}}} + \varepsilon \sum_{l=2}^{n-1} \frac{(-1)^l \Phi^{(l)}(m_0(x))K^l m_0'(x)}{\sqrt[n]{x^{2k(n-2)+2l}}} \frac{\varepsilon^l}{l!} \\ &- \varepsilon^2 \sum_{l=2}^{n-1} \frac{(-1)^l \Phi^{(l)}(m_0(x))K^{l+1}(2k(n-2)+2)}{n \sqrt[n]{x^{2k(n-2)+2l}}} \frac{\varepsilon^l}{l!} \\ &- \sum_{l=2}^{n-1} \frac{(-1)^l \Phi^{(l)}(m_0(x))K^l}{\sqrt[n]{x^{2k(n-2)+2l}}} \frac{\varepsilon^l}{l!} \varepsilon \widehat{y}_\varepsilon(x)\vartheta(x,\varepsilon \widehat{y}_\varepsilon(x)) \\ &+ \left(\varepsilon m_0'(x) - \varepsilon^2 \frac{K(2k(n-2)+2)}{n \sqrt[n]{x^{2k(n-2)+2l}}} - \varepsilon \widehat{y}_\varepsilon(x)\vartheta(x,\varepsilon \widehat{y}_\varepsilon(x))\right) \right) s(x,\varepsilon), \\ O(x,\varepsilon) &= (-f(x,0)+1) s(x,\varepsilon) - \varepsilon^2 \frac{K(2k(n-2)+2)(1+\Phi(m_0(x)))}{n \sqrt[n]{x^{2k(n-2)+2l}}} \\ &+ \sum_{l=2}^{n-1} \frac{(-1)^l \Phi^{(l)}(m_0(x))K^l}{\sqrt[n]{x^{2k(n-2)+2l}}} \frac{\varepsilon^l}{l!} (-f(x,0)+1). \end{split}$$

Now, we shall prove that the functions L, T and O can be bounded. Indeed, by (3.8) and (3.6), we have that, $L(x, \varepsilon)$ can be bounded, choosing K big enough depending on C_2 , L, n, k, α , M, M_{\min} , and ϑ_{\min} , where

- M is such that $|g(x)| \leq M |x|^{2k}$ for all $-L \leq x \leq 0$.
- \widetilde{M} is such that $|\widetilde{g}'(x)| \leq \widetilde{M}|x|$ for all $-L \leq x \leq 0$ with $g'(x) = x^{2k-2}\widetilde{g}'(x)$.
- M_{\min} is a positive constant such that $\alpha(2k-1) + \tilde{g}'(x) \ge M_{\min}$, for all $x \in [-L, 0]$.
- $\vartheta_{\min} = \min\{\hat{y}\vartheta(x,0) : -L \le x \le 0, -1 \le \hat{y} \le 1\}.$

$$\begin{split} \varepsilon \left[m_0'(x)(1 + \Phi(m_0(x))) + \frac{\Phi'(m_0(x))K(f(x, 0) - 1)}{\sqrt[n]{x^{2k(n-2)+2}}} - m_0(x)(1 + \Phi(m_0(x)))\vartheta(x, 0) \right] \\ &= \varepsilon \left[(m_0'(x) - m_0(x)\vartheta(x, 0))(1 + \Phi(m_0(x))) + \frac{\Phi'(m_0(x))K(f(x, 0) - 1)}{\sqrt[n]{x^{2k(n-2)+2}}} \right] \\ &\leqslant \varepsilon \left[(C_2|x|^{-\frac{n-2k+1}{n}} - \vartheta_{\min}) \left(\frac{2}{1 - f(x, 0)} \right) - \frac{(2\alpha(2k-1)x^{2k-2} + 2g'(x))K}{C_2|x|^{-\frac{n-2k+1}{n}}(1 - f(x, 0))\sqrt[n]{x^{2k(n-2)+2}}} \right] \\ &\leqslant \varepsilon \left[\frac{2C_2|x|^{2k-2+\frac{n-2k+1}{n}}(C_2|x|^{-\frac{n-2k+1}{n}} - \vartheta_{\min}) - (2\alpha(2k-1)x^{2k-2} + 2x^{2k-2}\tilde{g}'(x))K}{C_2(1 - f(x, 0))|x|^{2k-2+\frac{n-2k+1}{n}}} \right] \\ &\leqslant \varepsilon \left[\frac{2C_2(C_2 + |x|^{\frac{n-2k+1}{n}} |\vartheta_{\min}|) - (2\alpha(2k-1) + 2\tilde{g}'(x))K}{C_2(1 - f(x, 0))|x|^{\frac{n-2k+1}{n}}} \right] \\ &\leqslant \frac{2C_2(C_2 + L^{\frac{n-2k+1}{n}} |\vartheta_{\min}|) - 2M_{\min}K}{C_2(1 - f(x, 0))} \frac{\varepsilon}{\sqrt[n]{|x|^{n-2k+1}}} \\ &\leqslant \frac{2C_2(C_2 + L^{\frac{n-2k+1}{n}} |\vartheta_{\min}|) - 2M_{\min}K}{C_2(1 + L^{2k-1}(\alpha + ML))} \frac{\varepsilon}{\sqrt[n]{|x|^{n-2k+1}}} \end{aligned}$$

Now, we need to bound the function $T(x, \varepsilon)$. Using (3.6) and (3.8), we obtain

$$\begin{split} \left| \varepsilon^2 \frac{m'_0(x) \Phi'(m_0(x))K}{\sqrt[n]{x^{2k(n-2)+2}}} \right| &\leqslant \quad d_{\varepsilon}^1 \frac{\varepsilon}{\sqrt[n]{x^{|n-2k+1}}}, \\ \left| \varepsilon^3 \frac{K^2(2k(n-2)+2) \Phi'(m_0(x)))}{n\sqrt[n]{x^{|(4k+1)(n-2)+6}}} \right| &\leqslant \quad d_{\varepsilon}^2 \frac{\varepsilon}{\sqrt[n]{x^{|n-2k+1}}}, \\ \left| \frac{\varepsilon^2 m_0(x) \vartheta(x, 0) \Phi'(m_0(x))K}{\sqrt[n]{x^{2k(n-2)+2}}} \right| &\leqslant \quad d_{\varepsilon}^3 \frac{\varepsilon}{\sqrt[n]{x^{|n-2k+1}}}, \\ \left| \frac{\varepsilon^2 K \vartheta(x, \varepsilon \hat{y}_{\varepsilon})(1+\Phi(m_0(x)))}{\sqrt[n]{x^{2k(n-2)+2}}} \right| &\leqslant \quad d_{\varepsilon}^4 \frac{\varepsilon}{\sqrt[n]{x^{|n-2k+1}}}, \end{split}$$

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \frac{\varepsilon^{3}K^{2}\vartheta(x,\varepsilon\hat{y}_{\varepsilon})\Phi'(m_{0}(x))}{\sqrt[n]{x^{4k(n-2)+4}}} \right| &\leq d_{\varepsilon}^{5}\frac{\varepsilon}{\sqrt[n]{|x|^{n-2k+1}}}, \\ \left| \varepsilon m_{0}(x)r(x,\varepsilon)(1+\Phi(m_{0}(x))) \right| &\leq d_{\varepsilon}^{6}\frac{\varepsilon}{\sqrt[n]{|x|^{n-2k+1}}}, \\ \left| \varepsilon^{2}\frac{m_{0}(x)r(x,\varepsilon)\Phi'(m_{0}(x))K}{\sqrt[n]{x^{2k(n-2)+2}}} \right| &\leq d_{\varepsilon}^{7}\frac{\varepsilon}{\sqrt[n]{|x|^{n-2k+1}}}, \end{aligned}$$

where

To bound the last terms of T, notice that by (3.10), we get

$$\Phi^{(l)}(\hat{y}) = \frac{\Phi^{(n)}(1)}{(n-l)!}(\hat{y}-1)^{n-l} + \mathcal{O}((\hat{y}-1)^{n-l+1}), \quad 2 \le l \le n-1,$$
(3.15)

for \hat{y} sufficiently near to 1. In the particular case $\hat{y} = m_0(x)$ for $x \in [-L, 0]$, we have

$$\Phi^{(l)}(m_0(x)) = (m_0(x) - 1)^{n-l} \left(\frac{\Phi^{(n)}(1)}{(n-l)!} + \zeta(x) \right),$$
(3.16)

with $\zeta(x) = \mathcal{O}(m_0(x) - 1)$, thus there exists a positive constant \widehat{M} such that $|\zeta(x)| \leq \widehat{M}|m_0(x) - 1|$. Therefore, by the above information about ζ and the first inequation in (3.8) for $-L \leq x \leq 0$, we obtain

$$\left|\Phi^{(l)}(m_0(x))\right| \leq C_2^{n-l} |x|^{\frac{(2k-1)(n-l)}{n}} \left(\frac{|\Phi^{(n)}(1)|}{(n-l)!} + \widehat{M}C_2 L^{\frac{2k-1}{n}}\right),$$

i.e. for each $l \in [2, n-1]$ we have $|\Phi^{(l)}(m_0(x))| \leq C_l$ for all $-L \leq x \leq 0$, with $C_l = C_2^{n-l}L^{\frac{(2k-1)(n-l)}{n}}\widetilde{C}_l$ and $\widetilde{C}_l = \frac{|\Phi^{(n)}(1)|}{(n-l)!} + \widehat{M}C_2L^{\frac{2k-1}{n}}$. Consequently,

$$\begin{vmatrix} \varepsilon \sum_{l=2}^{n-1} \frac{(-1)^l \Phi^{(l)}(m_0(x)) K^l m_0'(x)}{\sqrt[n]{x^{2lk(n-2)+2l}}} \frac{\varepsilon^l}{l!} \\ \varepsilon \sum_{l=2}^{n-1} \frac{(-1)^l \Phi^{(l)}(m_0(x)) K^{l+1}(2k(n-2)+2)}{n \sqrt[n]{x^{(2k(l+1)+1)(n-2)+2l+4}}} \frac{\varepsilon^l}{l!} \\ \varepsilon \sum_{l=2}^{n-1} \frac{(-1)^l \Phi^{(l)}(m_0(x)) K^{l+1}(2k(n-2)+2)}{n \sqrt[n]{x^{(2k(l+1)+1)(n-2)+2l+4}}} \frac{\varepsilon^l}{l!} \\ \varepsilon \sum_{l=2}^{n-1} \frac{(-1)^l \Phi^{(l)}(m_0(x)) K^l}{\sqrt[n]{x^{2lk(n-2)+2l}}} \frac{\varepsilon^l}{l!} \varepsilon \hat{y}_{\varepsilon}(x) \vartheta(x, \varepsilon \hat{y}_{\varepsilon}(x)) \end{vmatrix} \\ \le d_{\varepsilon}^{10} \frac{\varepsilon}{\sqrt[n]{x^{2lk(n-2)+2l}}} \frac{\varepsilon^l}{l!} \varepsilon \hat{y}_{\varepsilon}(x) \vartheta(x, \varepsilon \hat{y}_{\varepsilon}(x)) \end{vmatrix}$$

where

$$\begin{aligned} \bullet \ \ d_{\varepsilon}^{8} &= \sum_{l=2}^{n-1} \frac{C_{l} K^{l} C_{2}}{l!} \varepsilon^{l-\lambda \left(\frac{2kl(n-2)+2l}{n}\right)}, \\ \bullet \ \ d_{\varepsilon}^{9} &= \sum_{l=2}^{n-1} \frac{C_{l} K^{l+1} (2k(n-2)+2)}{l!n} \varepsilon^{l+1-\lambda \left(\frac{2k(l+1)(n-2)+2l+2k+1}{n}\right)}, \\ \bullet \ \ d_{\varepsilon}^{10} &= \sum_{l=2}^{n-1} \frac{C_{2}^{n-l} K^{l} |\vartheta_{\max}| \widetilde{C}_{l}}{l!} \varepsilon^{l-\lambda \left(\frac{(2k(n-1)+1)(l-1)}{n}\right)}. \end{aligned}$$

Finally, using that, for any $\eta_1 > 0$, there exists $C_n > 0$ such that

$$|\Phi^{(n)}(\hat{y})| \leq C_n$$
, for $1 - \eta_1 \leq \hat{y} \leq 1$,

and using that, for $\varepsilon > 0$ small enough

$$1 - \left(C_2 L^{\frac{2k-1}{n}} + \varepsilon^{1-\lambda\left(\frac{2k(n-2)+2}{n}\right)} K\right) \leqslant \hat{y}_c(x) \leqslant 1, \tag{3.17}$$

if $-L \leq x \leq -\varepsilon^{\lambda}$ and also by (3.14), one has

$$\left| \left(\varepsilon m_0'(x) - \varepsilon^2 \frac{K(2k(n-2)+2)}{n\sqrt[n]{|x|^{(2k+1)(n-2)+4}}} - \varepsilon \widehat{y}_{\varepsilon} \vartheta(x,\varepsilon \widehat{y}_{\varepsilon}) \right) s(x,\varepsilon) \right| \leq d_{\varepsilon}^{11} \frac{\varepsilon}{\sqrt[n]{|x|^{n-2k+1}}}$$

with

$$\begin{aligned} d_{\varepsilon}^{11} &= \left(C_2 \varepsilon^{1-\lambda(\frac{n-2k+1}{n})} + \frac{K(2k(n-2)+2)}{n} \varepsilon^{2-\lambda(\frac{(2k+1)(n-2)+4}{n})} + \varepsilon |\vartheta_{\max}| \right) \\ &\cdot \frac{C_n K^n}{n!} \varepsilon^{n-1-\lambda\left(\frac{(2kn+1)(n-2)+2k+1}{n}\right)}. \end{aligned}$$

Since $0 < \lambda \leq \lambda^*$ one has that $\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} d^i_{\varepsilon} = 0$, for all $i \in \{1, \ldots, 11\}$, hence for $\varepsilon > 0$ small enough, we get

$$|T(x,\varepsilon)| \leq \sum_{i=1}^{11} d_{\varepsilon}^{i} \frac{\varepsilon}{\sqrt[n]{|x|^{n-2k+1}}} \leq \frac{1}{2} \frac{\varepsilon}{\sqrt[n]{|x|^{n-2k+1}}}.$$

Now, we shall prove that the function $O(x,\varepsilon) < 0$ for all $x \in [-L, -\varepsilon^{\lambda}]$ and $\varepsilon > 0$ small enough. Indeed, since for each $n \ge 2$, we know that $(-1)^n \phi^{(n)}(1) < 0$, then $(-1)^n \phi^{(n)}(\hat{y}) < 0$, for all \hat{y} sufficiently close to 1 and by (3.17) we obtain that $(-1)^n \phi^{(n)}(\hat{y}_c(x)) < 0$, for all $x \in [-L, -\varepsilon^{\lambda}]$ and ε sufficiently enough. Hence, by (3.14) we have that $s(x,\varepsilon) < 0$ for all $x \in [-L, -\varepsilon^{\lambda}]$ and $\varepsilon > 0$ small enough. Therefore,

$$(-f(x,0)+1)s(x,\varepsilon) < 0,$$

for all $x \in [-L, -\varepsilon^{\lambda}]$ and $\varepsilon > 0$ small enough. After that, using (3.16) we can conclude that $(-1)^{l}\phi^{(l)}(m_{0}(x)) < 0$, for all $x \in [-L, 0]$ and $l \in \{2, \ldots, n-1\}$. Consequently,

$$\sum_{l=2}^{n-1} \frac{(-1)^l \Phi^{(l)}(m_0(x)) K^l}{\sqrt[n]{x^{2lk(n-2)+2l}}} \frac{\varepsilon^l}{l!} (-f(x,0)+1) < 0,$$

for all $x \in [-L, -\varepsilon^{\lambda}]$ and $\varepsilon > 0$ small enough. Last of all, as $1 + \Phi(m_0(x)) > 0$, for all $x \in [-L, 0]$, we get

$$-\varepsilon^2 \frac{K(2k(n-2)+2)(1+\Phi(m_0(x)))}{n\sqrt[n]{|x|^{(2k+1)(n-2)+4}}} < 0,$$

for all $x \in [-L, -\varepsilon^{\lambda}]$ and ε sufficiently small. Of this way, we obtained the result.

Finally, we conclude that

$$\begin{aligned} \langle Z_{\varepsilon}^{\Phi}(x, \hat{y}_{\varepsilon}(x)), n_{\varepsilon}^{-}(x) \rangle &\leq L(x, \varepsilon) + |T(x, \varepsilon)| + O(x, \varepsilon) \\ &\leq \left(-2 + \frac{1}{2}\right) \frac{\varepsilon}{\sqrt[n]{|x|^{n-2k+1}}} < 0. \end{aligned}$$

Therefore, the vector field $\overline{Z}_{\varepsilon}^{\Phi}$ points inward \mathcal{B} along \mathcal{B}^{-} .

In the border \mathcal{B}^+ the vector field $\overline{Z}^{\Phi}_{\varepsilon}$ in (2.6) is of the form

$$\overline{Z}_{\varepsilon}^{\Phi} = \left(\frac{\varepsilon(1 + \Phi(m_0(x)))}{2}, \frac{\varepsilon m_0(x)\vartheta(x, \varepsilon m_0(x))(1 + \Phi(m_0(x)))}{2}\right),$$

and the normal vector is $n^+(x) = (m'_0(x), -1)$, thus using the second inequation in (3.8) for $-L \leq x \leq -\varepsilon^{\lambda}$, we get

$$\begin{split} \langle \overline{Z}_{\varepsilon}^{\Phi}, n^{+}(x) \rangle &= \frac{\varepsilon}{2} \Big(1 + \Phi(m_{0}(x)) \Big) \Big(m_{0}'(x) - m_{0}(x) \vartheta(x, \varepsilon m_{0}(x)) \Big) \\ &\geqslant \frac{\varepsilon}{2} \Big(\frac{2}{1 - f(x, 0)} \Big) \Big(m_{0}'(x) - \vartheta_{\max} \Big) \\ &\geqslant \frac{\varepsilon}{2} \Big(\frac{2}{1 - f(x, 0)} \Big) \Big(\frac{C_{1}}{L^{\frac{n - 2k + 1}{n}}} - \vartheta_{\max} \Big) \\ &> 0, \end{split}$$

for L enough small, therefore the flow points inward \mathcal{B} along this border.

Finally, at the boundary \mathcal{B}^l one has that x' > 0 thus the flow points inward \mathcal{B} .

Now, from the *Poincaré–Bendixson Theorem* we know that any orbit entering \mathcal{B} stays in it until it reaches $x = -\varepsilon^{\lambda}$. Moreover, we know that the invariant manifold $S_{a,\varepsilon}$ at x = -L is given by

$$m(-L,\varepsilon) = m_0(-L) + \varepsilon m_1(-L) + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^2).$$

Using (3.8) and since L is small enough one has that

$$m'_0(-L) - m_0(-L)\vartheta(-L,0) \ge \frac{C_1}{L^{\frac{n-2k+1}{n}}} - \vartheta_{\max} > 0,$$

thus from (3.7) $m_1(-L) < 0$. Therefore, adjusting the constants to have

$$K \ge -L^{\frac{2k(n-2)+2}{n}} m_1(-L),$$

the manifold enters \mathcal{B} and satisfies (3.12) for $-L \leq x \leq -\varepsilon^{\lambda}$.

48

From Theorem 1 (Fenichel Theorem), we know that, for $\varepsilon > 0$ sufficiently small, the Fenichel manifold $S_{a,\varepsilon}$ exponentially attracts all the solutions with initial conditions $(x_0, 1)$, with $-L \leq x_0 \leq -N$, for any small positive real numbers L > N. In the next result, we show that this exponential attraction holds for any $(x_0, 1)$ with $-L \leq x_0 \leq -\varepsilon^{\lambda}$. Consider the equation for the orbits of system (2.6)

$$\varepsilon \frac{d\hat{y}}{dx} = \frac{1 + f(x, \varepsilon \hat{y}) + \phi(\hat{y})(f(x, \varepsilon \hat{y}) - 1)}{1 + \phi(\hat{y})}.$$
(3.18)

Proposition 5. Fix $0 < \lambda < \lambda^* = \frac{n}{2k(n-1)+1}$. Let $x_0 \in [-L, -\varepsilon^{\lambda}]$ and consider the solution $\hat{y}(x,\varepsilon)$ of the differential (3.18) satisfying $\hat{y}(x_0,\varepsilon) = 1$. Then, there exist positive numbers c and r such that

$$|\hat{y}(x,\varepsilon) - m(x,\varepsilon)| \leq r e^{-\frac{c}{\varepsilon} \left(|x_0|^{\frac{1}{\lambda^*}} - |x|^{\frac{1}{\lambda^*}}\right)},$$

for $x_0 \leqslant x \leqslant -\varepsilon^{\lambda^*}$.

Proof. Performing the change of variables $\omega = \hat{y} - m(x, \varepsilon)$ in equation (3.18), we get

$$\varepsilon \frac{d\omega}{dx} = -\xi(x,\varepsilon)\phi'(m(x,\varepsilon))\omega - \xi(x,\varepsilon)F(x,\omega,\varepsilon), \qquad (3.19)$$

where,

$$F(x,\omega,\varepsilon) = \phi(m(x,\varepsilon) + \omega) - \phi(m(x,\varepsilon)) - \phi'(m(x,\varepsilon))\omega$$

and

$$\xi(x,\varepsilon) = \frac{2}{\left(1 + \phi(m(x,\varepsilon))\right) \left(1 + \phi(m(x,\varepsilon) + \omega(x,\varepsilon))\right)} + \frac{\varepsilon \left(m(x,\varepsilon)\vartheta(x,\varepsilon m(x,\varepsilon)) - (\omega(x,\varepsilon) + m(x,\varepsilon))\vartheta(x,\varepsilon(\omega(x,\varepsilon) + m(x,\varepsilon)))\right)}{\phi(m(x,\varepsilon) + \omega(x,\varepsilon)) - \phi(m(x,\varepsilon))}.$$

Here, we are denoting $\omega(x,\varepsilon) = \hat{y}(x,\varepsilon) - m(x,\varepsilon)$, which is the solution of (3.19) with initial condition $\omega(x_0,\varepsilon) = 1 - m(x_0,\varepsilon)$. Therefore, we also have that

$$\omega(x,\varepsilon) = e^{-\frac{1}{\varepsilon} \int_{x_0}^x \xi(s,\varepsilon) \phi'(m(s,\varepsilon)) ds} \widetilde{\omega}(x,\varepsilon),$$

where

$$\widetilde{\omega}(x,\varepsilon) = \omega(x_0,\varepsilon) - \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \int_{x_0}^x e^{\frac{1}{\varepsilon} \int_{x_0}^{\nu} \xi(s,\varepsilon) \phi'(m(s,\varepsilon)) ds} \xi(\nu,\varepsilon) F(\nu,\omega(\nu,\varepsilon),\varepsilon) d\nu$$

In what follows we shall estimate $|\omega(x,\varepsilon)|$. First, notice that F writes

$$F(x,\omega,\varepsilon) = A(x,\varepsilon)\omega, \qquad (3.20)$$

where

$$A(x,\varepsilon) = \int_0^1 \phi'(m(x,\varepsilon) + s\omega(x,\varepsilon)) - \phi'(m(x,\varepsilon))ds$$

We claim that $A(x,\varepsilon)$ is negative for $-L \leq x \leq 0$ and $L, \varepsilon > 0$ small enough. Indeed, from (3.10), we obtain

$$\phi''(\hat{y}) = \frac{\phi^{(n)}(1)}{(n-2)!}(\hat{y}-1)^{n-2} + \mathcal{O}((\hat{y}-1)^{n-1}), \ \hat{y} \le 1.$$
(3.21)

Again, recall that $\phi = \Phi|_{[-1,1]}$, where $\Phi \in C_{ST}^{n-1}$. Hence, from Definition 1, sign $(\phi^{(n)}(1)) = (-1)^{n+1}$. Thus, from (3.21), we get the existence of $\eta > 0$ such that $\phi''(\hat{y}) < 0$ for all $1 - \eta < \hat{y} < 1$. This means that ϕ' is decreasing for $1 - \eta < \hat{y} \leq 1$. Notice that

$$m(x,\varepsilon) \leq m(x,\varepsilon) + s\omega(x,\varepsilon) \leq (1-s)m(x,\varepsilon) + s \leq 1, \text{ for all } 0 \leq s \leq 1,$$
(3.22)

Thus, it remains to show that $m(x,\varepsilon) + s\omega(x,\varepsilon)$, $m(x,\varepsilon) > 1 - \eta$ for $-L \leq x < 0$ and $L, \varepsilon > 0$ small enough. From Proposition 4 and (3.8), we have that

$$m(x,\varepsilon) \ge m_0(x) - \frac{\varepsilon K}{\sqrt[n]{x^{2k(n-2)+2}}} \ge 1 - C_2 \sqrt[n]{L^{2k-1}} - \varepsilon^{1-\lambda^* \left(\frac{2k(n-2)+2}{n}\right)} K,$$
(3.23)

for $\varepsilon, L > 0$ small enough. Therefore, L and ε can be taking smaller, if necessary, in order that $C_2 \sqrt[n]{L^{2k-1}} + \varepsilon^{1-\lambda^* \left(\frac{2k(n-2)+2}{n}\right)} KM < \eta$. This implies that

$$m(x,\varepsilon) + s\omega(x,\varepsilon) \ge m(x,\varepsilon) > 1 - \eta.$$

Consequently, $A(x, \varepsilon)$ is negative.

Hence, by (3.20), we have that

$$\begin{aligned} |\widetilde{\omega}(x,\varepsilon)| &= |\omega(x_0)| + \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \int_{x_0}^x |\xi(\nu,\varepsilon)A(\nu,\varepsilon)\widetilde{\omega}(\nu,\varepsilon)|d\nu\\ &\leqslant |\omega(x_0)| - \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \int_{x_0}^x \xi(\nu,\varepsilon)A(\nu,\varepsilon)|\widetilde{\omega}(\nu,\varepsilon)|d\nu. \end{aligned}$$

Using Gronwall's Lemma, we get that

$$|\widetilde{\omega}(x,\varepsilon)| \leq |\omega(x_0)| e^{-\frac{1}{\varepsilon} \int_{x_0}^x \xi(\nu,\varepsilon) A(\nu,\varepsilon) d\nu}$$

and, therefore,

$$\begin{aligned} |\omega(x,\varepsilon)| &\leq |\omega(x_0)| e^{-\frac{1}{\varepsilon} \int_{x_0}^x \xi(\nu,\varepsilon)(A(\nu,\varepsilon) + \phi'(m(\nu,\varepsilon)))d\nu} \\ &\leq |\omega(x_0)| e^{-\frac{1}{\varepsilon} \int_{x_0}^x \xi(\nu,\varepsilon)(\int_0^1 \phi'(m(\nu,\varepsilon) + s\omega(\nu,\varepsilon))ds)d\nu} \end{aligned}$$

To conclude this proof, notice that

$$\xi(x,\varepsilon) = \frac{2}{\left(1 + \phi(m_0(x))\right) \left(1 + \phi(\omega(x,0) + m_0(x))\right)} + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon).$$

Thus, $L, \varepsilon > 0$ can be taken small enough in order that $\xi(x, \varepsilon) \ge l > 0$, for every $x \in [-L, 0]$. Moreover, from (3.10), given $0 < \eta < 1$, there exist positive constants $c_1, c_2 > 0$ such that

$$c_1(1-\hat{y})^{n-1} \leq \phi'(\hat{y}) \leq c_2(1-\hat{y})^{n-1}, \text{ for } |\hat{y}-1| < \eta.$$

Finally, using (3.22) and (3.23), we obtain that $|m(\nu, \varepsilon) + s\omega(\nu, \varepsilon) - 1| < \eta$. Hence, for $x \leq -\varepsilon^{\lambda^*}$, we have that

$$\begin{split} \omega(x,\varepsilon)| &\leq |\omega(x_0)| e^{-\frac{c_1l}{\varepsilon} \int_{x_0}^x (\int_0^1 (1-m(\nu,\varepsilon)-s\omega(\nu,\varepsilon))^{n-1} ds) dt} \\ &\leq |\omega(x_0)| e^{-\frac{c_1l}{\varepsilon} \int_{x_0}^x (\int_0^1 ((1-m(\nu,\varepsilon))(1-s))^{n-1} ds) d\nu} \\ &\leq |\omega(x_0)| e^{-\frac{c_1l}{n\varepsilon} \int_{x_0}^x (1-m(\nu,\varepsilon))^{n-1} d\nu} \\ &\leq |\omega(x_0)| e^{-\frac{c_1l}{n\varepsilon} \int_{x_0}^x (1-m(\nu,\varepsilon))^{n-1} d\nu} \\ &\leq |\omega(x_0)| e^{-\frac{c_1l}{n\varepsilon} \int_{x_0}^x (C_1|\nu|^{\frac{2k-1}{n}})^{n-1} d\nu} \\ &\leq |\omega(x_0)| e^{-\frac{c}{\varepsilon} (|x_0|^{\frac{1}{\lambda^*}} - |x|^{\frac{1}{\lambda^*}})}, \end{split}$$

where $c = \frac{c_1 l C_1^{n-1}}{2k(n-1)+1}$ is a positive constant. The inequality (3.8) has also been used. \Box



Figure 12 – The exponential attraction of $S_{a,\varepsilon}$.

Fix $0 < \lambda < \lambda^*$. From Proposition 5, applied to $x_0 = -\varepsilon^{\lambda}$ and $x = -\varepsilon^{\lambda^*}$, we know that there exist positive numbers \tilde{r} and c such that

$$\begin{aligned} |\widehat{y}(-\varepsilon^{\lambda^*},\varepsilon) - m(-\varepsilon^{\lambda^*},\varepsilon)| &\leq \widetilde{r}e^{-\frac{c}{\varepsilon}\left(|-\varepsilon^{\lambda}|^{\frac{1}{\lambda^*}} - |-\varepsilon^{\lambda^*}|^{\frac{1}{\lambda^*}}\right)} \\ &= re^{-\frac{c}{\varepsilon^q}}, \end{aligned}$$

where $r = \tilde{r}e^c$ and $q = 1 - \frac{\lambda}{\lambda^*}$ are positive constants. Thus,

$$\widehat{y}(-\varepsilon^{\lambda^*},\varepsilon) = m(-\varepsilon^{\lambda^*},\varepsilon) + \mathcal{O}(e^{-c/\varepsilon^q})$$

Hence, arguing analogously to the construction of map P^u (see Section 3.2.2), any solution of the system (2.6) with initial condition in the interval $[-\rho, -\varepsilon^{\lambda}]$, ε sufficiently small, reaches the section $x = -\varepsilon^{\lambda^*}$ exponentially close to the Fenichel manifold (see Figure 12). From Proposition 1, these solutions can be continued until the section $\hat{y} = 1$. Going back through the rescaling $y = \varepsilon \hat{y}$, we get defined the following map through the flow of (2.4),

$$\begin{array}{cccc} Q^{u}_{\varepsilon} : \widehat{H}^{\varepsilon}_{\rho,\lambda} & \longrightarrow & \overleftarrow{H}_{\varepsilon} \\ (x,\varepsilon) & \longmapsto & \left(x_{\varepsilon} + \mathcal{O}(e^{-c/\varepsilon^{q}}), \varepsilon \right), \end{array}$$

where $\widehat{H}_{\rho,\lambda}^{\varepsilon} = [-\rho, -\varepsilon^{\lambda}] \times \{\varepsilon\}$ and $\overleftarrow{H}_{\varepsilon} = [x_{\varepsilon} - re^{-\frac{c}{\varepsilon^{q}}}, x_{\varepsilon}] \times \{\varepsilon\}$, for $\varepsilon > 0$ small enough.

3.2.4 Construction of the map R^u

In order to define the map R^{u} , we first prove the following result.

Proposition 6. Consider the Filippov system $Z = (X^+, X^-)_{\Sigma}$ given by (2.1), for some $k \ge 1$, and $y_{\rho,\lambda}^{\varepsilon}$ and y_{θ}^{ε} given in (3.1). For $n \ge \max\{2, 2k - 1\}$, let $\Phi \in C_{ST}^{n-1}$ be given as (1.5) and consider the regularized system Z_{ε}^{Φ} (2.4). Then, there exists $\theta_0 > 0$ such that, for each $\theta \in [x_{\varepsilon}, \theta_0]$, the Fenichel manifold $S_{a,\varepsilon}$ intersects $\{x = \theta\}$ at $(\theta, y_{\theta}^{\varepsilon})$.

Proof. By Proposition 1 we know that the Fenichel manifold $S_{a,\varepsilon}$ intersects $\{y = \varepsilon\}$ at $(x_{\varepsilon}, \varepsilon)$. In order to continue $S_{a,\varepsilon}$ into $x = \theta$, consider the solutions (x(t), y(t)) of the differential system (2.3) with initial condition $x(0) = x_{\varepsilon}$ and $y(0) = \varepsilon$. Thus, $x(t) = t + x_{\varepsilon}$ and

$$y(t) = \varepsilon + \int_0^t \alpha(s + x_\varepsilon)^{2k-1} + g(s + x_\varepsilon) + y(s,\varepsilon)\vartheta(s + x_\varepsilon, y(s,\varepsilon))ds.$$

Therefore, the trajectory (x(t), y(t)) intersects $\{x = \theta\}$ at $(\theta, y_{\theta}^{\varepsilon})$, with

$$y_{\theta}^{\varepsilon} := y(\theta - x_{\varepsilon}) = \frac{\alpha \theta^{2k}}{2k} - \frac{\alpha x_{\varepsilon}^{2k}}{2k} + \varepsilon + G_{\varepsilon}(x_{\varepsilon}, \theta),$$

where

$$G_{\varepsilon}(x,\theta) = \int_{x}^{\theta} \left[g(s) + y(s-x,\varepsilon)\vartheta(s,y(s-x,\varepsilon)) \right] ds$$

In what follows, we shall develop $G_{\varepsilon}(x_{\varepsilon}, \theta)$ in Taylor series around $(x, \theta, \varepsilon) = (0, 0, 0)$. First, notice that

$$G_{\varepsilon}(x,\theta) = G_{\varepsilon}(0,\theta) + \sum_{i=1}^{2k-1} \frac{\partial^{i} G_{\varepsilon}}{\partial x^{i}}(0,\theta) x^{i} + \mathcal{O}(x^{2k}), \qquad (3.24)$$

and

$$G_{\varepsilon}(0,\theta) = G_0(0,\theta) + \varepsilon \frac{\partial}{\partial \varepsilon} G_{\varepsilon}(0,\theta) \Big|_{\varepsilon=0} + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^2).$$
(3.25)

Thus, substituting (3.25) into (3.24) and taking $x = x_{\varepsilon}$, we have

$$G_{\varepsilon}(x_{\varepsilon},\theta) = G_{0}(0,\theta) + \varepsilon \frac{\partial}{\partial \varepsilon} G_{\varepsilon}(0,\theta) \Big|_{\varepsilon=0} + \sum_{i=1}^{2k-1} \frac{\partial^{i} G_{0}}{\partial x^{i}}(0,\theta) x_{\varepsilon}^{i} + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{2}) + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon x_{\varepsilon}) + \mathcal{O}(x_{\varepsilon}^{2k}).$$
(3.26)

Now, in order to estimate $G_0(0,\theta)$ and $\frac{\partial}{\partial \varepsilon} G_{\varepsilon}(0,\theta)\Big|_{\varepsilon=0}$ in (3.26), we compute

$$G_{\varepsilon}(0,\theta) = G_{\varepsilon}(0,0) + \theta \frac{\partial G_{\varepsilon}}{\partial \theta}(0,0) + \mathcal{O}(\theta^2) = \theta \frac{\partial G_{\varepsilon}}{\partial \theta}(0,0) + \mathcal{O}(\theta^2).$$
(3.27)

We know that

$$G_0(0,\theta) = \int_0^\theta \left[g(s) + y_0(s)\vartheta(s,y_0(s)) \right] ds$$

where y_0 satisfies the following Cauchy problem

$$\begin{cases} y'_0 &= \alpha t^{2k-1} + g(t) + y_0 \vartheta(t, y_0), \\ y_0(0) &= 0. \end{cases}$$

Notice that $y_0^{(i)}(0) = 0$ for i = 0, 1, ..., 2k - 1 and $y_0^{(2k)}(0) = (2k - 1)!\alpha$. Thus,

$$y_0(t) = \frac{\alpha}{2k} t^{2k} + \mathcal{O}(t^{2k+1})$$
(3.28)

and

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{\partial G_0}{\partial \theta}(0,\theta) &= g(\theta) + y_0(\theta)\vartheta(s,y_0(\theta)) \\ &= g(\theta) + \frac{\alpha\theta^{2k}}{2k}\vartheta(s,y_0(\theta)) + \mathcal{O}(\theta^{2k+1}) \\ &= \mathcal{O}(\theta^{2k}). \end{aligned}$$

Hence, we conclude that

$$G_0(0,\theta) = \mathcal{O}(\theta^{2k+1}). \tag{3.29}$$

Analogously,

$$G_{\varepsilon}(0,\theta) = \int_{0}^{\theta} \left[g(s) + y(s,\varepsilon)\vartheta(s,y(s,\varepsilon)) \right] ds$$

and, then, $\frac{\partial G_{\varepsilon}}{\partial \theta}(0,0) = \varepsilon \vartheta(0,\varepsilon)$. Therefore, by (3.27), $G_{\varepsilon}(0,\theta) = \theta \varepsilon \vartheta(0,\varepsilon) + \mathcal{O}(\theta^2)$. Hence, $\frac{\partial G_{\varepsilon}}{\partial \varepsilon}(0,\theta)\Big|_{\varepsilon=0} = \mathcal{O}(\theta).$ (3.30)

Finally, in order to estimate the remainder terms in
$$(3.26)$$
, we compute

$$G_0(x,\theta) = G_0(x,0) + \theta \frac{\partial G_0}{\partial \theta}(x,0) + \ldots + \theta^{2k-1} \frac{\partial^{2k-1} G_0}{\partial \theta^{2k-1}}(x,0) + \mathcal{O}(\theta^{2k}).$$
(3.31)

Using the definition of $G_0(x, \theta)$ and (3.28), we get that

$$\frac{\partial^i}{\partial x^i} \frac{\partial^j}{\partial \theta^j} G_0(0,0) = 0, \qquad (3.32)$$

for all $j \in \{0, ..., 2k - 1\}$ and $i \in \{1, ..., 2k - j\}$. So, by (3.31) and (3.32), we obtain that

$$\frac{\partial^{i} G_{0}}{\partial x^{i}}(0,\theta) = \mathcal{O}(\theta^{2k+1-i}), \qquad (3.33)$$

for all $i \in \{1, \dots, 2k - 1\}$.

Substituting (3.29), (3.30), and (3.33) into (3.26), we get

$$G_{\varepsilon}(x_{\varepsilon},\theta) = G_{0}(0,\theta) + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon\theta) + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{2}) + \sum_{i=1}^{2k-1} \mathcal{O}(\theta^{2k+1-i}x_{\varepsilon}^{i}) + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon x_{\varepsilon}) + \mathcal{O}(x_{\varepsilon}^{2k})$$
$$= \mathcal{O}(\theta^{2k+1}) + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon\theta) + \sum_{i=1}^{2k-1} \mathcal{O}(\theta^{2k+1-i}x_{\varepsilon}^{i}) + \mathcal{O}(x_{\varepsilon}^{2k}).$$

Consequently,

$$y_{\theta}^{\varepsilon} = \frac{\alpha \theta^{2k}}{2k} - \frac{\alpha x_{\varepsilon}^{2k}}{2k} + \varepsilon + \mathcal{O}(\theta^{2k+1}) + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon\theta) + \sum_{i=1}^{2k-1} \mathcal{O}(\theta^{2k+1-i} x_{\varepsilon}^{i}) + \mathcal{O}(x_{\varepsilon}^{2k}),$$

Therefore, by Lemma 1 we can conclude that $y_{\theta}^0 = y(\theta) = \overline{y}_{\theta}$, i.e.

$$y_{\theta}^{\varepsilon} = \overline{y}_{\theta} + \varepsilon + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon\theta) + \sum_{i=1}^{2k-1} \mathcal{O}(\theta^{2k+1-i} x_{\varepsilon}^{i}) + \mathcal{O}(x_{\varepsilon}^{2k}).$$

In particular, for $\theta = x_{\varepsilon}$, we obtain that

$$y_{x_{\varepsilon}}^{\varepsilon} = \overline{y}_{x_{\varepsilon}} + \varepsilon + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon x_{\varepsilon}) + \mathcal{O}(x_{\varepsilon}^{2k+1}) + \mathcal{O}(x_{\varepsilon}^{2k})$$
$$= \overline{y}_{x_{\varepsilon}} + \varepsilon + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon x_{\varepsilon}) + \mathcal{O}(x_{\varepsilon}^{2k}).$$

Finally, from Proposition 6 and arguing analogously to the construction of map P^{u} (see Section 3.2.2), we get defined the map

$$\begin{array}{cccc} R^u : \overleftarrow{H}_{\varepsilon} & \longrightarrow & \widetilde{V}_{\theta}^{\varepsilon} \\ (x,\varepsilon) & \longmapsto & \left(\theta, y_{\theta}^{\varepsilon} + \mathcal{O}(e^{-c/\varepsilon^q})\right). \end{array}$$

where $\overleftarrow{H}_{\varepsilon} = [x_{\varepsilon} - re^{-\frac{c}{\varepsilon^{q}}}, x_{\varepsilon}] \times \{\varepsilon\}$ and $\widetilde{V}_{\theta}^{\varepsilon} = \{\theta\} \times [y_{\theta}^{\varepsilon}, y_{\theta}^{\varepsilon} + re^{-\frac{c}{\varepsilon^{q}}}]$, for all $\theta \in [x_{\varepsilon}, \theta_{0}]$ and $\varepsilon > 0$ small enough.



Figure 13 – The map $U_{\varepsilon} = R^u \circ Q_{\varepsilon}^u \circ P^u$ for the regularized system Z_{ε}^{Φ} . The dotted curve is the trajectory of X^+ passing through the visible 2k-multiplicity contact with Σ with (0,0). One can see the exponential attraction of the Fenichel manifold $S_{a,\varepsilon}$.

3.2.5 Proof of Theorem A

Consider a Filippov system $Z = (X^+, X^-)_{\Sigma}$ satisfying hypothesis (A) for some $k \ge 1$. For $n \ge 2k - 1$, let $\Phi \in C_{ST}^{n-1}$ be given as (1.5) and consider the regularized system Z_{ε}^{Φ} (1.4). As noticed in Remark 3, we shall assume that $n \ge \max\{2, 2k - 1\}$.

From the comments of Section 2.1, we can assume that $Z|_U$ can be written as (2.1), which has its regularization given by (2.4). Thus, statement (a) of Theorem A follows from Proposition 2. Finally, statement (b) follows by taking the composition

$$U_{\varepsilon}: \begin{array}{ccc} \widehat{V}_{\rho,\lambda}^{\varepsilon} & \longrightarrow & \widetilde{V}_{\theta}^{\varepsilon} \\ (-\rho, y) & \longmapsto & R^{u} \circ Q_{\varepsilon}^{u} \circ P^{u}(-\rho, y), \end{array}$$

where P^u , Q^u_{ε} , and R^u are defined in Sections 3.2.2, 3.2.3, and 3.2.4, respectively. Indeed, the existence of ρ_0 and $\theta_0 > 0$ are guaranteed by the construction of the map P^u (see Section 3.2.2) and Proposition 6, respectively. The existence of constants c, r, q > 0, for which $U_{\varepsilon}(-\rho, y) = y^{\varepsilon}_{\theta} + \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{c}{\varepsilon^q}})$ is guaranteed by the construction of the map Q^u_{ε} (see Section 3.2.3). Furthermore, by construction of the maps P^u , Q^u_{ε} and R^u , we have that the trajectories of Z^{Φ}_{ε} starting at the section $\hat{V}^{\varepsilon}_{\rho,\lambda}$ intersect the line $y = \varepsilon$ only in two points before reaching the section $\tilde{V}^{\varepsilon}_{\theta,\lambda}$. Moreover, these intersections take place at $\hat{H}^{\varepsilon}_{\rho,\lambda} \cup \overline{H}_{\varepsilon}$.

3.3 Lower Transition Map

This section is devoted to prove Theorem B. Analogously to the previous section, we need to guarantee that under some conditions the flow of the regularized system Z_{ε}^{Φ} near a visible regular-tangential singularity defines a map between two sections, in this case, a horizontal section and a vertical section. Again, it will be convenient to write this map as the composition of three maps, namely P^l , Q_{ε}^l and R^l . The maps P^l and Q_{ε}^l will be defined through the flow of Z_{ε}^{Φ} restricted to the band of regularization, and the map R^l will be given by the flow of Z_{ε}^{Φ} defined outside the band of regularization. In what follows, we shall define the maps P^l, Q_{ε}^l and R^l (see Figure 14).



Figure 14 – Dynamics of the maps P^l , Q^l_{ε} and R^l . The dotted curve is the trajectory of X^+ passing through the visible 2k-multiplicity contact with Σ with (0,0).

First of all, the next result is obtained following the same argument than Proposition 2.

Proposition 7. Consider the Filippov system $Z = (X^+, X^-)_{\Sigma}$ given by (2.1), for some $k \ge 1$, and y_{θ}^{ε} given in (3.1). For $n \ge \max\{2, 2k - 1\}$, let $\Phi \in C_{ST}^{n-1}$ be given as (1.5) and consider the regularized system Z_{ε}^{Φ} (2.4). Then, there exist $\rho_0, \theta_0 > 0$, such that the vertical segment

$$\check{V}_{\theta}^{\varepsilon} = \{\theta\} \times [y_{\theta}^{\varepsilon} - re^{-\frac{c}{\varepsilon^{q}}}, y_{\theta}^{\varepsilon}],$$

and the horizontal segments

$$\check{H}^{\varepsilon}_{\rho,\lambda} = \left[-\rho, -\varepsilon^{\lambda}\right] \times \left\{-\varepsilon\right\} \quad and \quad \overrightarrow{H}_{\varepsilon} = \left[x_{\varepsilon}, x_{\varepsilon} + re^{-\frac{c}{\varepsilon^{q}}}\right] \times \left\{\varepsilon\right\}$$

are transversal sections for every $\rho \in (\varepsilon^{\lambda}, \rho_0]$, $\theta \in [x_{\varepsilon}, \theta_0]$, $\lambda \in (0, \lambda^*)$, with $\lambda^* = \frac{n}{2k(n-1)+1}$, constants c, r, q > 0, and $\varepsilon > 0$ sufficiently small.

As before, statement (i) of Theorem B will follows from Proposition 7.

3.3.1 Construction of the map P^l

First, we shall see that the forward trajectory of $\overline{Z}_{\varepsilon}^{\Phi}$ (2.6) starting at $(-\varepsilon^{\lambda}, -1)$ reaches the straight line $\{\hat{y} = \hat{y}_0\}$, with $\hat{y}_0 \in (1 - \eta, 1)$, for some $\eta > 0$ small enough. After that, the map will be obtained through Poincaré-Bendixson argument.

Accordingly, consider a function $\widetilde{\mu} : I_{(x,\widehat{y})} \times \widehat{U} \times [0,\varepsilon_0] \to \mathbb{R}$ given by $\widetilde{\mu}(\tau, x, -1, \varepsilon) = (\varepsilon^2, (\tau, x, -1), -\widehat{v})$

$$\widetilde{\mu}(\tau, x, -1, \varepsilon) = \varphi_{\overline{Z}_{\varepsilon}^{\Phi}}^{2}(\tau, x, -1) - \widehat{y}_{0}$$

where $\varphi_{\overline{Z}_{\varepsilon}^{\Phi}} = (\varphi_{\overline{Z}_{\varepsilon}^{\Phi}}^{1}, \varphi_{\overline{Z}_{\varepsilon}^{\Phi}}^{2})$ denotes the flow of $\overline{Z}_{\varepsilon}^{\Phi}$, $I_{(x,\hat{y})}$ is the maximal interval of definition of $\tau \mapsto \varphi_{\overline{Z}_{\varepsilon}^{\Phi}}(\tau, x, \hat{y}), \varepsilon_{0} > 0$ is sufficiently small, and \hat{U} is the domain of the vector field Z in the (x, \hat{y}) -coordinates.

Now, for each $\hat{y} \in [-1, \hat{y}_0]$ and $\varepsilon = 0$, we have

$$\varphi_{\overline{Z}_0^{\Phi}}(0,0,\hat{y}) = (0,\hat{y}) \text{ and } \frac{\partial \varphi_{\overline{Z}_0^{\Phi}}^2}{\partial \tau}(0,0,\hat{y}) = \frac{1-\Phi(\hat{y})}{2} > 0.$$

Then, there exists $\tau_0 > 0$ such that $\varphi_{\overline{Z}_0^{\Phi}}(\tau_0, 0, -1) = (0, \hat{y}_0)$. In this way,

$$\tilde{\mu}(\tau_0, 0, -1, 0) = 0 \text{ and } \frac{\partial \tilde{\mu}}{\partial \tau}(\tau_0, 0, -1, 0) = \frac{1 - \Phi(\hat{y}_0)}{2} \neq 0$$

Thus, from Implicit Function Theorem there exists a unique smooth function $\tau(x,\varepsilon)$, such that, $\varphi_{\overline{Z}_{\varepsilon}}^{2}(\tau(x,\varepsilon), x, -1) = \hat{y}_{0}$ and $\tau(0,0) = \tau_{0}$. Therefore, for $\varepsilon > 0$ sufficiently small, the forward trajectory of $\overline{Z}_{\varepsilon}^{\Phi}$ starting at $(-\varepsilon^{\lambda}, -1)$ reaches the straight line $\{\hat{y} = \hat{y}_{0}\}$ at

$$\left(\varphi_{\overline{Z}_{\varepsilon}^{\Phi}}^{1}(\tau(-\varepsilon^{\lambda},-1),-\varepsilon^{\lambda},-1),\hat{y}_{0}\right).$$

In what follows we shall compute the Taylor expansion of $\varphi_{\overline{Z}_{\varepsilon}}^{1}(\tau(x,\varepsilon),x,-1)$ around $(x,\varepsilon) = (0,0)$. Notice that

$$\begin{split} \varphi_{\overline{Z}_{\varepsilon}^{\Phi}}^{1}(\tau(x,\varepsilon),x,-1) &= \varphi_{\overline{Z}_{0}^{\Phi}}^{1}(\tau(x,0),x,-1) + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon) \\ &= \varphi_{\overline{Z}_{0}^{\Phi}}^{1}(\tau(0,0),0,-1) + x \frac{\partial}{\partial x} \left(\varphi_{\overline{Z}_{0}^{\Phi}}^{1}(\tau(x,0),x,-1) \right) \Big|_{x=0} \\ &+ \mathcal{O}(x^{2}) + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon) \\ &= \varphi_{\overline{Z}_{0}^{\Phi}}^{1}(\tau_{0},0,-1) + x \left[\frac{\partial \varphi_{\overline{Z}_{0}^{\Phi}}^{1}}{\partial \tau}(\tau(x,0),x,-1) \frac{\partial \tau}{\partial x}(x,0) \right. \end{aligned}$$
(3.34)
$$&+ \frac{\partial \varphi_{\overline{Z}_{0}^{\Phi}}^{1}}{\partial x}(\tau(x,0),x,-1) \right] \Big|_{x=0} + \mathcal{O}(x^{2}) + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon). \end{split}$$

Substituting

$$\varphi_{\overline{Z}_{\varepsilon}^{\Phi}}^{1}(\tau_{0},0,-1) = 0 \quad \text{and} \quad \frac{\partial \varphi_{\overline{Z}_{0}^{\Phi}}^{1}}{\partial \tau}(\tau_{0},0,-1) = 0$$

into (3.34), we have

$$\varphi_{\overline{Z}_{\varepsilon}^{\Phi}}^{1}(\tau(x,\varepsilon),x,-1) = x \left[\frac{\partial \varphi_{\overline{Z}_{0}^{\Phi}}^{1}}{\partial \tau}(\tau_{0},0,-1) \frac{\partial \tau}{\partial x}(0,0) + \frac{\partial \varphi_{\overline{Z}_{0}^{\Phi}}^{1}}{\partial x}(\tau_{0},0,-1) \right] \\ + \mathcal{O}(x^{2}) + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon) \\ = x \frac{\partial \varphi_{\overline{Z}_{0}^{\Phi}}^{1}}{\partial x}(\tau_{0},0,-1) + \mathcal{O}(x^{2}) + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon).$$

$$(3.35)$$

Now, notice that $\frac{\partial \varphi_{\overline{Z}_0^{\Phi}}}{\partial x}(\tau, 0, -1)$ is solution of the differential equation

$$u' = D\overline{Z}_0^{\Phi}(0, \varphi_{\overline{Z}_0^{\Phi}}^2(\tau, 0, -1))u,$$

with

$$D\overline{Z}_{0}^{\Phi}(0,\varphi_{\overline{Z}_{0}^{\Phi}}^{2}(\tau,0,-1)) = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ & -\frac{\Phi'\left(\varphi_{\overline{Z}_{0}^{\Phi}}^{2}(\tau,0,-1)\right)}{2} \end{bmatrix}.$$

Consequently,

$$\begin{bmatrix} u_1'(\tau) \\ u_2'(\tau) \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ & -\frac{\Phi'\left(\varphi_{\overline{Z}_0^{\Phi}}^2(\tau, 0, -1)\right)}{2} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} u_1(\tau) \\ & u_2(\tau) \end{bmatrix}$$
$$= \begin{bmatrix} 0 \\ & ** \end{bmatrix},$$

which implies that $u_1(\tau)$ is constant. Since

$$\frac{\partial \varphi_{\overline{Z_0^{\Phi}}}^1}{\partial x}(\tau_0, 0, -1) = \frac{\partial \varphi_{\overline{Z_0^{\Phi}}}^1}{\partial x}(0, 0, -1) = 1,$$

we conclude, by (3.35), that

$$\varphi_{\overline{Z}_{\varepsilon}^{\Phi}}^{1}(\tau(x,\varepsilon),x,-1) = x + \mathcal{O}(x^{2}) + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon).$$

Taking $x = -\varepsilon^{\lambda}$, we get

$$\varphi_{\overline{Z}_{\varepsilon}^{\Phi}}^{1}(\tau(-\varepsilon^{\lambda},\varepsilon),-\varepsilon^{\lambda},-1) = -\varepsilon^{\lambda} + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{2\lambda}) + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon) =: x_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon}.$$

Finally, consider the region \mathcal{K} delimited by the curves $y = -\varepsilon$, $y = \varepsilon \hat{y}_0$, $y = m(x, \varepsilon)$, $y = -\frac{x}{\varepsilon} - (\frac{\rho}{\varepsilon} + \varepsilon)$ and the arc-orbit connecting $(-\varepsilon^{\lambda}, -\varepsilon)$ and $(x^{\varepsilon}_{\lambda}, \varepsilon \hat{y}_0)$. Since $\overline{Z}^{\Phi}_{\varepsilon}$ has no singularities inside \mathcal{K} , one can easily see that the forward trajectory of $\overline{Z}^{\Phi}_{\varepsilon}$ starting at any point of the transversal section $\check{H}^{\varepsilon}_{\rho,\lambda}$ must leave \mathcal{K} through the transversal section $\{(x, y) \in U : y = \varepsilon \hat{y}_0\}$. This naturally defines a map

$$P^{l}: \check{H}^{\varepsilon}_{\rho,\lambda} \longrightarrow \{(x,y) \in U: y = \varepsilon \hat{y}_{0}\}.$$

3.3.2 Exponentially attraction and construction of the map $Q_{arepsilon}^{l}$

As we saw in Section 3.2.3, for L, N > 0 and $\varepsilon_0 > 0$ small enough, the Fenichel manifold $S_{a,\varepsilon}$ is described as

$$m(x,\varepsilon) = m_0(x) + \varepsilon m_1(x) + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^2),$$

for $-L \leq x \leq -N$ and $0 \leq \epsilon \leq \varepsilon_0$, where m_0 and m_1 were defined in (3.5) and (3.7).

Now, we shall compute the intersection of $m(x, \varepsilon)$ with the straight line $\{\hat{y} = \hat{y}_0\}$ with $1 - \eta < \hat{y}_0 < 1$, for some $\eta > 0$ small enough. Indeed, since $m_0(0) = 1$ and

$$\lim_{x \to -\infty} m_0(x) = -1,$$

then there exists a negative number \hat{x}_0 such that $m_0(\hat{x}_0) = \hat{y}_0$. Moreover, \hat{x}_0 is close to zero because \hat{y}_0 is near to 1 and $m_0(0) = 1$. After that, consider the function

$$\hat{\mu}(x,\varepsilon) = m(x,\varepsilon) - \hat{y}_0$$

and notice that $\hat{\mu}(\hat{x}_0, 0) = m_0(\hat{x}_0) - \hat{y}_0 = 0$ and $\frac{\partial \hat{\mu}}{\partial x}(\hat{x}_0, 0) = \frac{\partial m}{\partial x}(\hat{x}_0, 0) = m'_0(\hat{x}_0) \neq 0$, where we have used equation (3.11). Thus, there exists a smooth function $\hat{x}(\varepsilon)$, such that $\hat{x}(0) = \hat{x}_0$ and $m(\hat{x}(\varepsilon), \varepsilon) = \hat{y}_0$. Accordingly, from (3.7), we have

$$\hat{x}'(0) = -\frac{\frac{\partial m}{\partial \varepsilon}(\hat{x}_0, 0)}{\frac{\partial m}{\partial x}(\hat{x}_0, 0)} = -\frac{m_1(\hat{x}_0)}{m_0'(\hat{x}_0)} = \frac{m_0'(\hat{x}_0) - m_0(\hat{x}_0)\vartheta(\hat{x}_0, 0)}{\alpha(2k-1)\hat{x}_0^{2k-2} + g'(\hat{x}_0)}.$$

The last expression is positive, because $m'_0(x) \to \infty$ when $x \to 0$ and $m_0(x)\vartheta(x,0)$ is bounded in the interval [-L, 0], with L sufficiently small. Therefore, the Taylor expansion of $\hat{x}(\varepsilon)$ around $\varepsilon = 0$ writes

$$\hat{x}(\varepsilon) = \hat{x}_0 + \varepsilon \hat{x}'(0) + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^2)$$

and, consequently, $\hat{x}_0 < \hat{x}(\varepsilon) < 0$ for ε sufficiently small.

Proposition 8. Fix $0 < \lambda < \lambda^* = \frac{n}{2k(n-1)+1}$. Let $x_0 \in [\hat{x}(\varepsilon), -\kappa \varepsilon^{\lambda}]$, with $0 < \kappa < 1$, and consider the solution $\hat{y}(x,\varepsilon)$ of system (3.18) satisfying $\hat{y}(x_0,\varepsilon) = \hat{y}_0$. Then, there exist positive numbers C and \tilde{r} such that

$$|m(x,\varepsilon) - \hat{y}(x,\varepsilon)| \leq \tilde{r}e^{-\frac{C}{\varepsilon}\left(|x_0|^{\frac{1}{\lambda^*}} - |x|^{\frac{1}{\lambda^*}}\right)}.$$

for $x_0 \leqslant x \leqslant -\varepsilon^{\lambda^*}$.

Proof. Performing the change of variables $\omega = m(x, \varepsilon) - \hat{y}$ in equation (3.18), we have

$$\varepsilon \frac{d\omega}{dx} = \xi(x,\varepsilon)\phi'(m(x,\varepsilon))\omega + \xi(x,\varepsilon)F(x,\omega,\varepsilon), \qquad (3.36)$$

where

$$F(x,\omega,\varepsilon) = \phi(m(x,\varepsilon) - \omega) - \phi(m(x,\varepsilon)) - \phi'(m(x,\varepsilon))\omega$$

and

$$\xi(x,\varepsilon) = \frac{2}{\left(1 + \phi(m(x,\varepsilon))\right) \left(1 + \phi(m(x,\varepsilon) - \omega(x,\varepsilon))\right)} + \frac{\varepsilon \left(m(x,\varepsilon)\vartheta(x,\varepsilon m(x,\varepsilon)) - (m(x,\varepsilon) - \omega(x,\varepsilon))\vartheta(x,\varepsilon(\omega(x,\varepsilon) - m(x,\varepsilon)))\right)}{\phi(\omega(x,\varepsilon) - m(x,\varepsilon)) - \phi(m(x,\varepsilon))}$$

Here, we are denoting $\omega(x,\varepsilon) = m(x,\varepsilon) - \hat{y}(x,\varepsilon)$ which is the solution of (3.36) with initial condition $\omega(x_0,\varepsilon) = m(x_0,\varepsilon) - \hat{y}_0$.

Notice that F writes

$$F(x,\omega,\varepsilon) = A(x,\varepsilon)\omega, \qquad (3.37)$$

where

$$A(x,\varepsilon) = -\int_0^1 \phi'(m(x,\varepsilon) + (s-1)\omega(x,\varepsilon)) + \phi'(m(x,\varepsilon))ds.$$

Here, as in the proof of Proposition 5, we also claim that $A(x,\varepsilon)$ is negative for $-L \leq x \leq 0$ and ε sufficiently small. Indeed, we know that $\phi' > 0$ on the interval (-1,1). In addition, since for $\varepsilon > 0$ small enough we have $m(x,\varepsilon) > \hat{y}(x,\varepsilon)$ and $\frac{d\hat{y}}{dx}(x) > 0$ for $x \geq x_0$, then the solution $\omega(x,\varepsilon)$ satisfies

$$0 \leq \omega(x,\varepsilon) \leq m(x,\varepsilon) - \hat{y}_0.$$

Hence, from Proposition 4 and (3.8) we get

$$m(x,\varepsilon) + (s-1)\omega(x,\varepsilon) \leq m(x,\varepsilon) \leq m_0(x,\varepsilon) \leq 1 - C_1 \sqrt[n]{|x|^{2k-1}} \leq 1 - C_1 \sqrt[n]{\epsilon^{\lambda^*(2k-1)}} < 1,$$
(3.38)

and

$$m(x,\varepsilon) + (s-1)\omega(x,\varepsilon) \ge m(x,\epsilon)s - (s-1)\hat{y}_0 \ge \hat{y}_0 > 1 - \eta,$$
(3.39)

for $0 \leq s \leq 1$ and $\eta, \varepsilon > 0$ small enough. Therefore, we conclude that $A(x, \varepsilon)$ is negative.

In this way, by (3.36) and (3.37), we obtain

$$\epsilon \frac{d\omega}{dx} = \xi(x,\epsilon)(\phi'(m(x,\epsilon))\omega + F(x,\omega,\epsilon))$$

= $\xi(x,\epsilon)(\phi'(m(x,\epsilon)) + A(x,\epsilon))\omega$
= $-\xi(x,\epsilon)\Big(\int_0^1 \phi'(m(x,\epsilon) + (s-1)\omega(x,\epsilon))ds\Big)\omega$

which has its solution with initial condition $\omega(x_0)$ given by

$$\omega(x,\varepsilon) = \omega(x_0)e^{-\frac{1}{\varepsilon}\int_{x_0}^x \xi(\nu,\varepsilon)(\int_0^1 \phi'(m(\nu,\varepsilon) + (s-1)\omega(\nu,\varepsilon))ds)d\nu}$$

Thus,

$$|\omega(x,\varepsilon)| = |\omega(x_0)|e^{-\frac{1}{\varepsilon}\int_{x_0}^x \xi(\nu,\varepsilon)(\int_0^1 \phi'(m(\nu,\varepsilon) + (s-1)\omega(\nu,\varepsilon))ds)d\nu}$$

To conclude this proof, we shall estimate $|\omega(x,\varepsilon)|$. For this, notice that

$$\xi(x,\varepsilon) = \frac{2}{\left(1 + \phi(m_0(x))\right) \left(1 + \phi(m_0(x) - \omega(x,0))\right)} + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon).$$

Hence, $L, \varepsilon > 0$ can be taken sufficiently small in order that $\xi(x, \varepsilon) \ge l > 0$, for all $-L \le x \le 0$. Moreover, given $0 < \eta < 1$, there exist positive constants c_1, c_2 such that for $|\hat{y} - 1| < \eta$ one has

$$c_1(1-\hat{y})^{n-1} \leq \phi'(\hat{y}) \leq c_2(1-\hat{y})^{n-1}$$

Finally, using (3.38) and (3.39), we obtain that $|m(\nu, \varepsilon) + (s-1)\omega(\nu, \varepsilon) - 1| < \eta$. Therefore, for $x \leq -e^{\lambda^*}$, we get that

$$\begin{aligned} |\omega(x,\varepsilon)| &\leq |\omega(x_0)| e^{-\frac{c_1}{\varepsilon} \int_{x_0}^x \xi(\nu,\epsilon) (\int_0^1 (1-m(\nu,\varepsilon)-(s-1)\omega(\nu,\varepsilon))^{n-1} ds) d\nu} \\ &\leq |\omega(x_0)| e^{-\frac{lc_1}{\varepsilon} \int_{x_0}^x (\int_0^1 (1-m(\nu,\varepsilon))^{n-1} ds) d\nu} \\ &\leq |\omega(x_0)| e^{-\frac{lc_1}{\varepsilon} \int_{x_0}^x (1-m(\nu,\varepsilon))^{n-1} d\nu} \\ &\leq |\omega(x_0)| e^{-\frac{lc_1}{\varepsilon} \int_{x_0}^x (1-m_0(\nu))^{n-1} d\nu} \\ &\leq |\omega(x_0)| e^{-\frac{lc_1}{\varepsilon} \int_{x_0}^x (C_1|\nu|^{\frac{2k-1}{n}})^{n-1} d\nu} \\ &\leq |\omega(x_0)| e^{-\frac{C}{\varepsilon} (|x_0|^{\frac{1}{\lambda^*}} - |x|^{\frac{1}{\lambda^*}})}, \end{aligned}$$

where $C = \frac{nlc_1C_1^{n-1}}{2k(n-1)+1}$ is a positive constant. The inequality (3.8) has also been used.



Figure 15 – The exponential attraction of $S_{a,\varepsilon}$.

Fix $0 < \lambda < \lambda^*$. From Proposition 8, applied to $x_0 = x_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon}$ and $x = -\varepsilon^{\lambda^*}$, where $x_0 \leq -\kappa \varepsilon^{\lambda}$ for some $\kappa \in (0, 1)$, we know that there exist positive numbers \tilde{r} and C such that

$$|m(-\varepsilon^{\lambda^*},\varepsilon) - \widehat{y}(-\varepsilon^{\lambda^*},\varepsilon)| \leqslant \widetilde{r}e^{-\frac{C}{\varepsilon}\left(|x_{\varepsilon}^{\lambda}|^{\frac{1}{\lambda^*}} - |-\varepsilon^{\lambda^*}|^{\frac{1}{\lambda^*}}\right)} \\ \leqslant re^{-\frac{c}{\varepsilon^q}},$$

where $c = C \kappa^{\frac{1}{\lambda^*}}$, $r = \tilde{r}e^C$ and $q = 1 - \frac{\lambda}{\lambda^*}$ are positive constants. Hence,

$$\hat{y}(-\varepsilon^{\lambda^*},\varepsilon) = m(-\varepsilon^{\lambda^*},\varepsilon) + \mathcal{O}(e^{-c/\varepsilon^q}).$$

Thus, arguing analogously to the construction of map P^l (see Section 3.3.1), any solution of the system (2.6) with initial condition in the interval $[\hat{x}(\varepsilon), x_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon}]$, ε sufficiently small, reaches the section $x = -\varepsilon^{\lambda^*}$ exponentially close to the Fenichel manifold (see Figure 15). From Proposition 1, these solutions can be continued until the section $\hat{y} = 1$. Going back through the rescaling $y = \varepsilon \hat{y}$, we get defined the following map through the flow of (2.4),

$$Q_{\varepsilon}^{l} : [\widehat{x}(\varepsilon), x_{\lambda}^{\varepsilon}] \times \{y = \varepsilon \widehat{y}_{0}\} \longrightarrow \overrightarrow{H}_{\varepsilon} \\ (x, \varepsilon) \longmapsto (x_{\varepsilon} + \mathcal{O}(e^{-c/\varepsilon^{q}}), \varepsilon),$$

where $\overrightarrow{H}_{\varepsilon} = [x_{\varepsilon}, x_{\varepsilon} + re^{-\frac{c}{\varepsilon^{q}}}] \times \{\varepsilon\}$, for $\varepsilon > 0$ small enough.

3.3.3 Construction of the map R^l

Finally, from Proposition 6 and arguing analogously to the construction of map P^{l} (see Section 3.3.1), we get defined the map

$$\begin{array}{cccc} R^l : \overrightarrow{H}_{\varepsilon} & \longrightarrow & \widecheck{V}_{\theta}^{\varepsilon} \\ (x, \varepsilon) & \longmapsto & \Big(\theta, y_{\theta}^{\varepsilon} + \mathcal{O}(e^{-c/\varepsilon^q})\Big), \end{array}$$

where $\overrightarrow{H}_{\varepsilon} = [x_{\varepsilon}, x_{\varepsilon} + re^{-\frac{c}{\varepsilon^{q}}}] \times \{\varepsilon\}$ and $\widecheck{V}_{\theta}^{\varepsilon} = \{\theta\} \times [y_{\theta}^{\varepsilon} - re^{-\frac{c}{\varepsilon^{q}}}, y_{\theta}^{\varepsilon}]$, for every $\theta \in [x_{\varepsilon} + re^{-\frac{c}{\varepsilon^{q}}}, \theta_{0}]$, and $\varepsilon > 0$ small enough.



Figure 16 – The map $L_{\varepsilon} = R^l \circ Q_{\varepsilon}^l \circ P^l$ for the regularized system Z_{ε}^{Φ} . The dotted curve is the trajectory of X^+ passing through the visible 2k-multiplicity contact with Σ with (0,0). One can see the exponential attraction of the Fenichel manifold $S_{a,\varepsilon}$.

3.3.4 Proof of Theorem B

Consider a Filippov system $Z = (X^+, X^-)_{\Sigma}$ satisfying hypothesis (A) for some $k \ge 1$. For $n \ge 2k - 1$, let $\Phi \in C_{ST}^{n-1}$ be given as (1.5) and consider the regularized system Z_{ε}^{Φ} (1.4). As noticed in Remark 3, we shall assume that $n \ge \max\{2, 2k - 1\}$.

From the comments of Section 2.1, we can assume that $Z|_U$ can be written as (2.1), which has its regularization given by (2.4). Thus, statement (a) of Theorem B

follows from Proposition 7. Finally, statement (b) follows by taking the composition

$$L_{\varepsilon}: \begin{array}{ccc} \check{H}_{\rho,\lambda}^{\varepsilon} & \longrightarrow & \check{V}_{\theta}^{\varepsilon} \\ (x,-\varepsilon) & \longmapsto & R^{l} \circ Q_{\varepsilon}^{l} \circ P^{l}(x,-\varepsilon) \end{array}$$

where P^l , Q^l_{ε} , and R^l are defined in Sections 3.3.1, 3.3.2, and 3.3.3, respectively. Indeed, the existence of ρ_0 and $\theta_0 > 0$ are guaranteed by the construction of the map P^l (see Section 3.3.1) and Proposition 6, respectively. The existence of constants c, r, q > 0, for which $L_{\varepsilon}(x, -\varepsilon) = y^{\varepsilon}_{\theta} + \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{c}{\varepsilon q}})$ is guaranteed by the construction of the map Q^l_{ε} (see Section 3.3.2).

4 Regularization of boundary limit cycles

In this chapter, we shall state and prove the third main result of this work (Theorem C), which in particular establishes sufficient conditions under which the regularized vector field Z_{ε}^{Φ} has a limit cycle Γ_{ε} converging to a boundary limit cycle. Since a boundary limit cycle is a Σ -polycycle, we will generalize Theorem C in Chapter 6.

4.1 Main Result

Consider a Filippov system $Z = (X^+, X^-)$ and assume that

(B) X^+ has a hyperbolic limit cycle Γ , which has a 2k-multiplicity contact with Σ at (0,0) and X^- is pointing towards Σ at (0,0). In other words, (0,0) is a visible regular-tangential singularity of Z (see Figure 17).



Figure 17 – Boundary limit cycle of Z.

Our third main result establishes conditions under which the regularized vector field Z_{ε}^{Φ} has an asymptotically stable limit cycle Γ_{ε} converging to Γ . This result will be proved in Section 4.3.

Theorem C. Consider a Filippov system $Z = (X^+, X^-)_{\Sigma}$ and assume that X^+ satisfies hypothesis (**B**) for some $k \ge 1$. For $n \ge 2k - 1$, let $\Phi \in C_{ST}^{n-1}$ be given as (1.5). Then, the following statements hold.

- (a) Given $0 < \lambda < \lambda^* = \frac{n}{1+2k(n-1)}$, if the limit cycle Γ is unstable, then there exists $\rho > 0$ such that the regularized system Z_{ε}^{Φ} (1.4) does not admit limit cycles passing through the section $\hat{H}_{\rho,\lambda}^{\varepsilon} = [-\rho, -\varepsilon^{\lambda}] \times \{\varepsilon\}$, for $\varepsilon > 0$ sufficiently small.
- (b) Given $\frac{1}{2k} < \lambda < \lambda^* = \frac{n}{1+2k(n-1)}$, if the limit cycle Γ is asymptotically stable, then there exists $\rho > 0$ such that the regularized system Z_{ε}^{Φ} (1.4) admits a unique limit cycle Γ_{ε} passing through the section $\hat{H}_{\rho,\lambda}^{\varepsilon} = [-\rho, -\varepsilon^{\lambda}] \times \{\varepsilon\}$, for $\varepsilon > 0$ sufficiently small. Moreover, Γ_{ε} is asymptotically stable and ε -close to Γ .

Remark 4. Statement (a) and (b) of Theorem C guarantee, respectively, the nonexistence and uniqueness of limit cycles in a specific compact set with nonempty interior. However, since this set degenerates into Γ when ε goes to 0, it is not ensured, in general, the nonexistence and uniqueness of limit cycles converging to Γ . Nevertheless, if we assume, in addition, that X^+ has locally a unique isocline $x = \psi(y)$ of 2k-multiplicity contacts with the straight lines y = cte, then we get the nonexistence and uniqueness of limit cycles converging to Γ (see Chapter 5).

4.2 The first return map π

From the comments of Section 2.1, we can assume that, for some neighborhood $U \subset \mathbb{R}^2$ of the origin, $Z|_U$ is written as (2.1), which has its regularization given by (2.4).

Consider the transversal section $S = \{(x, y) \in U : x = 0\}$. From hypothesis **(B)**, the flow of Z defines a Poincaré map $\pi : S' \longrightarrow S$ around the limit cycle Γ . Here, $S' \subset S$ is an open set (in the topology induced by S) containing (0, 0). Accordingly, $\pi(0) = 0$ and, since Γ is hyperbolic, $\pi'(0) = K \neq 0$. Moreover, one can easily see that K > 0.

Denote by F the saturation of S' through the flow of X^+ until S. For each $\theta > 0$ and $\rho > 0$ small enough, we know from (2.1) that $\Sigma_{\theta} := \{x = \theta\} \cap F$ and $\Sigma_{-\rho} := \{x = -\rho\} \cap F$ are transversal to X^+ . Thus, the flow of X^+ induces a C^{2k} diffeomorphism $D : \Sigma_{\theta} \longrightarrow \Sigma_{-\rho}$, it is called exterior map. Accordingly, from Lemma 1 and hypothesis (**B**), $D(\bar{y}_{\theta}) = \bar{y}_{-\rho}$ and $r_{\theta,\rho} := \frac{dD}{dy}(\bar{y}_{\theta}) \neq 0$. Moreover, one can easily see that $r_{\theta,\rho} > 0$. Thus, expanding D around $y = \bar{y}_{\theta}$, we get

$$D(y) = \overline{y}_{-\rho} + r_{\theta,\rho}(y - \overline{y}_{\theta}) + \mathcal{O}((y - \overline{y}_{\theta})^2).$$
(4.1)

In order to prove Theorem C, we shall first establish the relationship between the derivative of the first return map K and the derivative of exterior map $r_{\theta,\rho}$ as follows.

Lemma 5. $\lim_{\theta,\rho\to 0} r_{\theta,\rho} = K.$

Proof. Notice that, for $\rho > 0$ and $\theta > 0$ small enough, the flow of X^+ induces the following C^{2k} maps,

$$\lambda_{\theta}: S' \to \{x = \theta\} \cap F \text{ and } \lambda_{\rho}: \{x = -\rho\} \cap F \to S \cap F,$$

which satisfies $\lambda_{\rho}(\overline{y}_{-\rho}) = 0$ and $\lambda_{\theta}(0) = \overline{y}_{\theta}$. Indeed, consider the functions

$$\mu_1(t, y, \theta) = \varphi_{X^+}^1(t, 0, y) - \theta, \text{ for } (0, y) \in S',$$

and

$$\mu_2(t, y, \rho) = \varphi_{X^+}^1(t, -\rho, y), \text{ for } (-\rho, y) \in \{x = -\rho\} \cap F.$$

Since, $\mu_1(0,0,0) = 0 = \mu_2(0,0,0),$

$$\frac{\partial \mu_1}{\partial t}(0,0,0) = \frac{\partial \varphi_{X^+}^1}{\partial t}(0,0,0) = 1 \neq 0, \quad \text{and} \quad \frac{\partial \mu_2}{\partial t}(0,0,0) = \frac{\partial \varphi_{X^+}^1}{\partial t}(0,0,0) = 1 \neq 0,$$

we get, by the *Implicit Function Theorem*, the existence of unique smooth functions $t_1(y, \theta)$ and $t_2(y, \rho)$ such that $t_1(0, 0) = 0 = t_2(0, 0)$,

$$\mu_1(t_1(y, heta),y, heta)=0, \quad ext{and} \quad \mu_2(t_2(y,
ho),y,
ho)=0,$$

i.e. $\varphi_{X^+}^1(t_1(y,\theta), 0, y) = \theta$ and $\varphi_{X^+}^1(t_2(y,\rho), -\rho, y) = 0$. Thus,

$$\lambda_{\theta}(y) = \varphi_{X^+}^2(t_1(y,\theta), 0, y) \text{ and } \lambda_{\rho}(y) = \varphi_{X^+}^2(t_2(y,\rho), -\rho, y).$$

Notice that

$$\frac{d\lambda_{\theta}}{dy}(0) = \frac{\partial \varphi_{X^+}^2}{\partial t} (t_1(0,\theta), 0, 0) \frac{\partial t_1}{\partial y}(0,\theta) + \frac{\partial \varphi_{X^+}^2}{\partial y} (t_1(0,\theta), 0, 0)$$

and

$$\frac{d\lambda_{\rho}}{dy}(\overline{y}_{-\rho}) = \frac{\partial\varphi_{X^{+}}^{2}}{\partial t}(t_{2}(\overline{y}_{-\rho},\rho),-\rho,\overline{y}_{-\rho})\frac{\partial t_{2}}{\partial y}(\overline{y}_{-\rho},\rho) + \frac{\partial\varphi_{X^{+}}^{2}}{\partial y}(t_{2}(\overline{y}_{-\rho},\rho),-\rho,\overline{y}_{-\rho}).$$

Since

$$\frac{\partial t_1}{\partial y}(0,0) = -\frac{\frac{\partial \varphi_{X^+}^1}{\partial y}(0,0,0)}{\frac{\partial \varphi_{X^+}^1}{\partial t}(0,0,0)} = -\frac{\partial \varphi_{X^+}^1}{\partial y}(0,0,0) = 0,$$
$$\frac{\partial t_2}{\partial y}(0,0) = -\frac{\frac{\partial \varphi_{X^+}^1}{\partial y}(0,0,0)}{\frac{\partial \varphi_{X^+}^1}{\partial t}(0,0,0)} = -\frac{\partial \varphi_{X^+}^1}{\partial y}(0,0,0) = 0,$$

and

$$\frac{\partial \varphi_{X^+}^2}{\partial y}(0,0,0) = 1,$$

we get that

$$\lim_{\theta \to 0} \frac{d\lambda_{\theta}}{dy}(0) = \frac{\partial \varphi_{X^+}^2}{\partial t} (t_1(0,0), 0, 0) \frac{\partial t_1}{\partial y}(0,0) + \frac{\partial \varphi_{X^+}^2}{\partial y} (t_1(0,0), 0, 0)$$
$$= \frac{\partial \varphi_{X^+}^2}{\partial t} (0,0,0) \left[-\frac{\partial \varphi_{X^+}^1}{\partial y} (0,0,0) \right] + \frac{\partial \varphi_{X^+}^2}{\partial y} (0,0,0)$$
$$= 1$$

$$(4.2)$$

and

$$\lim_{\rho \to 0} \frac{d\lambda_{\rho}}{dy}(\overline{y}_{-\rho}) = \frac{\partial \varphi_{X^+}^2}{\partial t}(t_2(0,0),0,0)\frac{\partial t_2}{\partial y}(0,0) + \frac{\partial \varphi_{X^+}^2}{\partial y}(t_2(0,0),0,0)$$
$$= \frac{\partial \varphi_{X^+}^2}{\partial t}(0,0,0)\left[-\frac{\partial \varphi_{X^+}^1}{\partial y}(0,0,0)\right] + \frac{\partial \varphi_{X^+}^2}{\partial y}(0,0,0)$$
$$= 1.$$
(4.3)

Finally, since $\pi = \lambda_{\rho} \circ D \circ \lambda_{\theta}$, we conclude that

$$\frac{d\pi}{dy}(0) = \frac{d\lambda_{\rho}}{dy} (D \circ \lambda_{\theta}(0)) \frac{dD}{dy} (\lambda_{\theta}(0)) \frac{d\lambda_{\theta}}{dy}(0)$$

$$= \frac{d\lambda_{\rho}}{dy} (\overline{y}_{-\rho}) r_{\theta,\rho} \frac{d\lambda_{\theta}}{dy}(0).$$

Therefore,

$$\frac{K}{r_{\theta,\rho}} = \frac{d\lambda_{\rho}}{dy} (\overline{y}_{-\rho}) \frac{d\lambda_{\theta}}{dy} (0).$$
(4.4)

The result follows by taking the limit of (4.4) and using (4.2) and (4.3).

4.3 Proof of Theorem C

By Theorem A for $\theta = x_{\varepsilon}$, there exist $\rho_0 > 0$, and constants $\beta < 0$ and c, r, q > 0 such that for every $\rho \in (\varepsilon^{\lambda}, \rho_0], \lambda \in (0, \lambda^*)$, and $\varepsilon > 0$ small enough, the flow of Z_{ε}^{Φ} defines a map U_{ε} between the transversal sections $\hat{V}_{\rho,\lambda}^{\varepsilon} = \{-\rho\} \times [\varepsilon, y_{\rho,\lambda}^{\varepsilon}]$ and $\tilde{V}_{x_{\varepsilon}}^{\varepsilon} = \{x_{\varepsilon}\} \times [y_{x_{\varepsilon}}^{\varepsilon}, y_{x_{\varepsilon}}^{\varepsilon} + re^{-\frac{c}{\varepsilon^{q}}}]$ satisfying

$$U_{\varepsilon}: \begin{array}{ccc} \widehat{V}_{\rho,\lambda}^{\varepsilon} & \longrightarrow & \widetilde{V}_{x_{\varepsilon}}^{\varepsilon} \\ y & \longmapsto & y_{x_{\varepsilon}}^{\varepsilon} + \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{c}{\varepsilon^{q}}}), \end{array}$$
(4.5)

where $y_{x_{\varepsilon}}^{\varepsilon} = \overline{y}_{x_{\varepsilon}} + \varepsilon + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{2k\lambda^*})$ (see Figure 18). Now, notice that there exists $\varepsilon_0 > 0$ such



Figure 18 – Upper Transition Map U_{ε} of the regularized system Z_{ε}^{Φ} . The dotted curve is the trajectory of X^+ passing through the visible regular-tangential singularity of multiplicity 2k. The red curve is the Fenichel manifold.

that

$$\widetilde{V}_{x_{\varepsilon}}^{\varepsilon} = \{x_{\varepsilon}\} \times [y_{x_{\varepsilon}}^{\varepsilon}, y_{x_{\varepsilon}}^{\varepsilon} + re^{-\frac{c}{\varepsilon^{q}}}] \subset \{x = x_{\varepsilon}\} \cap F,$$

for all $\varepsilon \in [0, \varepsilon_0]$. In this way, we define the function $\pi_{\varepsilon}(y) = D \circ U_{\varepsilon}(y)$. Thus, from (4.1) and (4.5), we have

$$\pi_{\varepsilon}(y) = D\left(\overline{y}_{x_{\varepsilon}} + \varepsilon + \mathcal{O}\left(\varepsilon^{2k\lambda^{*}}\right) + \mathcal{O}(e^{-c/\varepsilon^{q}})\right)$$

$$= D\left(\overline{y}_{x_{\varepsilon}} + \varepsilon + \mathcal{O}\left(\varepsilon^{2k\lambda^{*}}\right)\right)$$

$$= \overline{y}_{-\rho} + r_{x_{\varepsilon},\rho}\left(\varepsilon + \mathcal{O}\left(\varepsilon^{2k\lambda^{*}}\right)\right) + \mathcal{O}\left(\varepsilon + \mathcal{O}\left(\varepsilon^{2k\lambda^{*}}\right)\right)^{2}$$

$$= \overline{y}_{-\rho} + r_{x_{\varepsilon},\rho}\varepsilon + \mathcal{O}\left(\varepsilon^{2k\lambda^{*}}\right).$$

(4.6)

Using (3.4) and (4.6), we get

$$\pi_{\varepsilon}(y) - y_{\rho,\lambda}^{\varepsilon} = (r_{x_{\varepsilon},\rho} - 1)\varepsilon + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon\rho) - \beta\varepsilon^{2k\lambda} + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{(2k+1)\lambda}) + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{1+\lambda}) + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{2k\lambda^*}),$$

where $\beta < 0$. Recall that $0 < \lambda < \lambda^*$. Thus, we shall study the limit $\lim_{\rho,\varepsilon\to 0} \frac{\pi_{\varepsilon}(y) - y_{\rho,\lambda}^{\varepsilon}}{\varepsilon}$ in three distinct cases.

First, suppose that $\lambda > \frac{1}{2k}$. Then,

$$\frac{\pi_{\varepsilon}(y) - y_{\rho,\lambda}^{\varepsilon}}{\varepsilon} = r_{x_{\varepsilon},\rho} - 1 + \mathcal{O}(\rho) + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{2k\lambda - 1}).$$

Hence, by Lemma (5),

$$\lim_{\rho,\varepsilon\to 0} \frac{\pi_{\varepsilon}(y) - y_{\rho,\lambda}^{\varepsilon}}{\varepsilon} = K - 1.$$
(4.7)

Now, suppose that $\lambda < \frac{1}{2k}$. Then,

$$\frac{\pi_{\varepsilon}(y) - y_{\rho,\lambda}^{\varepsilon}}{\varepsilon^{2k\lambda}} = (r_{x_{\varepsilon},\rho} - 1)\varepsilon^{1-2k\lambda} + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{1-2k\lambda}\rho) - \beta + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{\lambda}) + \mathcal{O}\left(\varepsilon^{2k\lambda^* - 2k\lambda}\right).$$

Hence, by Lemma (5),

$$\lim_{\rho,\varepsilon\to 0} \frac{\pi_{\varepsilon}(y) - y_{\rho,\lambda}^{\varepsilon}}{\varepsilon^{2k\lambda}} = -\beta > 0.$$
(4.8)

Finally, suppose that $\lambda = \frac{1}{2k}$. Then,

$$\frac{\pi_{\varepsilon}(y) - y_{\rho,\lambda}^{\varepsilon}}{\varepsilon} = r_{x_{\varepsilon},\rho} - 1 - \beta + \mathcal{O}(\rho) + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{\lambda}) + \mathcal{O}\left(\varepsilon^{2k\lambda^{*}-1}\right).$$

Hence, by Lemma (5),

$$\lim_{\rho,\varepsilon\to 0} \frac{\pi_{\varepsilon}(y) - y_{\rho,\lambda}^{\varepsilon}}{\varepsilon} = K - 1 - \beta,$$
(4.9)

Now, we prove statement (a) of Theorem C. Since Γ is an unstable hyperbolic limit cycle, we know that K > 1. Consequently, all the above limits, (4.7), (4.8) and (4.9), are strictly positive and, since $\varepsilon > 0$, there exists $\delta_0 > 0$ such that

 $0 < \rho, \varepsilon < \delta_0 \implies \pi_{\varepsilon}(y) - y_{\rho,\lambda}^{\varepsilon} > 0.$

Hence, $\pi_{\varepsilon}([\varepsilon, y_{\rho,\lambda}^{\varepsilon}]) \cap [\varepsilon, y_{\rho,\lambda}^{\varepsilon}] = \emptyset$, for all $\varepsilon > 0$ small enough. This means that π_{ε} has no fixed points in $[\varepsilon, y_{\rho,\lambda}^{\varepsilon}]$ and, equivalently, the regularized system Z_{ε}^{Φ} does not admit limit cycles passing through the section $\hat{H}_{\rho,\lambda}^{\varepsilon}$.

Now, we prove statement (b) of Theorem C. In this case, $\lambda > \frac{1}{2k}$. Since Γ is an asymptotically stable hyperbolic limit cycle, we know that K < 1. Thus, the limit (4.7) is strictly negative and, since $\varepsilon > 0$, there exists $\delta_0 > 0$ such that

$$0 < \rho, \varepsilon < \delta_0 \implies \pi_{\varepsilon}(y) - y_{\rho,\lambda}^{\varepsilon} < 0.$$

Hence, $\pi_{\varepsilon}(y) < y_{\rho,\lambda}^{\varepsilon}$. Moreover, from (4.6), we get

$$\lim_{\rho,\varepsilon\to 0}\frac{\pi_\varepsilon(y)-\overline{y}_{-\rho}}{\varepsilon}=K>0.$$

Since $\varepsilon > 0$, there exists $\delta_1 > 0$ such that

$$0 < \rho, \varepsilon < \delta_1 \implies \pi_{\varepsilon}(y) - \overline{y}_{-\rho} > 0.$$

Hence, $\pi_{\varepsilon}(y) > \overline{y}_{-\rho}$, for all $\varepsilon > 0$ sufficiently small. This means that $\pi_{\varepsilon}([\varepsilon, y_{\rho,\lambda}^{\varepsilon}]) \subset [\varepsilon, y_{\rho,\lambda}^{\varepsilon}]$. From the *Brouwer Fixed Point Theorem*, we conclude that π_{ε} admits fixed points in $[\varepsilon, y_{\rho,\lambda}^{\varepsilon}]$ and, equivalently, the regularized system Z_{ε}^{Φ} admits limit cycles passing through the section $\hat{H}_{\rho,\lambda}^{\varepsilon}$.

In what follows, we prove the uniqueness of the fixed point in $[\varepsilon, y_{\rho,\lambda}^{\varepsilon}]$. Indeed, expanding D in Taylor series around $y = y_{x_{\varepsilon}}^{\varepsilon}$, we have that

$$D(y) = D(y_{x_{\varepsilon}}^{\varepsilon}) + \frac{dD}{dy}(y_{x_{\varepsilon}}^{\varepsilon})(y - y_{x_{\varepsilon}}^{\varepsilon}) + \mathcal{O}((y - y_{x_{\varepsilon}}^{\varepsilon})^{2}).$$

Thus,

such that

$$\begin{aligned} \pi_{\varepsilon}(y) &= D(y_{x_{\varepsilon}}^{\varepsilon} + \mathcal{O}(e^{-c/\varepsilon^{q}})) \\ &= D(y_{x_{\varepsilon}}^{\varepsilon}) + \frac{dD}{dy}(y_{x_{\varepsilon}}^{\varepsilon})\mathcal{O}(e^{-c/\varepsilon^{q}}) + \mathcal{O}(e^{-2c/\varepsilon^{q}}) \\ &= D(y_{x_{\varepsilon}}^{\varepsilon}) + \mathcal{O}(e^{-c/\varepsilon^{q}}), \end{aligned}$$

and, consequently, $|\pi_{\varepsilon}(y_1) - \pi_{\varepsilon}(y_2)| = \mathcal{O}(e^{-c/\varepsilon^q})$, for all $y_1, y_2 \in [\varepsilon, y_{\rho,\lambda}^{\varepsilon}]$. Now, consider the following function

$$\nu_{\varepsilon} : [\varepsilon, y_{\rho,\lambda}^{\varepsilon}] \longrightarrow [0,1]$$

$$y \longmapsto \frac{y}{y_{\rho,\lambda}^{\varepsilon} - \varepsilon} + \frac{\varepsilon}{\varepsilon - y_{\rho,\lambda}^{\varepsilon}}.$$
Notice that $\nu_{\varepsilon}^{-1}(u) = (y_{\rho,\lambda}^{\varepsilon} - \varepsilon)u + \varepsilon$. Hence, if $\widetilde{\pi}_{\varepsilon}(u) = \pi_{\varepsilon} \circ \nu_{\varepsilon}^{-1}(u)$, then

 $|\widetilde{\pi}_{\varepsilon}(u_1) - \widetilde{\pi}_{\varepsilon}(u_2)| = \mathcal{O}(e^{-c/\varepsilon^q}),$ for all $u_1, u_2 \in [0, 1]$. Fix $l \in (0, 1)$, take $u_1, u_2 \in [0, 1]$, and define the function $\ell(\varepsilon) = (y_{\rho,\lambda}^{\varepsilon} - \varepsilon)l$. There exists $\varepsilon(u_1, u_2) > 0$ and a neighborhood $U(u_1, u_2) \subset [0, 1]^2$ of (u_1, u_2)

$$|\widetilde{\pi}_{\varepsilon}(x) - \widetilde{\pi}_{\varepsilon}(y)| < \ell(\varepsilon)|x - y|,$$

for all $(x, y) \in U(u_1, u_2)$ and $\varepsilon \in (0, \varepsilon(u_1, u_2))$. Since $\{U(u_1, u_2) : (u_1, u_2) \in [0, 1]^2\}$ is an open cover of the compact set $[0, 1]^2$, there exists a finite sequence $(u_1^i, u_2^i) \in [0, 1]^2$, $i = 1, \ldots, s$, for which $\{U^i := U(u_1^i, u_2^i) : i = 1, \ldots, s\}$ still covers $[0, 1]^2$. Taking $\breve{\varepsilon} = \min\{\varepsilon(u_1^i, u_2^i) : i = 1, \ldots, s\}$, we obtain that

$$|\widetilde{\pi}_{\varepsilon}(x) - \widetilde{\pi}_{\varepsilon}(y)| < \ell(\varepsilon)|x - y|,$$

for all $\varepsilon \in (0, \check{\varepsilon})$ and $(x, y) \in [0, 1]^2$. Finally, since $\pi_{\varepsilon}(z) = \tilde{\pi}_{\varepsilon} \circ \nu(z)$, we get

$$\begin{aligned} |\pi_{\varepsilon}(x) - \pi_{\varepsilon}(y)| &< \ell(\varepsilon)|\nu_{\varepsilon}(x) - \nu_{\varepsilon}(y)| \\ &= l|x - y|, \end{aligned}$$

for all $\varepsilon \in (0, \check{\varepsilon})$ and $x, y \in [\varepsilon, y_{\rho,\lambda}^{\varepsilon}]$. Thus, we have concluded that π_{ε} is a contraction for $\varepsilon > 0$ small enough. By the *Banach Fixed Point Theorem*, π_{ε} admits a unique asymptotically stable fixed point for ε small enough. Therefore, the regularized system Z_{ε}^{Φ} admits a unique asymptotically stable limit cycle Γ_{ε} passing through the section $\hat{H}_{\rho,\lambda}^{\varepsilon}$, for ε sufficiently small. Moreover, since $y_{\rho,\lambda}^{\varepsilon} - \bar{y}_{-\rho} = \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon)$ and $x_{\varepsilon} - \bar{x}_{\varepsilon}^{+} = \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2k}})$, we get from differentiable dependency results on parameters and initial condition that Γ_{ε} is ε -close to Γ .

4.4 Piecewise Polynomial Example

This section is devoted to provide examples of piecewise polynomial transition functions and piecewise polynomial vector fields satisfying the hypotheses of Theorem C.

Proposition 9. For $n \ge 1$, consider

$$\phi_n(x) = (-1)^n \frac{(2n+1)!}{2^{2n}(n!)^2} \int_0^x (s-1)^n (s+1)^n ds$$

Define $\Phi_n : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ as $\Phi_n(x) = \phi_n(x)$ for $x \in (-1, 1)$, and $\Phi_n(x) = \operatorname{sign}(x)$ for $|x| \ge 1$. Then, $\Phi_n \in C_{ST}^n$ for every positive integer n.

Proof. Notice that $\phi_n(\pm 1) = \pm 1$ and

$$\phi'_n(x) = (-1)^n \frac{(2n+1)!}{2^{2n}(n!)^2} (x-1)^n (x+1)^n.$$

Thus, $\phi'_n(x) > 0$ for all $x \in (-1, 1)$, $\phi_n^{(i)}(\pm 1) = 0$ for i = 1, ..., n, and

$$\phi_n^{(n+1)}(\pm 1) = \prod_{i=1}^n (\mp 1)^n (2i+1) \neq 0.$$

Consequently, $\Phi_n \in C_{ST}^n$.

Now, consider the planar vector field $Z = (X^+, X^-)$, with $X^+ = (X_1^+, X_2^+)$ and $X^-(x, y) = (0, 1)$, where

$$X_1^+(x,y) = -x(-1+x^{2k}) + (-1+y)^{2k-1}(-1+x-xy),$$

and

$$X_2^+(x,y) = x^{2k-1} - (-1 + x^{2k} + (-1 + y)^{2k})(-1 + y), \text{ for } k > 1.$$

Define $\Sigma = h^{-1}(0)$, with h(x, y) = y. Notice that the vector field Z has a 2k-multiplicity contact with Σ at (0, 0). Indeed, $(X^+)^i h(0, 0) = 0$, for $i = 1, \ldots, 2k-1$, and $(X^+)^{2k} h(0, 0) = (2k-1)!$. Let $H(x, y) = 1 - x^{2k} - (y-1)^{2k}$ and consider the level curve $\Gamma = H^{-1}(0)$. Notice that

$$\left\langle DH(x,y), X^+(x,y) \right\rangle \Big|_{H^{-1}(0)} = 0,$$

thus, Γ is invariant through the flow of X^+ . Moreover, X^+ has no singularities in $H^{-1}(0)$. Then, by the *Poincaré Bendixson Theorem*, Γ is a periodic orbit of X^+ . Furthermore, for $(x, y) \in \Gamma$, we get

$$divX^{+}(x,y) = \frac{\partial X_{1}^{+}}{\partial x}(x,y) + \frac{\partial X_{2}^{+}}{\partial y}(x,y) = -2k < 0$$

Thus, given γ any parametrization of Γ , T its period, and S a transversal section of X^+ at $0 \in \gamma$, we have that the derivative of Poincaré map $\pi : S_0 \subset S \to S$ is given by

$$\frac{d\pi}{dt}(0) = exp\left[\int_0^T div X^+(\gamma(t))\right] = e^{-2kT}.$$



Figure 19 – Vector field Z and its regularized system Z_{ε}^{Φ} . The figure on the left shows the hyperbolic limit cycle Γ passing through the visible 2k-multiplicity contact with Σ at (0,0) and the figure on the right shows the limit cycle Γ_{ϵ} , for n = 6, k = 2, and $\Phi \in C_{ST}^5$ with $\phi(u) = -\frac{63}{319}u^{11} + \frac{35}{29}u^9 - \frac{90}{29}u^7 + \frac{126}{29}u^5 - \frac{105}{29}u^3 + \frac{63}{29}u$.

Consequently, we conclude that Γ is an asymptotically stable hyperbolic limit cycle of X^+ .

Hence, by Theorem C, we conclude that the regularized system Z_{ε}^{Φ} with $\Phi \in C_{ST}^{n-1}$ admits a unique asymptotically stable limit cycle Γ_{ε} passing through the section $\hat{H}_{\rho,\lambda}^{\varepsilon} = [-\rho, -\varepsilon^{\lambda}] \times \{\varepsilon\}$, for ε small enough (see Figure 19). Moreover, Γ_{ε} is ε -close to Γ .

Remark 5. If we multiply the polynomial vector field X^+ by -1, we have that X^+ has an unstable hyperbolic limit cycle. Then, by Theorem C we conclude that Z_{ε}^{Φ} does not admit limit cycles passing through the section $\hat{H}_{\rho,\lambda}^{\varepsilon}$, for ε sufficiently small (see Figure 20).



Figure 20 – The figure on the left shows the unstable hyperbolic limit cycle Γ of Z and the figure on the right shows that Z_{ε}^{Φ} has no limit cycles for ε small enough, n = 6, k = 2, and $\Phi \in C_{ST}^5$ with $\phi(u) = -\frac{63}{319}u^{11} + \frac{35}{29}u^9 - \frac{90}{29}u^7 + \frac{126}{29}u^5 - \frac{105}{29}u^3 + \frac{63}{29}u$.

5 Uniqueness and nonexistence of limit cycles

In the previous chapter, we proved statement (a) and (b) of Theorem C, which guaranteed, respectively, the nonexistence and uniqueness of limit cycles in a specific compact set with nonempty interior. Nevertheless, it is not ensured, in general, the nonexistence and uniqueness of limit cycles converging to Γ , because this compact set degenerates into Γ when $\varepsilon \to 0$. However, if we suppose, in addition, that X^+ has locally a unique isocline $x = \psi(y)$ of 2k-multiplicity contacts with the straight lines y = cte, then we have the nonexistence and uniqueness of limit cycles converging to Γ , respectively. For this, we shall first introduce a special map called the Mirror map of the regularized system Z_{ε}^{Φ} (1.4).

5.1 Mirror maps in the regularized system

Consider the nonsmooth vector field $Z = (X^+, X^-)$ and assume that X^+ satisfies the following hypotheses:

- (A) X^+ has a visible 2k-multiplicity contact with Σ at (0,0), $X_1^+(0,0) > 0$, and there exists a neighborhood $U \subset \mathbb{R}^2$ of (0,0) such that $X^-|_U = (0,1)$ and $\Sigma \cap U = \{(x,0) : x \in (-x_U, x_U)\};$
- (H) The limit cycle Γ of X^+ has locally a unique isocline $x = \psi(y)$ of 2k-multiplicity contacts with the straight lines $y = \varepsilon$, $\varepsilon > 0$ small enough;

for some $k \ge 1$. For $n \ge \max\{2, 2k - 1\}$, let $\Phi \in C_{ST}^{n-1}$ be given as (1.5) and consider the regularized system Z_{ε}^{Φ} (1.4). In what follows, we shall see that, for each $(x, \varepsilon) \in \{y = \varepsilon\}$ near to $(\psi(\varepsilon), \varepsilon)$ there exists a unique small time $t(x, \varepsilon)$ satisfying $t(x, \varepsilon) = 0$ if, and only if, $x = \psi(\varepsilon)$ and $\varphi_{Z_{\varepsilon}^{\Phi}}(t(x, \varepsilon), x, \varepsilon) \in \{y = \varepsilon\}$. In this case, we can define the following map

$$\rho_{\varepsilon}: V_{\psi(\varepsilon)}^{-} \subset \{y = \varepsilon\} \longrightarrow V_{\psi(\varepsilon)}^{+} \subset \{y = \varepsilon\}$$

$$(x, \varepsilon) \longmapsto \varphi_{Z_{\varepsilon}^{\Phi}}(t(x, \varepsilon), x, \varepsilon).$$

where $V_{\psi(\varepsilon)}^{-} = (\psi(\varepsilon) - \delta_{\varepsilon}^{-}, \psi(\varepsilon)] \times \{\varepsilon\}$ and $V_{\psi(\varepsilon)}^{+} = [\psi(\varepsilon), \psi(\varepsilon) + \delta_{\varepsilon}^{+}) \times \{\varepsilon\}$, for some positive real numbers $\delta_{\varepsilon}^{-}, \delta_{\varepsilon}^{+}$. Notice that $\rho_{\varepsilon}(\psi(\varepsilon), \varepsilon) = (\psi(\varepsilon), \varepsilon)$. The map ρ_{ε} is called *Mirror Map* associated with Z_{ε}^{Φ} at $\psi(\varepsilon)$ (see Figure 21).

First, consider the horizontal and vertical translations $u = x - \psi(\varepsilon)$ and $v = y - \varepsilon$, respectively. Notice that (u, v) = (0, 0) is a point on the isocline $u = \psi(v + \varepsilon) - \psi(\varepsilon)$ in the (u, v)-coordinates. Define the vector fields $X_{\varepsilon}^+(u, v) := X^+(u + \psi_{\varepsilon}(\varepsilon), v + \varepsilon)$ and $\widetilde{Z}_{\varepsilon}^{\Phi}(u, v) := Z_{\varepsilon}^{\Phi}(u + \psi(\varepsilon), v + \varepsilon)$. Expanding $\pi_2 \circ \varphi_{\widetilde{Z}_{\varepsilon}^{\Phi}}(t, u, 0)$ in Taylor series around t = 0, we get

$$\pi_2 \circ \varphi_{\widetilde{Z}_{\varepsilon}^{\Phi}}(t, u, 0) = \sum_{i=1}^{2k} \frac{(X_{\varepsilon}^+)^i h(u, 0)}{i!} t^i + \mathcal{O}(t^{2k+1}).$$
(5.1)



Figure 21 – Mirror Map ρ_{ε} of Z_{ε}^{Φ} at $\psi(\varepsilon)$.

From the construction of Section 2.1, it is easy to see that

$$(X_{\varepsilon}^{+})^{i}h(u,0) = \frac{\alpha_{\varepsilon}(2k-1)!}{(2k-i)!}u^{2k-i} + \mathcal{O}(u^{2k-i+1}),$$
(5.2)

for each $i \in \{1, \dots, 2k\}$, where

$$\alpha_{\varepsilon} = \frac{1}{(2k-1)!} \frac{\partial^{2k-1} f_{\varepsilon}}{\partial u^{2k-1}} (0,0) > 0 \text{ and } f_{\varepsilon}(u,v) = \frac{\pi_2 \circ X^+(u+\psi(\varepsilon),v+\varepsilon)}{\pi_1 \circ X^+(u+\psi(\varepsilon),v+\varepsilon)}.$$

Notice that $\alpha_0 = \alpha > 0$, which is given in (2.1). Now, we define the map

$$S(s, u, \varepsilon) = \frac{2k}{\alpha_{\varepsilon} u^{2k}} \pi_2 \circ \varphi_{\widetilde{Z}_{\varepsilon}^{\Phi}}(su, u, 0).$$

Using (5.1) and (5.2) we can rewrite S as

$$S(s, u, \varepsilon) = -1 + (1+s)^{2k} + \mathcal{O}(u, \varepsilon).$$

Since S(-2,0,0) = 0 and $\frac{\partial S}{\partial s}(-2,0,0) = -2k < 0$, by Implicit Function Theorem we get the existence of a smooth function $s(u,\varepsilon)$ such that s(0,0) = -2 and $S(s(u,\varepsilon), u,\varepsilon) = 0$. From the definition of S, for $t(u,\varepsilon) = us(u,\varepsilon)$ we have that $\pi_2 \circ \varphi_{\widetilde{Z}_{\varepsilon}^{\Phi}}(t(u,\varepsilon), u, 0) = 0$. Finally, expanding s around $(u,\varepsilon) = (0,0)$ we get that $s(u,\varepsilon) = -2 + \mathcal{O}(u,\varepsilon)$. Consequently, we can define the map $\widetilde{\rho}_{\varepsilon}$ in a neighborhood $V_0 \subset \Sigma$ of (0,0) by

$$\widetilde{\rho}_{\varepsilon}(u,0) = u + t(u,\varepsilon) = -u + \mathcal{O}(u^2,\varepsilon u).$$

Therefore, going back to the original coordinates, we conclude that

$$\rho_{\varepsilon}(x,\varepsilon) = -x + 2\psi(\varepsilon) + \mathcal{O}\left((x - \psi(\varepsilon))^2, \varepsilon(x - \psi(\varepsilon))\right).$$
5.2 The first return map π_{ε}

In what follows, we state the following proposition, which will be proved in Section 5.3.

Proposition 10. Consider a Filippov system $Z = (X^+, X^-)_{\Sigma}$ and assume that X^+ satisfies hypotheses (B) (see Section 4.1) and (H) for some $k \ge 1$. For $n \ge 2k - 1$, let $\Phi \in C_{ST}^{n-1}$ be given as (1.5). Then, the following statements hold.

- (a) If the limit cycle Γ is unstable, then for $\varepsilon > 0$ sufficiently small the regularized system Z_{ε}^{Φ} (1.4) does not admit limit cycles converging to Γ .
- (b) If the limit cycle Γ is asymptotically stable, then for $\varepsilon > 0$ sufficiently small the regularized system Z_{ε}^{Φ} (1.4) admits a unique limit cycle Γ_{ε} converging to Γ . Moreover, Γ_{ε} is hyperbolic and asymptotically stable.

Remark 6. Notice that a boundary limit cycle is a Σ -polycycle, thus we will generalize Proposition 10 in Section 6.1.2.

To prove Proposition 10 we need to define the first return map π_{ε} of Z_{ε}^{Φ} , for $\varepsilon > 0$ sufficiently small.

First of all, take $\rho, \varepsilon > 0$ small enough in order that the intersections of the trajectory of Z_{ε}^{Φ} starting at $(\psi(\varepsilon), \varepsilon)$ with the sections $\{x = -\rho\}$ and $\{x = x_{\varepsilon}\}$ are contained in U, namely $(-\rho, \overline{y}_{-\rho}^{\varepsilon})$ and $(x_{\varepsilon}, \overline{y}_{x_{\varepsilon}}^{\varepsilon})$, respectively. Since $\pi_1 \circ X^+(-\rho, \overline{y}_{-\rho}^{\varepsilon}) \neq 0$ and $\pi_1 \circ X^+(x_{\varepsilon}, \overline{y}_{x_{\varepsilon}}^{\varepsilon}) \neq 0$, then $\{x = -\rho\}$ and $\{x = x_{\varepsilon}\}$ are transversal sections of X^+ at the points $(-\rho, \overline{y}_{-\rho}^{\varepsilon})$ and $(x_{\varepsilon}, \overline{y}_{x_{\varepsilon}}^{\varepsilon})$, respectively. Hence, by [10, Theorem A] we know that there exist the transition maps T_{ε}^u : $[\psi(\varepsilon), x_{\varepsilon}] \times \{\varepsilon\} \longrightarrow \{x = x_{\varepsilon}\}$ and $T_{\varepsilon}^s : [-\rho, \psi(\varepsilon)] \times \{\varepsilon\} \longrightarrow \{x = -\rho\}$ satisfying

$$T^{u}_{\varepsilon}(x) = \overline{y}^{\varepsilon}_{x_{\varepsilon}} + \kappa^{u}_{x_{\varepsilon},\varepsilon}(x - \psi(\varepsilon))^{2k} + \mathcal{O}\left((x - \psi(\varepsilon))^{2k+1}\right),$$

$$T^{s}_{\varepsilon}(x) = \overline{y}^{\varepsilon}_{-\rho} + \kappa^{s}_{\rho,\varepsilon}(x - \psi(\varepsilon))^{2k} + \mathcal{O}\left((x - \psi(\varepsilon))^{2k+1}\right),$$
(5.3)

where $\operatorname{sign}(\kappa_{x_{\varepsilon},\varepsilon}^{u}) = -\operatorname{sign}((X^{+})^{2k}h(\psi(\varepsilon))) = \operatorname{sign}(\kappa_{\rho,\varepsilon}^{s})$, i.e. $\kappa_{x_{\varepsilon},\varepsilon}^{u}, \kappa_{\rho,\varepsilon}^{s} < 0$. Using the *Implicit Function Theorem*, it is easy to see that

$$(T^s_{\varepsilon})^{-1}(y) = \psi(\varepsilon) - \sqrt[2k]{\frac{1}{-\kappa^s_{\rho,\varepsilon}}} (\overline{y}^{\varepsilon}_{-\rho} - y)^{\frac{1}{2k}} + \mathcal{O}\left((\overline{y}^{\varepsilon}_{-\rho} - y)^{1+\frac{1}{2k}}\right).$$

Now, we know that there exists a diffeomorphism $P^e_{\varepsilon}: \{x = x_{\varepsilon}\} \longrightarrow \{x = -\rho\}$ given by

$$P^{e}_{\varepsilon}(y) = \overline{y}^{\varepsilon}_{-\rho} + K^{\varepsilon}_{x_{\varepsilon},\rho}(y - \overline{y}^{\varepsilon}_{x_{\varepsilon}}) + \mathcal{O}((y - \overline{y}^{\varepsilon}_{x_{\varepsilon}})^{2})$$

Finally, we get the first return map $\pi_{\varepsilon}: \{x = -\rho\} \longrightarrow \{x = -\rho\}$ defined as

$$\pi_{\varepsilon}(y) := P_{\varepsilon}^{e} \circ T_{\varepsilon}^{u} \circ \rho_{\varepsilon} \circ (T_{\varepsilon}^{s})^{-1}(y) = \overline{y}_{-\rho}^{\varepsilon} - \frac{K_{x_{\varepsilon},\rho}^{\varepsilon} \kappa_{x_{\varepsilon},\varepsilon}^{u}}{\kappa_{\rho,\varepsilon}^{s}} (\overline{y}_{-\rho}^{\varepsilon} - y) + \mathcal{O}((\overline{y}_{-\rho}^{\varepsilon} - y)^{p}) + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon),$$
(5.4)

for some p > 1.



Figure 22 – The first return map π_{ε} of Z_{ε}^{Φ} .

5.3 Proof of Proposition 10

First of all, if Γ_{ε} is a limit cycle of the regularized system Z_{ε}^{Φ} (1.4) converging to Γ (i.e. there exists a fixed point $(-\rho, y_{\varepsilon}^{\rho}) \in \{x = -\rho\}$ of π_{ε} such that $\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} y_{\varepsilon}^{\rho} = \overline{y}_{-\rho}$), then by (5.4) we get

$$\frac{d\pi_{\varepsilon}}{dy}(y) = \frac{K_{x_{\varepsilon},\rho}^{\varepsilon}\kappa_{x_{\varepsilon},\varepsilon}^{u}}{\kappa_{\rho,\varepsilon}^{s}} + \mathcal{O}\left((\overline{y}_{-\rho}^{\varepsilon} - y)^{p-1}\right).$$

It is easy to see that $\lim_{\varepsilon,\rho\to 0} \frac{\kappa_{x_{\varepsilon},\varepsilon}^u}{\kappa_{\rho,\varepsilon}^s} = 1$. Thus, using Lemma 5 we have that

$$\lim_{\varepsilon, \rho \to 0} \frac{d\pi_{\varepsilon}}{dy} (y_{\varepsilon}^{\rho}) = K$$

Hence, since Γ is hyperbolic, then K > 1 (resp. K < 1) provided that Γ is unstable (resp. asymptotically stable). Consequently, Γ_{ε} is hyperbolic and unstable (resp. asymptotically stable), for $\varepsilon > 0$ sufficiently small.

The proof of the first statement is by contradiction. Suppose that there exists a limit cycle Γ_{ε} of Z_{ε}^{Φ} such that Γ_{ε} converging to Γ , for $\varepsilon > 0$ small enough. Consider the region $\mathcal{B}_{\varepsilon}$ delimited by the curves $x = -\rho$, the limit cycle Γ_{ε} and the Fenichel manifold $S_{a,\varepsilon}$ associated with Z_{ε}^{Φ} , (see Figure 23). Since Γ_{ε} converges to the regular orbit Γ then $\mathcal{B}_{\varepsilon}$ has no singular points. In addition, it is easy to see that $\mathcal{B}_{\varepsilon}$ is positively invariant compact set, for $\varepsilon > 0$ small enough. For $\varepsilon > 0$ choose $q_{\varepsilon} \in \mathcal{B}_{\varepsilon}$, from the *Poincaré–Bendixson Theorem* $\omega(q_{\varepsilon}) \subset \mathcal{B}_{\varepsilon}$ is a limit cycle of Z_{ε}^{Φ} that is not unstable, absurd.

Now, we shall prove the second statement. Indeed, from Theorem C, for $\varepsilon > 0$ small enough, we know that Z_{ε}^{Φ} admits a asymptotically stable limit cycle Γ_{ε} converging to Γ . Moreover, from above we have that Γ_{ε} is hyperbolic. Finally, we claim that Γ_{ε} is the unique limit cycle with these properties. Indeed, suppose that there exists another limit cycle $\widetilde{\Gamma_{\varepsilon}}$ converging to Γ , hyperbolic and asymptotically stable. Now, consider the region $\mathcal{R}_{\varepsilon}$ delimited by the limit cycles Γ_{ε} and $\widetilde{\Gamma_{\varepsilon}}$. Notice that $\mathcal{R}_{\varepsilon}$ is negatively invariant compact



set. Furthermore, since Γ_{ε} and $\widetilde{\Gamma_{\varepsilon}}$ converges to the regular orbit Γ , we can conclude that $\mathcal{R}_{\varepsilon}$ has no singular points for $\varepsilon > 0$ small enough. For $\varepsilon > 0$ choose $q_{\varepsilon} \in \mathcal{R}_{\varepsilon}$, from the *Poincaré–Bendixson Theorem* we can conclude that $\alpha(q_{\varepsilon}) \subset \mathcal{R}_{\varepsilon}$ is a limit cycle of Z_{ε}^{Φ} that is not asymptotically stable, absurd.

6 Regularization of Σ -Polycycles

In Chapter 4, we stated Theorem C which studied C^n -regularizations of boundary limit cycles with a even multiplicity contact with the switching manifold. Notice that the simplest Σ -polycycle is the boundary limit cycle. Thus, our main interest here is to generalize Theorem C for homoclinic-like Σ -polycycles through Σ -singularities of planar Filippov systems.

6.1 Regularization of Σ -Polycycles of type (a)

In this section, we shall state and prove the fourth main result of this work, which in particular establishes sufficient conditions under which the regularized vector field Z_{ε}^{Φ} has a limit cycle Γ_{ε} converging to a Σ -polycycle of type (a). For this, suppose that a Filippov system $Z = (X^+, X^-)$ has a Σ -polycycle Γ of type (a). Through a local change of coordinates, we can assume that p = (0, 0) and h(x, y) = y. Without loss of generality, assume that:

- (a.1) $X_1^+(p) > 0;$
- (a.2) the trajectory of Z through p crosses Σ transversally m-times at q_1, \dots, q_m , i.e. if $m \neq 0$, then for each $i = 1, \dots, m$, there exists $t_i > 0$ such that $\varphi_Z(t_i, q_i) = q_{i+1}$, where $q_{m+1} = p$. Moreover, $\Gamma \cap \Sigma = \{q_1, \dots, q_m, p\}$.

We shall also assume that

(a.3)
$$X^{-}h(p) > 0.$$

The case $X^-h(p) < 0$ is obtained from this case multiplying the vector field Z by -1 (see Remark 7 below).

Notice that assumption (a.2) above guarantees the existence of an exterior map D associated to Z. In what follows, we characterize such a map D. Since $X_1^+(p) > 0$, implies that there exists an open set U such that $X_1^+(x, y) > 0$, for all $(x, y) \in U$. Take $\rho, \theta > 0$ small enough in order that the points $q^u = (\theta, \overline{y}_{\theta}) \in W_t^u(p)$ and $q^s = (-\rho, \overline{y}_{-\rho}) \in W_t^s(p)$ are contained in U. Hence, there exist $\delta^{u,s}$ and η positive numbers such that

$$\tau_t^u = \{(\theta, y) : y \in (\overline{y}_\theta - \delta^u, \overline{y}_\theta + \delta^u)\},$$

$$\tau_t^s = \{(-\rho, y) : y \in (\overline{y}_{-\rho} - \delta^s, \overline{y}_{-\rho} + \delta^s)\}, \text{ and } (6.1)$$

$$\sigma_p = \{0\} \times [0, \eta)$$

are transversal sections of X^+ . In addition, we know by the *Tubular Flow Theorem* that there exist the C^{2k} -diffeomorphisms $T^{u,s}: \sigma_p \longrightarrow \tau_t^{u,s}$ and $D: \tau_t^u \longrightarrow \tau_t^s$ such that $T^{u,s}(p) = q^{u,s}$ and $D(q^u) = q^s$ (see Figure 24). Thus, expanding D around $y = \overline{y}_{\theta}$, we get

$$D(y) = \overline{y}_{-\rho} + r_{\theta,\rho}(y - \overline{y}_{\theta}) + \mathcal{O}((y - \overline{y}_{\theta})^2), \qquad (6.2)$$



Figure 24 – Σ -polycycle Γ of type (a) satisfying (i) and (ii).

Now, from Definition 3, we know that there exists a first return map π_{Γ} defined, at least, in one side of Γ . In what follows, we shall see that there exist positive constants η and K such that the first return map $\pi_{\Gamma} : \sigma_p \to \sigma_p$ is given by

$$\pi_{\Gamma}(y) = Ky + \mathcal{O}(y^2), \text{ where } K > 0.$$
(6.3)

Indeed, expanding $T^{u,s}$ around y = 0, we have

$$T^{s}(y) = \overline{y}_{-\rho} + \kappa_{\rho}^{s} y + \mathcal{O}(y^{2}) \quad \text{and} T^{u}(y) = \overline{y}_{\theta} + \kappa_{\theta}^{u} y + \mathcal{O}(y^{2}),$$
(6.4)

with $\kappa_{\rho,\theta}^{s,u} = \frac{dT^{s,u}}{dy}(0)$. In addition, using (6.2) and the *Implicit Function Theorem*, we get

$$D^{-1}(y) = \overline{y}_{\theta} + \frac{1}{r_{\theta,\rho}}(y - \overline{y}_{-\rho}) + \mathcal{O}((y - \overline{y}_{-\rho})^2).$$
(6.5)

Moreover, one can easily see that $r_{\theta,\rho}, \kappa_{\rho,\theta}^{s,u} > 0$ for all θ, ρ sufficiently small. Hence, we can define the first return map $\pi_{\Gamma} : \sigma_p \longrightarrow \sigma_p$ by

$$\pi_{\Gamma}(y) = (D^{-1} \circ T^s)^{-1} \circ T^u(y).$$

From (6.4) and (6.5), we obtain $D^{-1} \circ T^s(y) = \overline{y}_{\theta} + \frac{\kappa_{\rho}^s}{r_{\theta,\rho}}y + \mathcal{O}(y^2)$. Thus, using the *Implicit* Function Theorem, we have that

$$(D^{-1} \circ T^s)^{-1}(y) = \frac{r_{\theta,\rho}}{\kappa_{\rho}^s} (y - \overline{y}_{\theta}) + \mathcal{O}((y - \overline{y}_{\theta})^2).$$
(6.6)

Therefore, using (6.4) and (6.6) we conclude that

$$\pi_{\Gamma}(y) = \frac{r_{\theta,\rho}\kappa_{\theta}^{u}}{\kappa_{\rho}^{s}}y + \mathcal{O}(y^{2}).$$
(6.7)

Consequently, taking $K := \frac{r_{\theta,\rho}\kappa_{\theta}^{u}}{\kappa_{\rho}^{s}} > 0$, we get (6.3).

Now, since D is a diffeomorphism induced by a regular orbit, we can easily see that the regularized system Z_{ε}^{Φ} also admits an exterior map $D_{\varepsilon} : \tau_t^u \longrightarrow \tau_t^s$. If we denote $S := \frac{\partial D_{\varepsilon}(0)}{\partial \varepsilon}\Big|_{\varepsilon=0}$, then

$$D_{\varepsilon}(y) = D(y) + S\varepsilon + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^2, \varepsilon y), \qquad (6.8)$$

See Section 6.1.3 for more details about the exterior map and how to estimate S.

In what follows, we state our first main result of this chapter, which will be proven in Section 6.1.1.

Theorem D. Consider a Filippov system $Z = (X^+, X^-)_{\Sigma}$ and assume that Z has a Σ -polycycle Γ of type (a) satisfying (a.1), (a.2), and (a.3). For $n \ge 2k - 1$, let $\Phi \in C_{ST}^{n-1}, K, S$ be given as (1.5), (6.3) and (6.8) respectively and consider the regularized system Z_{ε}^{Φ} (1.4). If $K + S - 1 \ne 0$, then the following statements hold:

- (a) Given $0 < \lambda < \lambda^* = \frac{n}{1+2k(n-1)}$, if K + S 1 > 0, then there exists $\rho > 0$ such that the regularized system Z_{ε}^{Φ} does not admit limit cycles passing through the section $\hat{H}_{\rho,\lambda}^{\varepsilon} = [-\rho, -\varepsilon^{\lambda}] \times \{\varepsilon\}$, for $\varepsilon > 0$ sufficiently small.
- (b) Given $\frac{1}{2k} < \lambda < \lambda^* = \frac{n}{1+2k(n-1)}$, if K + S 1 < 0, then there exists $\rho > 0$ such that the regularized system Z_{ε}^{Φ} admits a unique limit cycle Γ_{ε} passing through the section $\hat{H}_{\rho,\lambda}^{\varepsilon} = [-\rho, -\varepsilon^{\lambda}] \times \{\varepsilon\}$, for $\varepsilon > 0$ sufficiently small. Moreover, Γ_{ε} is asymptotically stable and ε -close to Γ .

Remark 7. In Theorem D we are assuming (a.3), i.e. $X^-h(p) > 0$. If $X^-h(p) < 0$, Theorem D can be applied to -Z. Consequently, the limit cycle obtained for Z, under the suitable assumptions, would be unstable.

In order to prove this theorem, we shall first establish the relationship between the derivative of the first return map K and the derivative of exterior map $r_{\theta,\rho}$ as follows.

Lemma 6. Consider $r_{\theta,\varepsilon}$ given as in (6.2). Then, $\lim_{\theta,\rho\to 0} r_{\theta,\rho} = K$.

Proof. Using equations (6.3) and (6.7) we get for $\theta, \rho > 0$ small enough that

$$r_{\theta,\rho} = \frac{K\kappa_{\rho}^s}{\kappa_{\theta}^u}.$$

To prove this lemma, we just need to prove that $\lim_{\theta, \rho \to 0} \frac{\kappa_{\rho}^s}{\kappa_{\theta}^u} = 1$, because in this case we have

$$\lim_{\theta,\rho\to 0} r_{\theta,\rho} = \lim_{\theta,\rho\to 0} \frac{K\kappa_{\rho}^{s}}{\kappa_{\theta}^{u}}$$
$$= K \lim_{\theta,\rho\to 0} \frac{\kappa_{\rho}^{s}}{\kappa_{\theta}^{u}}$$
$$= K.$$

For this, we shall prove that the flow of X^+ induces \mathcal{C}^{2k} maps,

$$\lambda_{\rho}^{s}: \sigma_{p}^{\prime} \subset \sigma_{p} \longrightarrow \tau_{t}^{s} \quad \text{and} \quad \lambda_{\theta}^{u}: \sigma_{p}^{\prime} \subset \sigma_{p} \longrightarrow \tau_{t}^{u},$$

between the transversal sections defined in (6.1) and satisfying $\lambda_{\rho}^{s}(0) = q^{s}$ and $\lambda_{\theta}^{u}(0) = q^{u}$, respectively. Indeed, consider the functions

$$\mu_1(t, y, \theta) = \varphi_{X^+}^1(t, 0, y) - \theta$$
, for $(0, y) \in \sigma_p$, $t \in I_{(0,y)}$,

and

$$\mu_2(t, y, \rho) = \varphi_{X^+}^1(t, 0, y) + \rho, \text{ for } (0, y) \in \sigma_p, \ t \in I_{(0, y)},$$

where $\varphi_{X^+} = (\varphi_{X^+}^1, \varphi_{X^+}^2)$ is the flow of X^+ and $I_{(0,y)}$ is the maximal interval of existence of $t \mapsto \varphi_{X^+}(t, 0, y)$. Since,

$$\mu_1(0,0,0) = 0 = \mu_2(0,0,0) \text{ and}$$
$$\frac{\partial \mu_{1,2}}{\partial t}(0,0,0) = \frac{\partial \varphi_{X^+}^1}{\partial t}(0,0,0) = X_1^+(p) \neq 0$$

by the Implicit Function Theorem there exist $\eta_0 > 0$ and smooth functions $t_1(y, \theta)$ and $t_2(y, \rho)$, with $(0, y) \in \sigma'_p := \{0\} \times [0, \eta_0) \subset \sigma_p$ and $\theta, \rho > 0$ sufficiently small, such that

$$t_1(0,0) = 0 = t_2(0,0),$$

 $\mu_1(t_1(y,\theta), y, \theta) = 0, \text{ and } \mu_2(t_2(y,\rho), y, \rho) = 0,$

i.e. $\varphi_{X^+}^1(t_1(y,\theta),0,y) = \theta$ and $\varphi_{X^+}^1(t_2(y,\rho),0,y) = -\rho$. Thus, we can define the functions

$$\lambda^u_\theta(y) = \varphi^2_{X^+}(t_1(y,\theta),0,y) \text{ and } \lambda^s_\rho(y) = \varphi^2_{X^+}(t_2(y,\rho),0,y)$$

Notice that

$$\frac{d\lambda_{\theta}^{u}}{dy}(0) = \frac{\partial \varphi_{X^{+}}^{2}}{\partial t}(t_{1}(0,\theta),0,0)\frac{\partial t_{1}}{\partial y}(0,\theta) + \frac{\partial \varphi_{X^{+}}^{2}}{\partial y}(t_{1}(0,\theta),0,0),0)$$

and

$$\frac{d\lambda_{\rho}^s}{dy}(0) = \frac{\partial\varphi_{X^+}^2}{\partial t}(t_2(0,\rho),0,0)\frac{\partial t_2}{\partial y}(0,\rho) + \frac{\partial\varphi_{X^+}^2}{\partial y}(t_2(0,\rho),0,0).$$

Since,

$$\frac{\partial t_1}{\partial y}(0,0) = -\frac{\frac{\partial \varphi_{X^+}^1}{\partial y}(0,0,0)}{\frac{\partial \varphi_{X^+}^1}{\partial t}(0,0,0)}, \quad \frac{\partial t_2}{\partial y}(0,0) = -\frac{\frac{\partial \varphi_{X^+}^1}{\partial y}(0,0,0)}{\frac{\partial \varphi_{X^+}^1}{\partial t}(0,0,0)}$$

and

$$\frac{\partial \varphi_{X^+}^1}{\partial y}(0,0,0) = 0, \ \frac{\partial \varphi_{X^+}^2}{\partial y}(0,0,0) = 1, \ \kappa_{\theta,\rho}^{s,u} = \frac{dT^{s,u}\Big|_{\sigma_p'}}{dy}(0) = \frac{d\lambda_{\rho,\theta}^{s,u}}{dy}(0),$$

we get that

$$\lim_{\theta \to 0} \kappa_{\theta}^{u} = \lim_{\theta \to 0} \frac{d\lambda_{\theta}^{u}}{dy}(0)$$

$$= \frac{\partial \varphi_{X^{+}}^{2}}{\partial t} (t_{1}(0,0),0,0) \frac{\partial t_{1}}{\partial y}(0,0) + \frac{\partial \varphi_{X^{+}}^{2}}{\partial y} (t_{1}(0,0),0,0)$$

$$= 1,$$
(6.9)

and

$$\lim_{\rho \to 0} \kappa_{\rho}^{s} = \lim_{\rho \to 0} \frac{d\lambda_{\rho}^{s}}{dy}(0) \\
= \frac{\partial \varphi_{X^{+}}^{2}}{\partial t} (t_{2}(0,0), 0, 0) \frac{\partial t_{2}}{\partial y}(0, 0) + \frac{\partial \varphi_{X^{+}}^{2}}{\partial y} (t_{2}(0,0), 0, 0) \\
= 1.$$
(6.10)

The result follows from (6.9) and (6.10).

6.1.1 Proof of Theorem D

First, from Theorem A for $\theta = x_{\varepsilon}$, there exist $\rho_0 > 0$, and constants $\beta < 0$ and c, r, q > 0 such that for every $\rho \in (\varepsilon^{\lambda}, \rho_0], \lambda \in (0, \lambda^*)$, and $\varepsilon > 0$ sufficiently small, the flow of Z_{ε}^{Φ} defines a map U_{ε} between the transversal sections $\hat{V}_{\rho,\lambda}^{\varepsilon} = \{-\rho\} \times [\varepsilon, y_{\rho,\lambda}^{\varepsilon}]$ and $\tilde{V}_{x_{\varepsilon}}^{\varepsilon} = \{x_{\varepsilon}\} \times [y_{x_{\varepsilon}}^{\varepsilon}, y_{x_{\varepsilon}}^{\varepsilon} + re^{-\frac{c}{\varepsilon^{q}}}]$ satisfying

$$\begin{array}{rcccc} U_{\varepsilon} : & \widehat{V}_{\rho,\lambda}^{\varepsilon} & \longrightarrow & \widetilde{V}_{x_{\varepsilon}}^{\varepsilon} \\ & y & \longmapsto & y_{x_{\varepsilon}}^{\varepsilon} + \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{c}{\varepsilon^{q}}}), \end{array} \tag{6.11}$$

where $y_{x_{\varepsilon}}^{\varepsilon} = \overline{y}_{x_{\varepsilon}} + \varepsilon + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{2k\lambda^*})$ (see Figure 25).



Figure 25 – Upper Transition Map U_{ε} of the regularized system Z_{ε}^{Φ} . The dotted curve is the trajectory of X^+ passing through the visible regular-tangential singularity of multiplicity $2k \ p = (0, 0)$. The red curve is the well-known Fenichel manifold.

Now, notice that there exists $\varepsilon_0 > 0$ such that $\widetilde{V}_{x_{\varepsilon}}^{\varepsilon} \subset \tau_t^u$, for all $\varepsilon \in [0, \varepsilon_0]$. In this way, for $\varepsilon \in [0, \varepsilon_0]$, we define the function $\pi_{\varepsilon}(y) = D_{\varepsilon} \circ U_{\varepsilon}(y)$. Hence, from (6.8) and

(6.11), we get

$$\pi_{\varepsilon}(y) = D_{\varepsilon} \left(y_{x_{\varepsilon}}^{\varepsilon} + \mathcal{O}(e^{-c/\varepsilon^{q}}) \right)$$

$$= D \left(\overline{y}_{x_{\varepsilon}} + \varepsilon + \mathcal{O}\left(\varepsilon^{2k\lambda^{*}}\right) \right) + \varepsilon S + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{2})$$

$$= \overline{y}_{-\rho} + r_{x_{\varepsilon},\rho} \left(\varepsilon + \mathcal{O}\left(\varepsilon^{2k\lambda^{*}}\right) \right) + \mathcal{O}\left(\varepsilon + \mathcal{O}\left(\varepsilon^{2k\lambda^{*}}\right) \right)^{2} + \varepsilon S + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{2})$$

$$= \overline{y}_{-\rho} + \left(r_{x_{\varepsilon},\rho} + S \right) \varepsilon + \mathcal{O}\left(\varepsilon^{2k\lambda^{*}}\right).$$
(6.12)

Using (6.12) and (3.1), we have

$$\pi_{\varepsilon}(y) - y_{\rho,\lambda}^{\varepsilon} = (r_{x_{\varepsilon},\rho} + S - 1)\varepsilon + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon\rho) - \beta\varepsilon^{2k\lambda} + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{(2k+1)\lambda}) + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{1+\lambda}) + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{2k\lambda^*}).$$

Hence, we must study the limit $\lim_{\rho,\varepsilon\to 0} \frac{\pi_{\varepsilon}(y) - y_{\rho,\lambda}^{\varepsilon}}{\varepsilon}$ in three distinct cases. First, assume that $\lambda > \frac{1}{2k}$. Then,

$$\frac{\pi_{\varepsilon}(y) - y_{\rho,\lambda}^{\varepsilon}}{\varepsilon} = r_{x_{\varepsilon},\rho} + S - 1 + \mathcal{O}(\rho) - \beta \varepsilon^{2k\lambda - 1} + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{(2k+1)\lambda - 1}) + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{\lambda}) + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{2k\lambda^* - 1}).$$

Thus, by Lemma 6,

$$\lim_{\rho,\varepsilon\to 0} \frac{\pi_{\varepsilon}(y) - y_{\rho,\lambda}^{\varepsilon}}{\varepsilon} = K + S - 1.$$
(6.13)

Now, suppose that
$$\lambda < \frac{1}{2k}$$
. Then,

$$\frac{\pi_{\varepsilon}(y) - y_{\rho,\lambda}^{\varepsilon}}{\varepsilon^{2k\lambda}} = (r_{x_{\varepsilon},\rho} + S - 1)\varepsilon^{1-2k\lambda} + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{1-2k\lambda}\rho) - \beta + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{\lambda}) + \mathcal{O}\left(\varepsilon^{2k(\lambda^*-\lambda)}\right).$$

Hence, by Lemma 6,

$$\lim_{\rho,\varepsilon\to 0} \frac{\pi_{\varepsilon}(y) - y_{\rho,\lambda}^{\varepsilon}}{\varepsilon^{2k\lambda}} = -\beta > 0.$$
(6.14)

Finally, assume that $\lambda = \frac{1}{2k}$. Then,

$$\frac{\pi_{\varepsilon}(y) - y_{\rho,\lambda}^{\varepsilon}}{\varepsilon} = r_{x_{\varepsilon},\rho} + S - 1 - \beta + \mathcal{O}(\rho) + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{\lambda}) + \mathcal{O}\left(\varepsilon^{2k\lambda^{*}-1}\right).$$

Thus, by Lemma 6,

$$\lim_{\rho,\varepsilon\to 0} \frac{\pi_{\varepsilon}(y) - y_{\rho,\lambda}^{\varepsilon}}{\varepsilon} = K + S - 1 - \beta.$$
(6.15)

Now, we prove statement (a) of Theorem D. As K + S - 1 > 0, then all the above limits (6.13), (6.14) and (6.15), are strictly positive and, since $\varepsilon > 0$, there exists $\delta_0 > 0$ such that

$$0 < \rho, \varepsilon < \delta_0 \implies \pi_{\varepsilon}(y) - y_{\rho,\lambda}^{\varepsilon} > 0.$$

Therefore, $\pi_{\varepsilon}([\varepsilon, y_{\rho,\lambda}^{\varepsilon}]) \cap [\varepsilon, y_{\rho,\lambda}^{\varepsilon}] = \emptyset$, for all $\varepsilon \in (0, \delta_0)$. This means that π_{ε} has no fixed points in $[\varepsilon, y_{\rho,\lambda}^{\varepsilon}]$, that is, the regularized system Z_{ε}^{Φ} does not admit limit cycles passing through the section $\hat{H}_{\rho,\lambda}^{\varepsilon}$.

Now, we prove statement (b) of Theorem D. In this case, $\lambda > \frac{1}{2k}$. As K+S-1 < 0, then the limit (6.13) is strictly negative and, since $\varepsilon > 0$, there exists $\delta_0 > 0$ such that

$$0 < \rho, \varepsilon < \delta_0 \implies \pi_{\varepsilon}(y) - y_{\rho,\lambda}^{\varepsilon} < 0.$$

Consequently, $\pi_{\varepsilon}(y) < y_{\rho,\lambda}^{\varepsilon}$. Moreover, from (6.12), we get

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \pi_{\varepsilon}(y) - \varepsilon = \overline{y}_{-\rho} > 0$$

for all $\rho > 0$. Since $\varepsilon > 0$, there exists $\delta_1 > 0$ such that

$$0 < \varepsilon < \delta_1 \implies \pi_{\varepsilon}(y) - \varepsilon > 0.$$

Accordingly, $\pi_{\varepsilon}(y) > \varepsilon$, for $\varepsilon > 0$ sufficiently small. This means that $\pi_{\varepsilon}([\varepsilon, y_{\rho,\lambda}^{\varepsilon}]) \subset [\varepsilon, y_{\rho,\lambda}^{\varepsilon}]$. By the *Brouwer Fixed Point Theorem*, we can conclude that π_{ε} admits fixed points in $[\varepsilon, y_{\rho,\lambda}^{\varepsilon}]$, that is, the regularized system Z_{ε}^{Φ} has limit cycles passing through the section $\hat{H}_{\rho,\lambda}^{\varepsilon}$.

In what follows, we will prove the uniqueness of the fixed point in $[\varepsilon, y_{\rho,\lambda}^{\varepsilon}]$. Indeed, expanding D_{ε} in Taylor series around $y = y_{x_{\varepsilon}}^{\varepsilon}$, we have that

$$D_{\varepsilon}(y) = D_{\varepsilon}(y_{x_{\varepsilon}}^{\varepsilon}) + \frac{dD_{\varepsilon}}{dy}(y_{x_{\varepsilon}}^{\varepsilon})(y - y_{x_{\varepsilon}}^{\varepsilon}) + \mathcal{O}((y - y_{x_{\varepsilon}}^{\varepsilon})^2).$$

Hence,

$$\begin{aligned} \pi_{\varepsilon}(y) &= D_{\varepsilon}(y_{x_{\varepsilon}}^{\varepsilon} + \mathcal{O}(e^{-c/\varepsilon^{q}})) \\ &= D_{\varepsilon}(y_{x_{\varepsilon}}^{\varepsilon}) + \frac{dD_{\varepsilon}}{dy}(y_{x_{\varepsilon}}^{\varepsilon})\mathcal{O}(e^{-c/\varepsilon^{q}}) + \mathcal{O}(e^{-2c/\varepsilon^{q}}) \\ &= D_{\varepsilon}(y_{x_{\varepsilon}}^{\varepsilon}) + \mathcal{O}(e^{-c/\varepsilon^{q}}), \end{aligned}$$

and, therefore, $|\pi_{\varepsilon}(y_1) - \pi_{\varepsilon}(y_2)| = \mathcal{O}(e^{-c/\varepsilon^q})$, for all $y_1, y_2 \in [\varepsilon, y_{\rho,\lambda}^{\varepsilon}]$. Now, let ν_{ε} be the function given by

$$\begin{array}{ccc} \nu_{\varepsilon} : [\varepsilon, y_{\rho, \lambda}^{\varepsilon}] & \longrightarrow & [0, 1] \\ y & \longmapsto & \frac{y - \varepsilon}{y_{\rho, \lambda}^{\varepsilon} - \varepsilon} \end{array}$$

Notice that $\nu_{\varepsilon}^{-1}(u) = (y_{\rho,\lambda}^{\varepsilon} - \varepsilon)u + \varepsilon$. Thus, if $\widetilde{\pi}_{\varepsilon}(u) = \pi_{\varepsilon} \circ \nu_{\varepsilon}^{-1}(u)$, then

$$|\widetilde{\pi}_{\varepsilon}(u_1) - \widetilde{\pi}_{\varepsilon}(u_2)| = \mathcal{O}(e^{-c/\varepsilon^q}),$$

for all $u_1, u_2 \in [0, 1]$. Fix $l \in (0, 1)$, take $u_1, u_2 \in [0, 1]$, and define the function $\ell(\varepsilon) := (y_{\rho,\lambda}^{\varepsilon} - \varepsilon)l$. There exists $\varepsilon(u_1, u_2) > 0$ and a neighborhood $U(u_1, u_2) \subset [0, 1]^2$ of (u_1, u_2) such that

$$|\widetilde{\pi}_{\varepsilon}(x) - \widetilde{\pi}_{\varepsilon}(y)| < \ell(\varepsilon)|x - y|,$$

for all $(x, y) \in U(u_1, u_2)$ and $\varepsilon \in (0, \varepsilon(u_1, u_2))$. Since $\{U(u_1, u_2) : (u_1, u_2) \in [0, 1]^2\}$ is an open cover of the compact set $[0, 1]^2$, there exists a finite sequence $(u_1^i, u_2^i) \in [0, 1]^2$, $i = 1, \ldots, s$, for which $\{U^i := U(u_1^i, u_2^i) : i = 1, \ldots, s\}$ still covers $[0, 1]^2$. Taking $\breve{\varepsilon} = \min\{\varepsilon(u_1^i, u_2^i) : i = 1, \ldots, s\}$, we get

$$|\widetilde{\pi}_{\varepsilon}(x) - \widetilde{\pi}_{\varepsilon}(y)| < \ell(\varepsilon)|x - y|,$$

for all $\varepsilon \in (0, \check{\varepsilon})$ and $(x, y) \in [0, 1]^2$. Finally, since $\pi_{\varepsilon}(z) = \tilde{\pi}_{\varepsilon} \circ \nu(z)$, we have that

$$\begin{aligned} \pi_{\varepsilon}(x) - \pi_{\varepsilon}(y)| &= |\widetilde{\pi}_{\varepsilon} \circ \nu_{\varepsilon}(x) - \widetilde{\pi}_{\varepsilon} \circ \nu_{\varepsilon}(y)| \\ &< \ell(\varepsilon)|\nu_{\varepsilon}(x) - \nu_{\varepsilon}(y)| \\ &= \frac{\ell(\varepsilon)}{y_{\rho,\lambda}^{\varepsilon} - \varepsilon}|x - y| \\ &= l|x - y|, \end{aligned}$$

for all $\varepsilon \in (0, \check{\varepsilon})$ and $x, y \in [\varepsilon, y_{\rho,\lambda}^{\varepsilon}]$. Therefore, π_{ε} is a contraction for $\varepsilon > 0$ small enough. From the *Banach Fixed Point Theorem*, π_{ε} admits a unique asymptotically stable fixed point for $\varepsilon > 0$ small enough. Therefore, the regularized system Z_{ε}^{Φ} has a unique asymptotically stable limit cycle Γ_{ε} passing through the section $\hat{H}_{\rho,\lambda}^{\varepsilon}$, for $\varepsilon > 0$ sufficiently small. Moreover, since $\pi_{\varepsilon}(y) - \overline{y}_{-\rho} = \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon)$ for all $y \in [\varepsilon, y_{\rho,\lambda}^{\varepsilon}]$ and $x_{\varepsilon} - \overline{x}_{\varepsilon}^{+} = \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2k}})$, we get from differentiable dependency results on parameters and initial condition that Γ_{ε} is ε -close to Γ .

6.1.2 A case of uniqueness and nonexistence of limit cycles

The goal of this session is to obtain a version of Proposition 10 for Σ -polycycles of type (a). More specifically, we know that statement (a) and (b) of Theorem D guarantee, respectively, the nonexistence and uniqueness of limit cycles in a specific compact set with nonempty interior. However, it is not ensured, in general, the nonexistence and uniqueness of limit cycles converging to Γ , because this compact set degenerates into Γ when $\varepsilon \to 0$. Nevertheless, if we suppose, in addition, that X^+ has locally a unique isocline $x = \psi(y)$ of 2k-multiplicity contacts with the straight lines y = cte and K > 1 or K < 1, then we can establish the nonexistence and uniqueness of limit cycles converging to Γ , respectively. More precisely, consider the following proposition.

Proposition 11. Let $Z = (X^+, X^-)_{\Sigma}$ be a Filippov system and assume that Z has a Σ -polycycle Γ of type a) satisfying (a.1), (a.2), and (a.3). For $n \ge 2k-1$, let $\Phi \in C_{ST}^{n-1}, K, S$ be given as (1.5), (6.3) and (6.8) respectively and consider the regularized system Z_{ε}^{Φ} (1.4). If $K + S - 1 \ne 0$ and X^+ has locally a unique isocline $x = \psi(y)$ of 2k-multiplicity contacts with the straight lines $y = \varepsilon$, then the following statements hold.

- (a) If K + S 1 > 0 and K > 1, then for $\varepsilon > 0$ sufficiently small the regularized system Z_{ε}^{Φ} does not admit limit cycles converging to Γ .
- (b) If K + S 1 < 0 and K < 1, then for $\varepsilon > 0$ sufficiently small the regularized system Z_{ε}^{Φ} admits a unique limit cycle Γ_{ε} converging to Γ . Moreover, Γ_{ε} is hyperbolic and asymptotically stable.

Remark 8. In Proposition 11 we are assuming (a.3), i.e. $X^-h(p) > 0$. If $X^-h(p) < 0$, Proposition 11 can be applied to -Z. Consequently, the unique limit cycle obtained for Z, under the suitable assumptions, would be unstable.

Proof. We will do this demonstration in 3 steps:

Step 1. First of all, we shall construct the first return map π_{ε} of Z_{ε}^{Φ} , for $\varepsilon > 0$. Since $X_1^+(p) > 0$, implies that there exist an open set U, such that $X_1^+(x, y) \neq 0$, for all $(x, y) \in U$. Take $\rho, \varepsilon > 0$ small enough in order that the points $q_{\varepsilon}^u = (x_{\varepsilon}, \overline{y}_{x_{\varepsilon}}^{\varepsilon}) \in W_t^u(\psi(\varepsilon))$ and $q_{\varepsilon}^s = (-\rho, \overline{y}_{-\rho}^{\varepsilon}) \in W_t^s(\psi(\varepsilon))$ are contained in U. Thus, there exist $\delta_{\varepsilon}^{u,s}$ positive numbers, such that

$$\begin{aligned} \tau^{u}_{t,\varepsilon} &= \{ (x_{\varepsilon}, y) : y \in (\overline{y}^{\varepsilon}_{x_{\varepsilon}} - \delta^{u}_{\varepsilon}, \overline{y}^{\varepsilon}_{x_{\varepsilon}} + \delta^{u}_{\varepsilon}) \}, \\ \tau^{s}_{t,\varepsilon} &= \{ (-\rho, y) : y \in (\overline{y}^{\varepsilon}_{-\rho} - \delta^{s}_{\varepsilon}, \overline{y}^{\varepsilon}_{-\rho} + \delta^{s}_{\varepsilon}) \} \end{aligned}$$

are transversal sections of X^+ . Thus, by [10, Theorem A] we know that there exist the transition maps $T^u_{\varepsilon}: \sigma^+_{p,\varepsilon} := [\psi(\varepsilon), x_{\varepsilon}] \times \{\varepsilon\} \longrightarrow \tau^u_{t,\varepsilon}$ and $T^s_{\varepsilon}: \sigma^-_{p,\varepsilon} := [-\rho, \psi(\varepsilon)] \times \{\varepsilon\} \longrightarrow \tau^s_{t,\varepsilon}$ satisfying

$$T^{u}_{\varepsilon}(x) = \overline{y}^{\varepsilon}_{x_{\varepsilon}} + \kappa^{u}_{x_{\varepsilon},\varepsilon}(x - \psi(\varepsilon))^{2k} + \mathcal{O}\left((x - \psi(\varepsilon))^{2k+1}\right),$$

$$T^{s}_{\varepsilon}(x) = \overline{y}^{\varepsilon}_{-\rho} + \kappa^{s}_{\rho,\varepsilon}(x - \psi(\varepsilon))^{2k} + \mathcal{O}\left((x - \psi(\varepsilon))^{2k+1}\right),$$
(6.16)

where $\operatorname{sign}(\kappa_{x_{\varepsilon},\varepsilon}^{u}) = -\operatorname{sign}((X^{+})^{2k}h(\psi(\varepsilon))) = \operatorname{sign}(\kappa_{\rho,\varepsilon}^{s})$, i.e. $\kappa_{x_{\varepsilon},\varepsilon}^{u}, \kappa_{\rho,\varepsilon}^{s} < 0$. Furthermore, from *Implicit Function Theorem*, it is easy to see that

$$(T^s_{\varepsilon})^{-1}(y) = \psi(\varepsilon) - \sqrt[2k]{\frac{1}{-\kappa^s_{\rho,\varepsilon}}} (\overline{y}^{\varepsilon}_{-\rho} - y)^{\frac{1}{2k}} + \mathcal{O}\left((\overline{y}^{\varepsilon}_{-\rho} - y)^{1+\frac{1}{2k}}\right).$$

Now, we know that there exists a diffeomorphism $P^e_{\varepsilon}: \tau^u_{t,\varepsilon} \longrightarrow \tau^s_{t,\varepsilon}$ defined as

$$P^{e}_{\varepsilon}(y) = \overline{y}^{\varepsilon}_{-\rho} + r^{\varepsilon}_{x_{\varepsilon},\rho}(y - \overline{y}^{\varepsilon}_{x_{\varepsilon}}) + \mathcal{O}((y - \overline{y}^{\varepsilon}_{x_{\varepsilon}})^{2}) + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon).$$

Consequently, we get the map $\pi_{\varepsilon} : \tau^s_{t,\varepsilon} \longrightarrow \tau^s_{t,\varepsilon}$ given by



Figure 26 – The first return map π_{ε} of Z_{ε}^{Φ} .

$$\pi_{\varepsilon}(y) = P_{\varepsilon}^{e} \circ T_{\varepsilon}^{u} \circ \rho_{\varepsilon} \circ (T_{\varepsilon}^{s})^{-1}(y) = \overline{y}_{-\rho}^{\varepsilon} - \frac{r_{x_{\varepsilon},\rho}^{\varepsilon} \kappa_{x_{\varepsilon},\varepsilon}^{u}}{\kappa_{\rho,\varepsilon}^{s}} (\overline{y}_{-\rho}^{\varepsilon} - y) + \mathcal{O}((\overline{y}_{-\rho}^{\varepsilon} - y)^{p}) + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon)$$

$$(6.17)$$

for some p > 1, where ρ_{ε} is the *mirror map* associated with Z_{ε}^{Φ} at $\psi(\varepsilon)$ (see Section 5.1).

Step 2. Now, if Γ_{ε} is a limit cycle of the regularized system Z_{ε}^{Φ} converging to Γ (i.e. there exists a fixed point $(-\rho, y_{\varepsilon}^{\rho}) \in \tau_{t,\varepsilon}^{s}$ of π_{ε} such that $\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} y_{\varepsilon}^{\rho} = \overline{y}_{-\rho}$), then by (6.17) we have

$$\frac{d\pi_{\varepsilon}}{dy}(y) = \frac{r_{x_{\varepsilon},\rho}^{\varepsilon}\kappa_{x_{\varepsilon},\varepsilon}^{u}}{\kappa_{\rho,\varepsilon}^{s}} + \mathcal{O}\left((\overline{y}_{-\rho}^{\varepsilon} - y)^{p-1}\right)$$

It is easy to see that $\lim_{\varepsilon,\rho\to 0} \frac{\kappa_{x_{\varepsilon},\varepsilon}^u}{\kappa_{\rho,\varepsilon}^s} = 1$. Hence, using Lemma 6, we get

$$\lim_{\varepsilon,\rho\to 0} \frac{d\pi_{\varepsilon}}{dy}(y_{\varepsilon}^{\rho}) = K$$

Therefore, if K > 1 (resp. K < 1), then Γ_{ε} is hyperbolic and unstable (resp. asymptotically stable), for $\varepsilon > 0$ small enough.



Step 3. Finally, we are ready to prove this proposition. The proof of the first statement is by contradiction. Assume that there exists a limit cycle Γ_{ε} of Z_{ε}^{Φ} such that Γ_{ε} converging to Γ , for $\varepsilon > 0$ sufficiently small. Let $\mathcal{B}_{\varepsilon}$ be the region delimited by the curves $x = -\rho$, the limit cycle Γ_{ε} and the Fenichel manifold $S_{a,\varepsilon}$ associated with Z_{ε}^{Φ} , (see Figure 27). Since Γ_{ε} converges to the regular orbit Γ then $\mathcal{B}_{\varepsilon}$ has no singular points. Moreover, it is easy to see that $\mathcal{B}_{\varepsilon}$ is positively invariant compact set, for $\varepsilon > 0$ small enough. For $\varepsilon > 0$ choose $q_{\varepsilon} \in \mathcal{B}_{\varepsilon}$, from the *Poincaré–Bendixson Theorem* $\omega(q_{\varepsilon}) \subset \mathcal{B}_{\varepsilon}$ is a limit cycle of Z_{ε}^{Φ} which is not unstable, but this contradicts step 2.

Now, we prove the second statement. By Theorem D, for $\varepsilon > 0$ sufficiently small, we know that Z_{ε}^{Φ} has a asymptotically stable limit cycle Γ_{ε} converging to Γ . In addition, from step 2 we have that Γ_{ε} is hyperbolic. Finally, we claim that Γ_{ε} is the unique limit cycle with these properties. In fact, assume that there exists another limit cycle $\widetilde{\Gamma_{\varepsilon}}$ converging to Γ , hyperbolic and asymptotically stable. Now, let $\mathcal{R}_{\varepsilon}$ be the region delimited by the limit cycles Γ_{ε} and $\widetilde{\Gamma_{\varepsilon}}$. Notice that $\mathcal{R}_{\varepsilon}$ is negatively invariant compact set. Furthermore, since Γ_{ε} and $\widetilde{\Gamma_{\varepsilon}}$ converges to the regular orbit Γ , we can conclude that $\mathcal{R}_{\varepsilon}$ has no singular points for $\varepsilon > 0$ small enough. For $\varepsilon > 0$ choose $q_{\varepsilon} \in \mathcal{R}_{\varepsilon}$, from the *Poincaré–Bendixson Theorem* we can conclude that $\alpha(q_{\varepsilon}) \subset \mathcal{R}_{\varepsilon}$ is a limit cycle of Z_{ε}^{Φ} that is not asymptotically stable, but this contradicts step 2.

6.1.3 The exterior map of the regularized system

In this section, we shall study the exterior map of the regularized system Z_{ε}^{Φ} and its derivative.

Let Z = (X, Y) be a Filippov system with $X, Y : V \subset \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}^2$ vector fields of class \mathcal{C}^{2k} defined on an open set V of $q \in \mathbb{R}^2$ and Z_{ε}^{Φ} the regularized system associated with Z. Assume that the switching manifold Σ of Z is a \mathcal{C}^{2k} embedded codimension one submanifold of V and let $q \in \Sigma^c$.

Notice that there exists a local \mathcal{C}^{2k} diffeomorphism $\psi_1 : U \subset \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}^2$ defined on an open set U of $q \in \mathbb{R}^2$ such that $\widetilde{\Sigma} = \psi_1(\Sigma) = h^{-1}(0)$, with h(x, y) = x. Now, applying the *Tubular Flow Theorem* for $(\psi_1)_*Y$ at q and considering the transversal section $\widetilde{\Sigma}$, there exists a local \mathcal{C}^{2k} diffeomorphism ψ_2 defined on U (taken smaller if necessary) such that $\widetilde{Y} = (\psi_2 \circ \psi_1)_*Y = (1, 0)$ and $\psi_2(\widetilde{\Sigma}) = \widetilde{\Sigma}$.

Since $X_1(q) > 0$ then $X_1(x, y) > 0$ for all $(x, y) \in U$ (taken smaller if necessary). Consequently, we can perform a time rescaling in X, thus we get $\hat{X}(x, y) = (1, X_2(x, y)/X_1(x, y))$, for all $(x, y) \in U$. Hence, without loss of generality, we can assume that there exists an open set $U \subset \mathbb{R}^2$ of $q = (0, q_2)$ such that the Filippov system $Z = (X, Y)_{\Sigma}$ satisfies that $X|_U = (1, X_2), Y|_U = (1, 0)$, and $\Sigma \cap U = \{(0, y) : y \in (q_2 - \delta_U, q_2 + \delta_U)\}$.

Take $\rho > 0$ and $\theta > 0$ sufficiently small in order that the sections $\{x = -\rho\}$ and $\{x = \theta\}$ is contained in U and without loss of generality assume that the points $(-\rho, 0)$ and q are connected by a trajectory of X. Thus, we can consider the following maps induced by the flow of Z_{ε}^{Φ} :

$$P_{\varepsilon} : \{x = -\rho\} \rightarrow \{x = -\varepsilon\}, T_{\varepsilon} : \{x = -\varepsilon\} \rightarrow \{x = \varepsilon\}, Q_{\varepsilon} : \{x = \varepsilon\} \rightarrow \{x = \theta\},$$

where $Q_{\varepsilon} = Id$ (see Figure (28)). The exterior map $D_{\varepsilon} : \{x = -\rho\} \to \{x = \theta\}$ of Z_{ε}^{Φ} is defined as

$$D_{\varepsilon}(y) := Q_{\varepsilon} \circ T_{\varepsilon} \circ P_{\varepsilon}(y).$$

Now, we shall compute the first derivative of D_{ε} at $\varepsilon = 0$ and y = 0. Expanding P_{ε} and T_{ε} around $\varepsilon = 0$, we get that

$$P_{\varepsilon} = P + P_{1}\varepsilon + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{2}),$$
$$T_{\varepsilon} = Id + T_{1}\varepsilon + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{2})$$

where $P: \{x = -\rho\} \to \Sigma$ is induced from the flow of Z, $P_1 = \frac{\partial P_{\varepsilon}}{\partial \varepsilon}\Big|_{\varepsilon=0}$, and $T_1 = \frac{\partial T_{\varepsilon}}{\partial \varepsilon}\Big|_{\varepsilon=0}$. Hence, expanding D_{ε} around $\varepsilon = 0$, we have that

$$D_{\varepsilon}(y) = P(y) + [(P_1(y) + T_1(P(y))]\varepsilon + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^2).$$



Figure 28 – Exterior map $D_{\varepsilon} = Q_{\varepsilon} \circ T_{\varepsilon} \circ P_{\varepsilon}$ of the regularized system Z_{ε}^{Φ} .

In addition, developing in Taylor series $P_1 + T_1 \circ P$ around y = 0, we get

$$D_{\varepsilon}(y) = P(y) + [(P_1(0) + T_1(P(0))]\varepsilon + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^2, \varepsilon y)$$

= $P(y) + [(P_1(0) + T_1(q_2)]\varepsilon + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^2, \varepsilon y)$
= $P(y) + S\varepsilon + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^2, \varepsilon y)$

where $S := P_1(0) + T_1(q_2)$. In order to determine S, we shall study the maps P_1 and T_1 at y = 0 and $y = q_2$, respectively.

First, we study the map P_1 . Let φ_X be the flow of X, and assume that $I_{(-\rho,y)}$ the maximal interval of existence of $t \mapsto \varphi_X(t, -\rho, y)$. Is easy to see that there exists a smooth function $t_{\rho}(y)$ such that $t_0(0) = 0$ and $\varphi_X^1(t_{\rho}(y), -\rho, y) = 0$. Thus, we can write Pas follows

$$P(y) = \varphi_X^2(t_{\rho}(y), -\rho, y), \text{ for } y \in \{x = -\rho\}$$

From Implicit Function Theorem, there exists a smooth function $\tau_{\rho}(y, \varepsilon)$ such that $\tau_{\rho}(y, 0) = t_{\rho}(y)$, $\tau_0(0, 0) = 0$, and $\varphi_X^1(\tau_{\rho}(y, \varepsilon), -\rho, y) = -\varepsilon$, for $|\varepsilon| \neq 0$ sufficiently small. Hence, we can write P_{ε} as follows

$$P_{\varepsilon}(y) = \varphi_X^2(\tau_{\rho}(y,\varepsilon), -\rho, y), \text{ for } y \in \{x = -\rho\}.$$

Notice that

$$P_1(y) = \frac{\partial P_{\varepsilon}}{\partial \varepsilon}(y)\Big|_{\varepsilon=0} = \frac{\varphi_X^2}{\partial t}(t_{\rho}(y), -\rho, y)\frac{\partial \tau_{\rho}}{\partial \varepsilon}(y, 0)$$

and

$$\frac{\partial \tau_{\rho}}{\partial \varepsilon}(y,0) = -\frac{1}{\frac{\varphi_X^1}{\partial t}(t_{\rho}(y),-\rho,y)}$$

Consequently,

$$P_1(0) = -\frac{\frac{\varphi_X^2}{\partial t}(t_{\rho}(0), -\rho, 0)}{\frac{\varphi_X^1}{\partial t}(t_{\rho}(0), -\rho, 0)} = -\frac{X_2(q)}{1} = -X_2(q)$$

Second, we study the map T_1 . For this, consider the differential system associated to the regularized system Z_{ε}^{Φ} (1.4) given by

$$\begin{cases} \dot{x} = 1, \\ \dot{y} = \frac{1}{2} X_2(x, y) \left(1 + \Phi(x/\varepsilon) \right), \end{cases}$$

$$(6.18)$$

for $(x, y) \in U$ and $\varepsilon > 0$ small enough. Notice that system (6.18), restricted to the band of regularization $-\varepsilon \leq x \leq \varepsilon$, is as a *slow-fast problem*. Indeed, taking $v = x/\varepsilon$, we get the so-called *slow system*,

$$\begin{aligned}
\varepsilon \dot{v} &= 1, \\
\dot{y} &= \frac{1}{2} X_2(\varepsilon v, y) \left(1 + \phi(v) \right),
\end{aligned}$$
(6.19)

defined for $-1 \leq v \leq 1$. Performing the time rescaling $t = \varepsilon \tau$, we obtain the so-called *fast* system,

$$\begin{cases} v' = 1, \\ y' = \frac{\varepsilon}{2} X_2(\varepsilon v, y) \left(1 + \phi(v)\right). \end{cases}$$
(6.20)

Now, we know that the equation for the orbits of system (6.20) is given by

$$\frac{dy}{dv} = \varepsilon F(v, y, \varepsilon) \tag{6.21}$$

where

$$F(v, y, \varepsilon) = \frac{X_2(\varepsilon v, y) (1 + \phi(v))}{2}$$

Expanding F around $(v, y, \varepsilon) = (v, y, 0)$, we get

$$F(v, y, \varepsilon) = \frac{X_2(0, y) \left(1 + \phi(v)\right)}{2} + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon).$$

In addition, the solution of differential equation (6.21) with initial condition $y_{\varepsilon}(-1, q_2) = q_2$ is given by

$$y_{\varepsilon}(v,q_2) = q_2 + \varepsilon \int_{-1}^{v} F(s,y_{\varepsilon}(s,q_2),\varepsilon) ds$$

= $q_2 + \varepsilon \int_{-1}^{v} F(s,y_0(s,q_2),0) ds + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^2)$
= $q_2 + \frac{\varepsilon}{2} \int_{-1}^{v} X_2(q) (1 + \phi(s)) ds + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^2).$

Notice that

$$T_{\varepsilon}(q_2) = y_{\varepsilon}(1, q_2)$$

= $q_2 + \varepsilon \int_{-1}^{1} F(s, y_0(s, q_2), 0) ds + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^2)$
= $q_2 + \frac{\varepsilon}{2} \int_{-1}^{1} X_2(q) (1 + \phi(s)) ds + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^2).$

Accordingly,

$$T_1(q_2) = \frac{1}{2} \int_{-1}^{1} X_2(q) \left(1 + \phi(s)\right) ds$$

= $\frac{X_2(q)}{2} \left(2 + \int_{-1}^{1} \phi(s) ds\right).$

Therefore,

$$S = P_1(0) + T_1(q_2)$$

= $-X_2(q) + \frac{X_2(q)}{2} \left(2 + \int_{-1}^1 \phi(s) ds\right)$
= $\frac{X_2(q)}{2} \int_{-1}^1 \phi(s) ds.$

6.2 Regularization of Σ -Polycycles of type (b)

In this section, we shall state and prove the fifth main result of this work, which in particular establishes sufficient conditions under which the regularized vector field Z_{ε}^{Φ} has a limit cycle Γ_{ε} converging to a Σ -polycycle of type (b). For this, suppose that a Filippov system $Z = (X^+, X^-)$ has a Σ -polycycle Γ of type (b). Without loss of generality, assume that:

(b.1) $X_1^+(p) > 0;$

(b.2) the trajectory of Z through p crosses Σ transversally m-times at q_1, \dots, q_m , satisfying that for each $i = 1, \dots, m$, there exists $t_i > 0$ such that $\varphi_Z(t_i, q_i) = q_{i+1}$, where $q_{m+1} = p$. Moreover, $\Gamma \cap \Sigma = \{q_1, \dots, q_m, p\}$.

We shall also assume that

(b.3) $W^s_{\overline{\Phi}}(p) \cup W^u_t(p) \subset \Gamma$, i.e. $X^-h(p) > 0$.

The case $W^u_{\bar{\pi}}(p) \cup W^s_t(p) \subset \Gamma$ is obtained from the previous case multiplying the vector field Z by -1 (see Remark 10 bellow).

Since $X^-h(p) > 0$, by the Tubular Flow Theorem for X^- at p = (0,0), there exist an open set U and a local \mathcal{C}^{2k} diffeomorphism ψ defined on U such that $\widetilde{X}^- = \psi_* X^- = (0,1)$. Clearly, the transformed vector field $\widetilde{X}^+ = \psi_* X^+$ still has a visible 2k-multiplicity contact with Σ at p = (0,0) and $\psi(\Sigma) = \Sigma$. Thus, without loss of generality, we can assume that there exists a neighborhood $U \subset \mathbb{R}^2$ of p = (0,0) such that $X^-|_U = (0,1)$.

Notice that assumption (b.2) above guarantees the existence of an exterior map D associated to Z. In what follows, we characterize such a map. Since $X_1^+(p), X_2^-(p) > 0$, then $X_1^+(x, y), X_2^-(x, y) > 0$, for all $(x, y) \in U$ (taken smaller if necessary). Take $\varepsilon, \theta > 0$ small enough in order that the points $q^u = (\theta, \overline{y}_{\theta}) \in W_t^u(p)$ and $q^s = (0, -\varepsilon) \in W_{\overline{h}}^s(p)$ are contained in U. Then there exist positive numbers $\delta^{u,s}$ such that

$$\tau_t^u = \{ (\theta, y) : y \in (\overline{y}_\theta - \delta^u, \overline{y}_\theta + \delta^u) \} \quad and \\ \tau_{\overline{\Phi}}^s = \{ (x, -\varepsilon) : x \in (-\delta^s, \delta^s) \}$$
(6.22)

are transversal sections of X^+ and X^- , respectively. In addition, $\sigma_p = [0, \theta] \times \{0\}$ is a transversal section of X^- . Moreover, by the *Tubular Flow Theorem* there exist the C^{2k} -diffeomorphism $T^s : \sigma_p \longrightarrow \tau^s_{\overline{T}}$ and $D : \tau^u_t \longrightarrow \tau^s_{\overline{T}}$ such that $T^s(p) = q^s$ and $D(q^u) = q^s$ (see Figure 29). Thus, expanding D around $y = \overline{y}_{\theta}$, we get

$$D(y) = r_{\theta,\varepsilon}(y - \overline{y}_{\theta}) + \mathcal{O}((y - \overline{y}_{\theta})^2), \qquad (6.23)$$

where $r_{\theta,\varepsilon} = \frac{dD}{dy}(\overline{y}_{\theta}).$

Now, by the Definition 3, we know that there exists a first return map π_{Γ} defined, at least, in one side of Γ . In what follows, we shall see that there exist positive



Figure 29 – Σ -polycycle Γ satisfying (i) - (ii).

constants θ and K such that the first return map $\pi_{\Gamma} : \sigma_p \to \sigma_p$ is given by

$$\pi_{\Gamma}(x) = K x^{2k} + \mathcal{O}(x^{2k+1}), \text{ where } K > 0.$$
 (6.24)

Indeed, expanding T^s around x = 0, we have

$$T^{s}(x) = \kappa_{\varepsilon}^{s} x + \mathcal{O}(x^{2}), \qquad (6.25)$$

with $\kappa_{\varepsilon}^{s} = \frac{dT^{s}}{dx}(0)$. In addition, using (6.23) and the *Implicit Function Theorem*, we get

$$D^{-1}(x) = \overline{y}_{\theta} + \frac{1}{r_{\theta,\varepsilon}}x + \mathcal{O}(x^2).$$
(6.26)

Even more, one can easily see that $r_{\theta,\varepsilon} < 0$ and $\kappa_{\varepsilon}^s > 0$ for all $\theta, \varepsilon > 0$ sufficiently small.

The same way, by Theorem A in [10] we know that there exists a transition map $T^u: \sigma_p \longrightarrow \tau_t^u$ defined as

$$T^{u}(x) = \overline{y}_{\theta} + \kappa_{\theta}^{u} x^{2k} + \mathcal{O}(x^{2k+1}), \qquad (6.27)$$

where $\operatorname{sign}(\kappa_{\theta}^{u}) = -\operatorname{sign}((X^{+})^{2k}h(p))$, i.e. $\kappa_{\theta}^{u} < 0$.

Thus, we can define the first return map $\pi_{\Gamma}: \sigma_p \longrightarrow \sigma_p$ by

$$\pi_{\Gamma}(x) = (D^{-1} \circ T^s)^{-1} \circ T^u(x).$$

From (6.25) and (6.26), we have that $D^{-1} \circ T^s(x) = \overline{y}_{\theta} + \frac{\kappa_{\varepsilon}^s}{r_{\theta,\varepsilon}}x + \mathcal{O}(x^2)$. Hence, using the *Implicit Function Theorem* we conclude that

$$(D^{-1} \circ T^s)^{-1}(x) = \frac{r_{\theta,\varepsilon}}{\kappa_{\varepsilon}^s}(x - \overline{y}_{\theta}) + \mathcal{O}((x - \overline{y}_{\theta})^2).$$

Thus,

$$\pi_{\Gamma}(x) = \frac{r_{\theta,\varepsilon}\kappa_{\theta}^{u}}{\kappa_{\varepsilon}^{s}} x^{2k} + \mathcal{O}(x^{2k+1}).$$
(6.28)

Accordingly, taking $K := \frac{r_{\theta,\varepsilon} \kappa_{\theta}^{u}}{\kappa_{\varepsilon}^{s}} > 0$, we get (6.24).

Remark 9. Notice that for $x \in [0, \theta]$ we have that $\pi_{\Gamma}(x) < x$, for some small $\theta > 0$. This means that Γ is always asymptotically stable provided that (b.3) is satisfied, i.e. $X^{-}h(p) > 0$. If $X^{-}h(p) < 0$, Γ would be unstable.

Now, since D is a diffeomorphism induced by a regular orbit, we can easily see that the regularized system Z_{ε}^{Φ} also admits an exterior map given by

$$D_{\varepsilon}(y) = D(y) + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon). \tag{6.29}$$

In what follows, we state our second main result of this chapter, which will be proven in Section 6.2.1.

Theorem E. Consider a Filippov system $Z = (X^+, X^-)_{\Sigma}$ and assume that Z has a Σ -polycycle Γ of type (b) satisfying (b.1), (b.2), and (b.3). For $n \ge 2k - 1$, let $\Phi \in C_{ST}^{n-1}$ be given as (1.5) and consider the regularized system Z_{ε}^{Φ} (1.4). Then the regularized system Z_{ε}^{Φ} (1.4) admits at least a limit cycle Γ_{ε} , for $\varepsilon > 0$ sufficiently small. Moreover, Γ_{ε} converges to Γ .

Remark 10. In Theorem E we are assuming (b.3), i.e. $W_t^u(p) \cup W_{\overline{h}}^s(p) \subset \Gamma$. If $W_{\overline{h}}^u(p) \cup W_t^s(p) \subset \Gamma$, Theorem E can be applied to -Z. Consequently, we get a limit cycle for Z.

In order to prove this theorem, we shall first establish the relationship between the derivative of the first return map K and the derivative of exterior map $r_{\theta,\varepsilon}$ as follows.

Lemma 7. Consider α , $r_{\theta,\varepsilon}$, and κ_{θ}^{u} given as in (2.1), (6.23), and (6.27), respectively. Then,

$$i) \lim_{\theta \to 0} \kappa_{\theta}^{u} = -\frac{\alpha}{2k}.$$
$$ii) \lim_{\theta, \varepsilon \to 0} r_{\theta, \varepsilon} = -\frac{2kK}{\alpha}$$

Proof. First, we prove the statement *i*). Indeed, using (6.27) and that $T^u(\theta) = 0$ for all $\theta > 0$ small enough, we have $\overline{y}_{\theta} + \kappa_{\theta}^u \theta^{2k} + \mathcal{O}(\theta^{2k+1}) = 0$. By Lemma 1 we know that $\overline{y}_{\theta} = \frac{\alpha \theta^{2k}}{2k} + \mathcal{O}(\theta^{2k+1})$, thus

$$\frac{\alpha \theta^{2k}}{2k} + \mathcal{O}(\theta^{2k+1}) + \kappa^u_\theta \theta^{2k} + \mathcal{O}(\theta^{2k+1}) = 0,$$

that is,

$$\frac{\alpha}{2k} + \kappa_{\theta}^{u} + \mathcal{O}(\theta) = 0,$$

consequently, when θ tends to 0 we conclude the result.

Now, we shall prove statement *ii*). For this, notice that using equations (6.24) and (6.28) we get for $\theta, \varepsilon > 0$ small enough that

$$r_{\theta,\varepsilon} = \frac{K\kappa_{\varepsilon}^s}{\kappa_{\theta}^u}.$$

To prove statement ii), we just need to prove that $\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \kappa^s_{\varepsilon} = 1$, because in this case we have

$$\lim_{\theta,\varepsilon\to 0} r_{\theta,\varepsilon} = \lim_{\theta,\varepsilon\to 0} \frac{K\kappa_{\varepsilon}^{s}}{\kappa_{\theta}^{u}}$$
$$= K \frac{\lim_{\theta\to 0} \kappa_{\varepsilon}^{u}}{\lim_{\theta\to 0} \kappa_{\theta}^{u}}$$
$$= -\frac{2kK}{\alpha}.$$

where we have used item i). In what follows, we shall prove that the flow of X^- induces \mathcal{C}^{2k} map,

$$\lambda_{\varepsilon}^{s}:\sigma_{p}^{\prime}\subset\sigma_{p}\longrightarrow\tau_{\overline{\mathbb{A}}}^{s},$$

between the transversal sections defined in (6.22) and satisfying $\lambda_{\varepsilon}^{s}(0) = q^{s}$. Indeed, consider the function

$$\mu(t, x, \varepsilon) = \varphi_{X^{-}}^{2}(t, x, 0) + \varepsilon, \text{ for } (x, 0) \in \sigma_{p}, t \in I_{(0,y)},$$

where φ_{X^-} is the flow of X^- and $I_{(x,0)}$ is the maximal interval of existence of $t \mapsto \varphi_{X^-}(t,x,0)$. Since,

$$\mu(0,0,0) = 0 \text{ and}$$
$$\frac{\partial \mu}{\partial t}(0,0,0) = \frac{\partial \varphi_{X^-}^2}{\partial t}(0,0,0) = X_2^-(p) \neq 0,$$

by the Implicit Function Theorem there exist $\theta_0 > 0$ and smooth function $t(x, \varepsilon)$ with $(x, 0) \in \sigma'_p := [0, \theta_0) \times \{0\} \subset \sigma_p$ and $\theta, \varepsilon > 0$ sufficiently small such that

$$t(0,0) = 0$$
 and
 $\mu(t(x,\varepsilon), x, \varepsilon) = 0,$

i.e. $\varphi_{X^{-}}^{2}(t(x,\varepsilon), x, 0) = -\varepsilon$. Thus, we can define the function

$$\lambda_{\varepsilon}^{s}(x) = \varphi_{X^{-}}^{1}(t(x,\varepsilon), x, 0).$$

Notice that

$$\frac{d\lambda_{\varepsilon}^{s}}{dx}(0) = \frac{\partial \varphi_{X^{-}}^{1}}{\partial t}(t(0,\varepsilon),0,0)\frac{\partial t}{\partial x}(0,\varepsilon) + \frac{\partial \varphi_{X^{-}}^{1}}{\partial x}(t(0,\varepsilon),0,0).$$

Since,

$$\frac{\partial t}{\partial x}(0,0) = -\frac{\frac{\partial \varphi_{X^-}^2}{\partial x}(0,0,0)}{\frac{\partial \varphi_{X^-}^2}{\partial t}(0,0,0)},$$

and

$$\frac{\partial \varphi_{X^-}^1}{\partial x}(0,0,0) = 1, \ \frac{\partial \varphi_{X^-}^2}{\partial x}(0,0,0) = 0, \ \kappa_{\varepsilon}^s = \frac{dT^u \Big|_{\sigma_p'}}{dx}(0) = \frac{d\lambda_{\varepsilon}^s}{dx}(0),$$

we get that

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \kappa_{\varepsilon}^{s} = \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \frac{d\lambda_{\varepsilon}^{s}}{dx}(0)$$

$$= \frac{\partial \varphi_{X^{-}}^{1}}{\partial t}(t(0,0),0,0)\frac{\partial t}{\partial x}(0,0) + \frac{\partial \varphi_{X^{-}}^{1}}{\partial x}(t(0,0),0,0)$$

$$= 1.$$
(6.30)

The result follows from (6.30).

6.2.1 Proof of Theorem E

Let \mathcal{U} be an open set such that $\Gamma \subset \mathcal{U}$. Since Γ is a Σ -polycycle of Z, then it is easy to see that there exists an open set $V \subset \mathcal{U}$ such that V has no singular points of Z_{ε}^{Φ} . Taking $(\delta, 0) \in V$, we get that $(\delta, \varepsilon) \in V$, for $\varepsilon > 0$ small enough.

Now, define the map $\widetilde{D}_{\varepsilon}(x) = \pi_{\Gamma}(x) + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon)$, for all $x \in I_{\delta}^{\varepsilon}$, where I_{δ}^{ε} is a neighborhood of δ . By Remark 9 we know that $\pi_{\Gamma}(\delta) < \delta$, then we can conclude that $\widetilde{D}_{\varepsilon}(\delta) < \delta$, for $\varepsilon > 0$ sufficiently small.

By Theorem B for $\theta = \overline{x}_{\varepsilon}^+$, there exist $\rho_0 > 0$, and constants c, r, q > 0 such that for every $\rho \in (\varepsilon^{\lambda}, \rho_0]$, $\lambda \in (0, \lambda^*)$, and $\varepsilon > 0$ sufficiently small, the flow of Z_{ε}^{Φ} defines a map L_{ε} between the transversal sections $\check{H}_{\rho,\lambda}^{\varepsilon} = [-\rho, -\varepsilon^{\lambda}] \times \{-\varepsilon\}$ and $\check{V}_{\overline{x}_{\varepsilon}^+}^{\varepsilon} = \{\overline{x}_{\varepsilon}^+\} \times [y_{\overline{x}_{\varepsilon}^+}^{\varepsilon} - re^{-\frac{c}{\varepsilon^q}}, y_{\overline{x}_{\varepsilon}^+}^{\varepsilon}]$ satisfying

$$L_{\varepsilon}: \stackrel{\check{H}_{\rho,\lambda}^{\varepsilon}}{x} \longrightarrow \stackrel{\check{V}_{\overline{x}_{\varepsilon}^{+}}^{\varepsilon}}{x_{\varepsilon}^{+}} + \mathcal{O}(e^{-\frac{c}{\varepsilon^{q}}}), \qquad (6.31)$$

where $y_{\overline{x}_{\varepsilon}^{+}}^{\varepsilon} = \overline{y}_{\overline{x}_{\varepsilon}^{+}} + \varepsilon + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{1+\frac{1}{2k}}) + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{1+\lambda^{*}}) + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{2k\lambda^{*}})$ (see Figure 30).



Figure 30 – Lower Transition Map L_{ε} of the regularized system Z_{ε}^{Φ} . The dotted curve is the trajectory of X^+ passing through the visible regular-tangential singularity of multiplicity $2k \ p = (0, 0)$. The red curve is the well-known Fenichel manifold.

Since $\check{V}_{\overline{x}_{\varepsilon}^{+}}^{\varepsilon} \subset \tau_{t}^{u}$, for $\varepsilon > 0$ sufficiently small, then we can consider the map $D_{\varepsilon} \circ L_{\varepsilon} : \check{H}_{\rho,\lambda}^{\varepsilon} \longrightarrow \tau_{\overline{\pi}}^{s}$. We claim that $D_{\varepsilon} \circ L_{\varepsilon}(-\varepsilon^{\lambda}) > -\varepsilon^{\lambda}$. Indeed, from (6.29) and (6.31), we get

$$D_{\varepsilon}(L_{\varepsilon}(-\varepsilon^{\lambda})) = D_{\varepsilon}\left(y_{\overline{x}_{\varepsilon}^{+}}^{\varepsilon} + \mathcal{O}(e^{-c/\varepsilon^{q}})\right)$$

$$= D\left(\overline{y}_{\overline{x}_{\varepsilon}^{+}}^{\varepsilon} + \varepsilon + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{1+\frac{1}{2k}}) + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{1+\lambda^{*}}) + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{2k\lambda^{*}})\right) + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon) \qquad (6.32)$$

$$= r_{\overline{x}_{\varepsilon}^{+},\varepsilon}\varepsilon + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{1+\frac{1}{2k}}) + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{1+\lambda^{*}}) + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{2k\lambda^{*}}) + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon).$$

Hence,

$$D_{\varepsilon}(L_{\varepsilon}(-\varepsilon^{\lambda})) + \varepsilon^{\lambda} = \varepsilon^{\lambda} + r_{\overline{x}^{+}_{\varepsilon},\varepsilon}\varepsilon + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{1+\frac{1}{2k}}) + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{1+\lambda^{*}}) + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{2k\lambda^{*}}) + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon),$$

that is,

$$\frac{D_{\varepsilon}(L_{\varepsilon}(-\varepsilon^{\lambda})) + \varepsilon^{\lambda}}{\varepsilon^{\lambda}} = 1 + r_{\overline{x}_{\varepsilon}^{+},\varepsilon}\varepsilon^{1-\lambda} + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{1+\frac{1}{2k}-\lambda}) + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{1+\lambda^{*}-\lambda}) + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{2k\lambda^{*}-\lambda}) + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{2k\lambda^{*}-\lambda}) + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{2k\lambda^{*}-\lambda})$$

Using Lemma 7, we get

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \frac{D_{\varepsilon}(L_{\varepsilon}(-\varepsilon^{\lambda})) + \varepsilon^{\lambda}}{\varepsilon^{\lambda}} = 1 > 0.$$

Since $\varepsilon > 0$, there exists $\varepsilon_0 > 0$ such that

$$0 < \varepsilon < \varepsilon_0 \implies D_{\varepsilon}(L_{\varepsilon}(-\varepsilon^{\lambda})) + \varepsilon^{\lambda} > 0.$$
(6.33)

Hence, $D_{\varepsilon} \circ L_{\varepsilon}(-\varepsilon^{\lambda}) > -\varepsilon^{\lambda}$, for $\varepsilon > 0$ sufficiently small. Now, let $\mathcal{R}_{\varepsilon}$ be the region τ_t^u



delimited by the curves $y = \varepsilon$, $y = -\varepsilon$ and the arc-orbits connecting (δ, ε) with $(\widetilde{D}_{\varepsilon}(\delta), \varepsilon)$ and $(-\varepsilon^{\lambda}, -\varepsilon)$ with $(D_{\varepsilon} \circ L_{\varepsilon}(-\varepsilon^{\lambda}), -\varepsilon)$, respectively (see Figure 31). It is easy to see that $\mathcal{R}_{\varepsilon}$ is positively invariant compact set of V, and has no singular points for $\varepsilon > 0$ small enough. For $\varepsilon > 0$ choose $q_{\varepsilon} \in \mathcal{R}_{\varepsilon}$ from the *Poincaré–Bendixson Theorem* $\Gamma_{\varepsilon} := \omega(q_{\varepsilon}) \subset \mathcal{R}_{\varepsilon}$ is a limit cycle of Z_{ε}^{Φ} . Furthermore, $\Gamma_{\varepsilon} \subset V \subset \mathcal{U}$ for $\varepsilon > 0$ small enough, hence Γ_{ε} converges to Γ .

Bibliography

- ANDRONOV, A. A., VITT, A. A., AND KHAĬKIN, S. E. Theory of oscillators. Dover Publications, Inc., New York, 1987. Translated from the Russian by F. Immirzi, Reprint of the 1966 translation. pages 12
- [2] BONET-REVES, C., LARROSA, J., AND M-SEARA, T. Regularization around a generic codimension one fold-fold singularity. J. Differential Equations 265, 5 (2018), 1761–1838. pages 17
- [3] BONET-REVÉS, C., AND M-SEARA, T. Regularization of sliding global bifurcations derived from the local fold singularity of Filippov systems. *Discrete Contin. Dyn. Syst.* 36, 7 (2016), 3545–3601. pages 17, 26, 37
- [4] BROGLIATO, B. Nonsmooth mechanics, third ed. Communications and Control Engineering Series. Springer, [Cham], 2016. Models, dynamics and control. pages 12
- [5] BUZZI, C. A., DA SILVA, P. R., AND TEIXEIRA, M. A. A singular approach to discontinuous vector fields on the plane. J. Differential Equations 231, 2 (2006), 633–655. pages 15, 17
- [6] BUZZI, C. A., DE CARVALHO, T., AND DA SILVA, P. R. Closed poly-trajectories and Poincaré index of non-smooth vector fields on the plane. J. Dyn. Control Syst. 19, 2 (2013), 173–193. pages 15
- [7] BUZZI, C. A., DE CARVALHO, T., AND TEIXEIRA, M. A. On 3-parameter families of piecewise smooth vector fields in the plane. SIAM J. Appl. Dyn. Syst. 11, 4 (2012), 1402–1424. pages 15
- [8] CARR, J. Applications of centre manifold theory, vol. 35 of Applied Mathematical Sciences. Springer-Verlag, New York-Berlin, 1981. pages 30
- [9] COOMBES, S. Neuronal networks with gap junctions: a study of piecewise linear planar neuron models. SIAM J. Appl. Dyn. Syst. 7, 3 (2008), 1101–1129. pages 12
- [10] DA S. ANDRADE, K., GOMIDE, O. M. L., AND NOVAES, D. D. Qualitative analysis of polycycles in Filippov systems. arXiv:1905.11950 (2019). pages 15, 41, 73, 84, 90
- [11] DUMORTIER, F., AND ROUSSARIE, R. Canard cycles and center manifolds. Mem. Amer. Math. Soc. 121, 577 (1996), x+100. With an appendix by Cheng Zhi Li. pages 17
- [12] FENICHEL, N. Geometric singular perturbation theory for ordinary differential equations. J. Differential Equations 31, 1 (1979), 53–98. pages 15, 26
- [13] FILIPPOV, A. F. Differential equations with discontinuous righthand sides, vol. 18 of Mathematics and its Applications (Soviet Series). Kluwer Academic Publishers Group, Dordrecht, 1988. Translated from the Russian. pages 12, 13

- [14] FREIRE, E., PONCE, E., AND TORRES, F. On the critical crossing cycle bifurcation in planar Filippov systems. J. Differential Equations 259, 12 (2015), 7086–7107. pages 15
- [15] GUARDIA, M., SEARA, T. M., AND TEIXEIRA, M. A. Generic bifurcations of low codimension of planar Filippov systems. J. Differential Equations 250, 4 (2011), 1967–2023. pages 15
- [16] JONES, C. K. R. T. Geometric singular perturbation theory. In Dynamical systems (Montecatini Terme, 1994), vol. 1609 of Lecture Notes in Math. Springer, Berlin, 1995, pp. 44–118. pages 15, 26
- [17] KRISTIANSEN, K. U. Blowup for flat slow manifolds. Nonlinearity 30, 5 (2017), 2138–2184. pages 17
- [18] KRISTIANSEN, K. U., AND HOGAN, S. J. Regularizations of two-fold bifurcations in planar piecewise smooth systems using blowup. SIAM J. Appl. Dyn. Syst. 14, 4 (2015), 1731–1786. pages 17
- [19] KUZNETSOV, Y. A., RINALDI, S., AND GRAGNANI, A. One-parameter bifurcations in planar Filippov systems. *Internat. J. Bifur. Chaos Appl. Sci. Engrg.* 13, 8 (2003), 2157–2188. pages 15
- [20] KŘIVAN, V. On the Gause predator-prey model with a refuge: a fresh look at the history. J. Theoret. Biol. 274 (2011), 67–73. pages 12
- [21] MISHCHENKO, E. F., AND ROZOV, N. K. Differential equations with small parameters and relaxation oscillations, vol. 13 of Mathematical Concepts and Methods in Science and Engineering. Plenum Press, New York, 1980. Translated from the Russian by F. M. C. Goodspeed. pages 17
- [22] NOVAES, D. D., AND JEFFREY, M. R. Regularization of hidden dynamics in piecewise smooth flows. J. Differential Equations 259, 9 (2015), 4615–4633. pages 15
- [23] NOVAES, D. D., AND RONDON, G. A. Smoothing of homoclinic-like connections to regular-tangential singularities in fillippov systems. arXiv:2005.12986 (2020). pages 18
- [24] NOVAES, D. D., SEARA, T., TEIXEIRA, M. A., AND ZELI, I. O. Study of periodic orbits in periodic perturbations of planar reversible filippov systems having a two-fold cycle. To appear in SIAM Journal on Applied Dynamical Systems (2020). pages 15
- [25] NOVAES, D. D., TEIXEIRA, M. A., AND ZELI, I. O. The generic unfolding of a codimension-two connection to a two-fold singularity of planar Filippov systems. *Nonlinearity* 31, 5 (2018), 2083–2104. pages 15
- [26] NOVAES, D. D., AND VIELMA, G. A. R. Smoothing of nonsmooth differential systems near regular-tangential singularities and boundary limit cycles. arXiv:2003.09547 (2020). pages 17

- [27] PALIS, JR., J., AND DE MELO, W. Geometric theory of dynamical systems. Springer-Verlag, New York-Berlin, 1982. An introduction, Translated from the Portuguese by A. K. Manning. pages 20
- [28] PILTZ, S. H., PORTER, M. A., AND MAINI, P. K. Prey switching with a linear preference trade-off. SIAM J. Appl. Dyn. Syst. 13, 2 (2014), 658–682. pages 12
- [29] SMIRNOV, G. V. Introduction to the theory of differential inclusions, vol. 41 of Graduate Studies in Mathematics. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2002. pages 12
- [30] SOTOMAYOR, J., AND MACHADO, A. L. F. Structurally stable discontinuous vector fields in the plane. *Qual. Theory Dyn. Syst. 3*, 1 (2002), 227–250. pages 15
- [31] SOTOMAYOR, J., AND TEIXEIRA, M. A. Regularization of discontinuous vector fields. In *International Conference on Differential Equations (Lisboa, 1995)*. World Sci. Publ., River Edge, NJ, 1998, pp. 207–223. pages 14, 16
- [32] WEI, L., LIANG, F., AND LU, S. Limit cycle bifurcations near a generalized homoclinic loop in piecewise smooth systems with a hyperbolic saddle on a switch line. *Appl. Math. Comput.* 243 (2014), 298–310. pages 15